

INFLAMMATORY CELLULAR RESPONSE AND CYTOKINES IL-1 β , IL-6 AND TNF α IN RAT AND HUMAN SPINAL CORD INJURY

by

Liqun Yang

Department of Surgery (Neurosurgery) University of Adelaide Adelaide, Australia

Department of Neuropathology Institute of Medical and Veterinary Science Adelaide, Australia

Submitted as part requirement for the degree of Doctor of Philosophy, June 2004

TABLE OF CONTENTS

ABSTRACT	iv
DECLARATION	vi
ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS	vii
FINANCIAL SUPPORT	ix
ABBREVIATIONS	Х
PUBLICATIONS, PRESENTATIONS AND PRIZE	xiv

INTRODUCTION

1. TRAUMATIC SPINAL CORD INJURY (TSCI)	1
1.1 EPIDEMIOLOGY	1
1.2 NATURE OF THE INJURY	2
1.3 SECONDARY SPINAL CORD INJURY	3
1.4 HISTOPATHOLOGICAL EVOLUTION	14
1.5 NEUROPROTECTIVE TREATMENT	19
1.6 ANIMAL MODELS	25
2. CYTOKINES	29
2.1 OVERVIEW	29
2.2 INTERLEUKIN-1 β (IL-1 β)	33
2.3 INTERLEUKIN-6 (IL-6)	42
2.4 TUMOR NECROSIS FACTOR- α (TNF- α)	49
3. MICROGLIA	57
3.1 NOMENCLATURE	57
3.2 CLASSIFICATION	57
3.3 MICROGLIAL ACTIVATION	60
3.4 FUNCTIONS OF MICROGLIA IN SCI	62
AIMS AND HYPOTHESES	65

i

RAT SCI EXPERIMENTS	66
A MAMPRIAL CAND CENTED AL METTIODO	((
I. MATERIALS AND GENERAL METHODS	00
1.1 ANIMALS USED AND ETHICS APPROVAL	66
1.2 ANAESTHESIA	68
1.3 SURGICAL PROCEDURE	68
1.4 NEUROLOGICAL EXAMINATION	69
1.5 PERFUSION-SACRIFICE	70
1.6 TISSUE PROCESSING	70
1.7 PHOTOGRAPHY	71
2. WEIGHT-DROP MODEL	72
2.1 METHODS	72
2.2 RESULTS	73
2.3 DISCUSSION	80
3. INFLAMMATORY CELLULAR RESPONSE	84
3.1 METHODS	84
3.2 RESULTS	86
3.3 DISCUSSION	106
4. UPREGULATION OF IL-1β. IL-6 AND TNFα mRNAs AND	111
PROTEINS AFTER MILD AND SEVERE SCI	
4 1 METHODS	111
4.2 RESULTS	119
4.3 DISCUSSION	140
5 TREATMENT OF NE-KB-SPECIFIC ANTISENSE	145
OLICODEOVVNIICI EOTIDES AETED SEVEDE SCI	
5 1 METHODS	1/15
	145
J.2 KEJULIJ 5.2 DISCUSSION	140
2.3 DISCUSSION	140

ii

HUMAN SCI EXPERIMENTS	148
1. MATERIALS AND GENERAL METHODS 1.1 SELECTION OF MATERIAL 1.2 TISSUE PREPARATION	148 148 149
2. INFLAMMATORY CELLULAR RESPONSE 2.1 METHODS 2.2 RESULTS 2.3 DISCUSSION	151 151 152 169
3. EARLY EXPRESSION AND CELLULAR LOCALIZATION OF IL-1β, IL-6 and TNF- α 3.1 METHODS 3.2 RESULTS 3.3 DISCUSSION	173 173 174 180
 4. CO-LOCALIZATION OF IL-1β AND APP 4.1 METHODS 4.2 RESULTS 4.3 DISCUSSION 	182 182 182 186
FINAL DISCUSSION	187
1. SUMMARY 2. LIMITATION OF THIS PROJECT AND FUTURE WORK	187 194
CONCLUSION	195
APPENDICES	196
1. FIXATIVES AND BUFFERS 2. STATISTICAL ANALYSES	196 199
REFERENCES	218

iii

ABSTRACT

The inflammatory response following spinal cord trauma plays an important role in the secondary SCI. The goal of this study was to characterize the posttraumatic inflammatory responses and localize cellular sources of IL-1 β , IL-6 and TNF- α following SCI. Thus, we hypothesized that the pro-inflammatory cytokines IL-1 β , IL-6 and TNF- α may act as messengers to coordinate the inflammatory cascade in the secondary SCI and that the cytokine response should be greater in severe than in mild injury.

One hundred and twenty-six rats were used and rat spinal cord contusions were induced by the weight drop device. Mild and severe SCIs were respectively produced by dropping a 10-g weight from 3.0 and 12.0 cm. Inflammatory cellular responses were studied using immunohistochemistry and expressions of IL-1 β , IL-6 and TNF- α mRNAs were analyzed by RT-PCR. Thirteen human spinal cords removed at autopsy were studied using immunohistochemistry and cellular sources of IL-1 β , IL-6 and TNF- α were localized using double-label fluorescent confocal imaging.

In experimental SCI, neutrophils started to infiltrate primarily around blood vessels in the central gray matter at 6 hrs and peaked at 1 day. Macrophages were noted at 6 hrs and then progressively increased for the first 3 days postinjury. Activated microglia were found as early as 1 h after contusion and frequently wrapped around axonal swellings and healthy neurons. RT-PCR showed an early and robust up-regulation of IL-1 β , IL-6 and TNF- α mRNAs in spinal cord after severe contusion injury, maximal at 6 h postinjury with return to control levels by 24 h postinjury, the changes being significantly less in mild injury. In human SCI, the inflammatory response paralleled the changes in experimental SCI, neurons and

microglia were identified as the cellular sources of IL-1 β , IL-6 and TNF- α , and IL-1 β coexisted with APP in the neurons and their axons.

RT-PCR analyses together with histological observations confirm that intrinsic CNS cells (neurons and microglia), not peripheral inflammatory cells, are the main source of cytokines because the peripheral inflammatory cells did not invade the injured spinal cord until 6 h postinjury, a time when cytokine mRNA levels had peaked and started to decline. Microglia around axons may have their possible beneficial effects on the injured axons by providing a trophic local environment to promote the regeneration of the injured axons and the coexistence of IL-1 β and APP indicates a possible role of IL-1 β in the production of APP. Furthermore, our comparative RT-PCR analyses, showing significantly increased expression of pro-inflammatory cytokine mRNAs in severe injury in contrast to mild injury, support the hypothesis that cytokine up-regulation is an important factor in the generation of the severity of the inflammatory response and thus a suitable target for pharmacological intervention to attenuate this response.

DECLARATION

This work contains no material that has been accepted for the award of any other degree or diploma in any university or tertiary institution and, to the best of my knowledge and belief, contains no material previously published or written by another person, except where due reference has been made in the text.

I give consent for this copy of my thesis to be made available for loan and photocopying when this copy is placed in the Barr Smith Library.

Liqun Yang

June, 2004

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

There are many people to whom I wish to express my gratitude for their help and support during the last five years of my study at Adelaide, which has become a very exciting and unforgettable experience in my life.

First and foremost, I would like to express my extreme and ineffable gratitude to my supervisors, Professor Nigel Jones and Professor Peter Blumbergs, for their continuous guidance, advice, support and dedication throughout the duration of this project. It would not have been possible for me to even start my Ph.D. study without the support and encouragement from my supervisors. Nobody could have expected more supportive and erudite supervisors. It has been a privilege to be your student.

My special thanks goes to Dr Corinna Van Den Heuvel, for her relentless and invaluable guidance and advice, and for her never-ending support and friendship. Thank you so much for everything, Corinna!

I am sincerely grateful to Mr Jim Manavis, for his constant and invaluable advice, discussion and encouragement since day one, and for the very amusing experiences at the international meeting. Not only was he there ready to answer my questions whenever I needed, but he has always generously provided his help and patience endlessly.

Special thanks to Dr Barbara Koszyca and Dr Mark Gibson for allowing me to undertake a large part of my research in the Pathology Department and for frequent invaluable discussion. A very big thankyou to Ms Emma Moore for her endless assistance and patience, and for teaching and helping me with western blotting experiments. A heart felt thankyou, Emma! I would also like to thank:

1. Mr Chris Brown for providing technical advice at various phases of the research work.

2. A/Prof. Robert Vink for his expertise on statistical analysis and many interesting discussions.

3. Dr. Mounir Ghabriel for the many stimulating discussions pertaining to spinal cord research.

4. Dr. Ghafar Sarvestani for his technical assistance in the confocal imaging and for his continuous help.

5. The entire Neurosurgery Department including Ms Lyn Cockram, Dr Amal Abou-Hamden, Dr Adam Wells and Ms Melanie Smith, for making my time here enjoyable and for their understanding, patience and lots of help. You are all wonderful people!

6. The entire Neuropathology Laboratory including Kathy, Bernice, Kathryn, Penny and Margaret for making my life easier with their brilliant technical skills and their support.

7. The entire Pathology Department including Chris, Nigel, Eric, Fan-Ting and Maria for their patience and technical skills in teaching and helping me with molecular biology experiments.8. The entire research theatre staff especially Glenda Summersides for their brilliant technical skills.

9. The staff of the Surgery Department: Mr Eric Smith, Mr Neville de Young, Dr Paul Drew for sharing delightful conversations and jokes in the department.

10. Professor Glyn Jamieson for taking a genuine interest in my progress and his personal interest in myself and my family.

viii

Special thanks to Dr. Jennifer Brown, for her inspiration, help, fun and friendship, and for allowing me to bother her with all different kinds of questions (not only scientific, but also English and cultural!). It is a fantastic time to have her companionship.

Finally, I would like to thank my wife and my parents for the huge support that is required to leave China for my study in Australia. Thank my family for giving the opportunity to fly, for believing in me, and above all, for your tireless guidance through thick and thin.

FINANCIAL SUPPORT

This study was supported by the Adelaide Scholarship International from the University of Adelaide, Australia.

ABBREVIATIONS

AP1	activator protein-1
APP	amyloid precursor protein
ASD	acidic sphingomyelinase domain
BBB	blood brain barrier
BCIP	5-bromo-4-chloro-3-indolyl phosphate
cAMP	cyclic adenosine monophosphate
C-Fos	cytoplasmic fos
C-Jun	cytoplasmic jun
CNS	central nervous system
COX-2	cyclooxygenase-2
CRE	cAMP response element
CRP	c-reactive protein
CSF	colony stimulating factors
DNA	deoxy ribonucleic acid
EAA	excitatory amino acid
EGF	epidermal.growth factor
ERK	extracellular regulated kinases
FADD	Fas-associating protein with death domain
FAN	factor associated with neutral sphingomyelinase activation
FGF	fibroblast growth factor
GAP-43	growth-associated phosphoprotein-43
GFAP	glial fibrillary acidic protein
GRE	a glucocorticoid-responsive element

GS I-B ₄	Griffonia simplicifolia I-B ₄
H&E	haematoxylin and eosin
IFN	interferon
ΙκΒ	inhibitory κB
IL-1α	interleukin-1a
IL-1β	interleukin-1β
IL-1R-AcP	IL-1 receptor accessory protein
IL-6	interleukin-6
i-NOS	inducible-nitric oxide synthetase
JAK	janus activated kinase
JNK	c-Jun amino-terminal kinase
MAP	mitogen-activated protein
MEKK	MAP kinase/ERK kinase
MHC	major histocompatibility complex
MMP	matrix metalloproteinase
MRE	multiresponse element
mRNA	messenger ribonucleic acid
Mn-SOD	mitochondrial superoxide dismutases
NASCIS	national acute spinal cord injury study
NBT	nitro blue tetrazolium
NFAT	nuclear factor of activated T cells
ΝFβΑ	nuclear factor-βA
NF-IL6	nuclear factor-interleukin-6
NF-κB	nuclear factor-kappaB
NGF	nerve growth factor

NHS	normal horse serum
NMDA	N-methyl-D-aspartate
NO	nitric oxide
NOS	nitric oxide synthase
NSD	neutral sphingomyelinase domain
Par-4	prostate apoptosis response-4
PBS	phosphate-buffered saline
PC-PLC	phosphatidylcholine-specific phospholipase c
PDGF	platelet-derived growth factor
PGI ₂	prostaglandin I ₂
PLA-2	phospholipase A-2
PNS	peripheral nervous system
RIP	receptor interacting protein
ROS	reactive oxygen species
RT-PCR	reverse transcription polymerase chain reaction
SCI	spinal cord injury
SDS-PAGE	sodium dodecyl sulfate-polyacrylamide gel electrophoresis
SHP-2	Src-homology phoshpatase-2
SRE	serum responsive element
STAT	signal transducer and activator of transcription
TGF-β	transforming growth factor-β
TNF	tumour necrosis factor
TNFR	tumour necrosis factor receptor
TRADD	TNFR1-associated death domain protein
TRAF-2	TNF receptor-associated factor-2

i.

TSCI traumatic spinal cord injury

TXA₂ thromboxane A₂

VCAM vascular cell adhesion molecule

PUBLICATIONS, PRESENTATIONS AND PRIZE

Publications

Yang L., Blumbergs PC, Jones NR, Manavis J, Sarvestani GT and Ghabriel MN. Early expression and cellular localization of pro-inflammatory cytokines in traumatic spinal cord injury in the human. Spine 29(9): 966-971; 2004

Yang L, Van Den Heuvel C, Blumbergs PC, Jones NR, Manavis J. Inflammatory cellular response and cytokines IL-1β, IL-6 and TNFα. J. Neurotrauma 19(10): 1295-1296; 2002

Manuscripts in preparation

Yang L., Jones NR, Blumbergs PC, Van Den Heuvel C, Moore EJ, Manavis J, Sarvestani GT and Ghabriel MN. Severity-dependent expression of pro-inflammatory cytokines in traumatic spinal cord injury in the rat. (Submitted to Journal of Clinical Neuroscience)

Presentations at scientific meetings

<u>Yang L</u>, Van Den Heuvel C, Blumbergs PC, Jones NR, Manavis J. Inflammatory cellular response and cytokines IL-1 β , IL-6 and TNF α in the human SCI. The 3 rd Asia Pacific Symposium on Neural Regeneration, Perth, WA, Australia, December 3-5, 2002.

<u>Yang L</u>, Van Den Heuvel C, Blumbergs PC, Jones NR, Manavis J. Inflammatory cellular response and cytokines IL-1 β , IL-6 and TNF α in the rat SCI. The 6th International Neurtrauma Symposium, Tampa, FL, USA, October 27- November 1, 2002.

<u>Yang L</u>, Van Den Heuvel C, Jones NR, Manavis J, Blumbergs PC. Inflammatory cellular response and cytokines IL-1 β and IL-6 in experimental spinal cord injury. **The 12th World Congress of Neurosurgery**, Sydney, NSW, Australia, September 16-20, 2001.

Yang L, Van Den Heuvel C, Jones NR, Manavis J, Blumbergs PC. Inflammatory response in the rat weight-drop model of spinal cord injury. Australian and New Zealand Society for Neuropathology, Annual Scientific Meeting, Adelaide, SA, Australia, May 14, 2001.

Yang L, Van Den Heuvel C, Jones NR, Manavis J, Blumbergs PC. Inflammatory response in the rat weight-drop model of spinal cord injury. Spinal Society of Australia, Annual Scientific Meeting, Perth, WA, Australia, April 27-29, 2001.

PRIZE

Rob Johnson Award 2001 For the best paper by a trainee Spinal Society of Australia Annual Scientific Meeting

INTRODUCTION

When you examine a man with a dislocation of a vertebra of his neck, and you find him unable to move his arms and his legs. His penis is erect; urine drips from his penis unknowingly. Then you have to say: A disease one cannot treat.

Edwin Smith Surgical Papyrus, about 2500 B.C.³¹²

It has been more than forty-five centuries since an unknown Egyptian physician gave this above description of the clinical features of traumatic tetraplegia ²¹⁸, but TSCI is still a prominent neurological health care issue for modern society. Until recently, the view of the irreversibility of spinal cord lesions was accepted almost as a "law of nature".

However, there has been a rapid expansion in this field of neuroscience during the last decades and we are now starting to understand the mechanisms of neuron survival and death, the crucial molecular aspects of neurite growth and the interaction of inflammatory cells with the CNS. Obviously, in such a large and old field, a full and total coverage of the existing literature is hardly possible. This review of the literature on TSCI in the following sections concentrates on the inflammatory response following TSCI and the underlying cellular and molecular mechanisms.

1. TRAUMATIC SPINAL CORD INJURY

1.1 EPIDEMIOLOGY

The annual incidence of TSCI has been suggested worldwide to range from 12.7 to 50 cases per million population ¹⁹⁹. The incidence of TSCI in Australia is about 300 new cases per year and is estimated to be 20-30 cases per million population per year ³⁹⁸.

Although the incidence of TSCI is increasing, the number of fatal cases has been decreasing each year in Australia since the early 1980s as a result of legislation related to safety measures, quicker retrieval from the accident site and improved emergency management ³⁹⁸.

The most common causes of TSCI are motor vehicle accidents (nearly 50%), followed by falls, penetrating injuries due to gunshot or knife wounds and sports accidents ³¹². The majority of human TSCIs result from acute contusion due to displacement of bone or disk into the spinal cord during fracture dislocation or burst fracture of the spine ^{41,188}. The cervical spinal cord as well as the thoracolumbar junction are the regions that are most commonly affected ^{40,58}. Paralysis of the upper and lower extremities, so-called quadriplegia, accounts for 54% of the injured patients and the remaining 46% accounts for patients with paraplegia.

TSCI predominantly occurs in young men (61% have an age between 16 and 30 yr), and only 20-30% of the patients are women ^{199,312}. It is significantly uncommon for TSCI to occur in children under the age of 14 ⁵⁶.

1.2 NATURE OF THE INJURY

The four vectors of forces applied to the spinal column in TSCI are flexion, extension, rotation and compression. In the majority of cases, a combination of forces acts on the spinal cord upon injury. The specific forces as well as the specific anatomic level to which the forces are applied results in a specific pattern of posttraumatic spinal cord pathology ³⁶.

The spinal cord is the major conduit through which motor and sensory signals pass between brain and body. TSCI leads to a disruption of these pathways and a loss of motor and sensory

functions. It has been well established that much of the posttraumatic tissue damage and subsequent neurological deficits are due to secondary reactive processes ^{400,5,35,99,109,208}. The initial traumatic injury triggers a cascade of molecular and cellular changes that occur within minutes and continue for days or weeks. Therefore, the TSCI is a dynamic and complex process rather than an event.

1.3 SECONDARY SPINAL CORD INJURY

Allen first proposed the concept of secondary injury in 1911 ³⁵³, studying experimental acute spinal cord injury in dogs. Today, it is well known that loss of neural function following acute traumatic injury to the spinal cord only in part results from direct or immediate damage to spinal grey or white matter. The concept that secondary injury leads to much of the tissue damage after traumatic SCI has been suggested by the slow progress of histopathological changes ³⁹⁰ and the continuing death of neurons in the spinal cord after primary trauma to the cord ²²¹. Strong evidence has been provided by the demonstration that neurological impairment can be reduced by numerous postinjury treatments. Bracken et al. ⁴⁷ in 1991 reported a large-scale clinical trial in patients with SCI, showing that high dose steroid methylprednisolone can reduce the secondary injury and functional deficits in patients with SCI by attenuating the biochemical and pathological changes in the cord after injury.

Now it is well established that damage to the spinal cord after SCI is produced by two distinct mechanisms: the primary mechanical injury and a secondary injury initiated by the primary injury ³⁵³. Trauma to the spinal cord not only produces the primary mechanical damage but also causes progressive auto-destruction of tissue at the trauma site, the extent of which is dependent on the severity of the trauma ⁸³. Therefore, secondary injury processes play an important role in the overall functional deficit ^{104,392}. In the last 20 years, various putative

mechanisms of secondary injury have been proposed with the aim of finding methods to improve or restore neurological function (Table 1).

Table 1. Mechanisms of secondary spinal cord injury

- 1. Inflammatory response
 - a. neutrophils
 - b. macrophages
 - c. microglia
 - d. pro-inflammatory cytokines(IL-1 β , IL-6 and TNF- α)
 - e. autoimmune pathology (lymphocytes)
 - f. free-radical production

2. Vascular changes

- a. loss of autoregulation
- b. systemic hypotension
- c. haemorrhage
- d. loss of microcirculation
- e. reduction in blood blow

3. Electrolyte changes

- a. increased intracellular calcium
- b. increased extracellular potassium
- c. increased sodium permeability
- 4. Biochemical changes
 - a. neurotransmitter accumulation
 - i) EAAs (e.g., glutamate)
 - ii) biogenic amines (e.g., dopamine)
 - b. arachidonic acid release
 - c. lipid peroxidation
 - d. endogenous opioids
 - e. lysosome

5. Loss of energy metabolism (decreased adenosine triphosphate production)

1.3.1 INFLAMMATORY RESPONSE

Usually, an inflammatory response to traumatic injury brings about wound healing. However, the posttraumatic inflammatory response at CNS lesion sites has been suggested to contribute to secondary progressive tissue destruction ^{26,33,35,239}, which precludes any meaningful tissue repair ⁴⁰⁶. By causing damage to vascular, neuronal and glial cell populations, the primary traumatic injury is supposed to render these and adjacent structures susceptible to secondary injury by posttraumatic inflammation. The robust inflammatory response begins within hours and peaks within several days following TSCI ^{11,99}. This response mainly includes activation of microglia, release of cytokines, immigration of peripheral inflammatory cells, increase in vascular permeability and development of oedema ^{164,354}.

1.3.1.1 MICROGLIA

It has been demonstrated in many studies that microglia are rapidly activated within hours after SCI ^{65,196,200,208,276,312,323,341,382}. Upon cellular activation, microglia, the resident cells of the CNS, can produce large quantities of a number of neurotoxic mediators, including EAAs, proteases, pro-inflammatory cytokines and NO, to further the secondary SCI. Details of biologic effects of microglia after SCI will be discussed in section 3.4.

1.3.1.2 CYTOKINES

Cytokines, such as IL-1 β , IL-6 and TNF α , play a central role in the initiation, perpetuation and regulation of inflammatory response following SCI ²⁶. Details of the functions and significances of these pro-inflammatory cytokines will be discussed in section 2.

1.3.1.3 NEUTROPHIL AND MONOCYTE INFILTRATION

There are two main waves of cellular infiltration by leukocytes at the lesion site of the injured spinal cord ^{11,33,99,239,377}. The first wave consists of polymorphonuclear neutrophils and the second is dominated by phagocytic macrophages.

Polymorphonuclear neutrophils start to infiltrate the lesion site and the adjacent tissue in the first few hours after injury of the spinal cord in experimental animal models, reach a peak within 24 h and disappear by 3 days ^{65,99,239}. It has been observed that the number of polymorphonuclear neutrophils infiltrating the tissue is strongly correlated to the degree of haemorrhage occurring at the lesion site, suggesting that bleeding into tissue and subsequent degradation of haemoglobin products may be strong chemoattractant factors for polymorphonuclear neutrophils ^{113,239}. Activation of membrane phospholipases by certain clotting factors such as thrombin and bradykinin, which extravasate into the spinal cord tissue, may contribute to the initiation of the formation of chemoattractant factors for polymorphonuclear neutrophils¹¹⁵. Based on in vitro observations, neutrophils are potentially able to degrade connective tissue matrix and damage the tissue by their ability to generate oxygen radicals and secrete granule constituents such as lysosomal enzymes ^{9,358}. This view is supported by some findings that in vivo application of antibodies against the membrane glycoprotein complex CD18 (integrin β_2 -subunit), which has been shown to be critically important for adhesion of leukocytes ^{328,347}, induced a decrease in tissue damage of the spinal cord ⁷². Furthermore, in a compression model of the spinal cord in the cat, Means and Anderson²³⁹, observed signs of neuronophagia by polymorphonuclear neutrophils in the marginal zone of haemorrhagic necrosis, suggesting that neutrophils not only are general mediators of inflammatory events but also have specific cytotoxic effects on neuronal cell populations. In contrast, this view on neutrophils has been challenged by some studies showing that neutropenia induced by injection of vinblastine sulfate or methylprednisolone

has no effect on the extent of tissue damage following CNS injury ^{20,367}. Therefore, the detailed roles and functions of neutrophils in TSCI still remain controversial.

The second wave of immigration of peripheral inflammatory cells into the area of injury mainly consists of phagocytic macrophages ^{19,33}. It has to be stressed that it is technically difficult to distinguish between fully activated endogenous microglial cells and blood-derived extrinsic macrophages ^{25,85,101,272} and the roles and functions of microglia following TSCI will be discussed in detail in section 3. In recent years and mainly based on in vitro studies, macrophages have been found to not only participate in tissue destruction as phagocytes but also have strong secretory properties ^{136,271}. Macrophages can secrete a remarkable variety of macromolecules, including many cytokines (e.g., IL-1 α , IL-1 β , IL-6, TNF- α , interferons- α , - β , - γ , etc.), numerous growth factors (e.g., TGF- β , FGF, etc.) and various enzymes (e.g., lysozyme, elastase, collagenase etc.) and these bioactive molecules exert a wide range of biological effects, from mediating cytotoxicity to facilitation of tissue repair ²¹².

Some experimental evidence supports the involvement of macrophages in secondary tissue damage following TSCI. It was observed that demyelination of axons that survived the initial contusion injury is coincident in time with macrophage invasion ^{33,35}. In vitro studies showed that neutral proteases secreted by stimulated macrophages lead to demyelination ⁶². In vivo studies in the guinea pig demonstrated that macrophage depletion by intraperitoneal application of silica dust at the time of spinal cord compression lesion produced a delay of up to 2 days in the onset of secondary functional loss and a reduction in the loss of myelinated fibres ³⁴.

However, other experimental evidence has suggested that macrophages are essential for the regeneration of severed axons. Axonal transection in both the CNS and PNS results in degeneration of the distal nerve stump, so-called Wallerian degeneration. In the PNS, myelin is rapidly degraded over a period of a few days, but in the CNS, myelin and axonal debris can persist for months due to the poor recruitment of macrophages to areas of injury in the CNS compared with the massive recruitment in the PNS³⁰. The persistence of myelin and axonal debris has been thought as an important factor in impeding the regeneration of injured axons in the CNS and thus the poor recruitment of macrophages has been proposed to be an important factor in the poor ability of the CNS to regenerate ^{54,271}. Furthermore, the presence of macrophages in the distal stump of a severed peripheral nerve is supposed to be not only necessary for removing myelin and axonal debris but also for initiating mitosis in Schwann cells and proliferation of fibroblasts²⁹. Additionally, macrophages have a potential role in reconstruction of the injured tissue. The first evidence that macrophages are essential in tissue repair and remodelling was shown in 1975 by Leibovich and Ross, who found that macrophage depletion in the guinea pig was associated with impairment of skin wound healing ²¹⁴. Molecules produced by macrophages have been shown to have strong growthpermissive or proliferative properties for glial and endothelial cells in the CNS ³¹². Thus, macrophages can enhance the production of NGF by non-neuronal cells ^{169,220} and modify glial cell surface properties to produce a substrate permissive for neurite elongation ⁷⁸. Molecules produced by macrophages (e.g., IL-1 β , IL-6, TNF- α etc.) also have a direct protective and trophic effect on the injured CNS tissue ^{241,298}. On the other hand, these molecules are also known to have cytotoxic effects on the nervous system^{194,354}.

1.3.1.4 LYMPHOCYTE INFILTRATION

Relatively small numbers of different subpopulations of lymphocytes have been seen in spinal cord lesion sites ^{163,246,275}. Thus, the notion of an autoimmune process being initiated by TSCI was proposed by several research groups, but strong experimental evidence for this hypothesis is still lacking ⁶³. The majority of data indicate that a certain degree of bystander damage to surviving nerve fibres may be due to the inflammatory response rather than a targeted specific immune attack. However, it has to be ruled out by further experiments whether a specific immune response plays a role in TSCI.

1.3.1.5 FREE REDICALS

It has also been hypothesized that reperfusion injury of the endothelial cell after ischaemic changes may contribute some cytotoxic substances in the inflammatory response ³¹². Ischaemia can transform xanthine dehydrogenase in the endothelial cell into a xanthine oxidase. Then, during reperfusion, oxygen activates the xanthine oxidase to oxidate xanthine, transferring its electrons to molecular oxygen to generate superoxide radicals. These radicals, which are toxic to the endothelial cell, increase vascular permeability. This vascular injury is exacerbated by neutrophils, which aggregate at sites of vascular damage, secreting additional reactive oxygen species ^{9,358}. In this way, the inflammatory response causes damage to the endothelial cell, disruption of vascular integrity, oedema, extravasation of erythrocytes, migration of neutrophils and monocytes into the injured region, and the subsequent release of cytotoxic substances ⁴⁰⁶. Thus, the sustained release of cytotoxic substances in the inflammatory response has been believed to play a key role in progressive necrosis in spinal cord injury.

In summary, it has been suggested that the inflammatory response in spinal cord injury may initiate and maintain progressive secondary tissue damage, This notion has been supported by

numerous reports that the tissue necrosis can be significantly reduced by treatment with antiinflammatory agents and that wound healing may be adversely affected by the presence of tissue necrosis ^{353,406}. However, the role of posttraumatic inflammatory response is still not very clear at present. The need to reduce the inflammation to limit the spread of damage may be in conflict with the need to permit the inflammation to promote tissue repair and regeneration. Furthermore, although the posttraumatic inflammatory response of TSCI is well documented, the functional significance of the inflammatory cells (e.g. neutrophils, macrophages, microglia) in traumatic spinal cord lesions still remain controversial and the posttraumatic inflammatory response has not been studied in quantitative detail.

1.3.2 LOCAL ISCHAEMIA

There is often a substantial decline in spinal cord blood flow after trauma; such ischemia is believed to contribute to secondary tissue injury ¹⁰⁶. Many studies have shown a major reduction in the microcirculation and a lack of perfusion at the injury site after experimental cord trauma ^{96,293,353}. Further, Wallace et al.³⁷⁸ demonstrated that there was a lack of perfusion of the arterioles, capillaries and venules at the injury site and adjacent areas, considerably cephalad and caudad from the injury site, while the large vessels of the cord (the anterior spinal artery and the anterior sulcal arteries) always remained patent even after severe cord injury. The ischaemic areas included a large part of the grey matter and the surrounding white matter. Therefore, Tator et al.³⁵³ postulated that secondary thrombosis or vasospasm of arterioles was due to the accumulation of noradrenaline at the injury site.

The normal cord can autoregulate blood flow to maintain a constant blood supply over a wide range of arterial pressure. However, autoregulation is markedly impaired after spinal cord trauma ¹⁴⁹. Moreover, neurogenic shock can be induced by acute cord trauma. It has been shown in numerous studies that posttraumatic hypotension and decreased cardiac output are caused after experimental acute spinal cord injury. These declines result from a combination of decreased sympathetic tone and myocardial effects ¹⁴⁸.

These results have suggested that multiple factors, including reduction of spinal cord microcirculation at and near the injury sites, impaired autoregulation of spinal cord blood flow, systemic hypotension, and diminished cardiac output, contribute to ischaemia after trauma in the spinal cord. Elevation of posttraumatic mean systemic arterial pressure to more than 160 mmHg failed to significantly improve spinal cord blood flow at the injury site and caused marked hyperaemia at adjacent sites ¹⁴⁹. A linear relationship was found to exist between the severity of cord injury and the reduction in blood flow at the injury site. Further, both the severity of cord injury and the degree of posttraumatic ischaemia were found to be significantly related to posttraumatic axonal dysfunction (motor and somatosensory tracts of the cord) ³⁵³.

Therefore, posttraumatic ischaemia is a direct and damaging reaction to trauma, and treatment of the ischaemia contributes to the restoration of cord function ¹¹².

1.3.3 EAA

The EAA, glutamate, is widely distributed within the CNS and serves as an excitatory neurotransmitter ¹⁶⁶. EAAs, such as glutamate and NMDA, can destroy neurons in the mammalian CNS ²⁴⁹ and there are several types of EAA postsynaptic receptors, which mediate the neurotoxicity of EAAs ³⁶⁸. It has been strongly suggested that EAAs are involved in secondary SCI following TSCI. There have been numerous studies that demonstrate that local levels of EAAs, especially glutamate, rise to toxic levels following TSCI ^{221,229,268,326}

and that support the involvement of EAAs in the pathologic changes after spinal cord injury. It was also observed that the extent of EAA increase was dependent on the severity of trauma ^{83,268}. By means of the microdialysis technique, Liu et al. ²²¹ and other investigators ^{229,326} demonstrated that extracellular EAAs reached toxic levels upon impact injury to the spinal cord.

Further evidence was provided by reports of exacerbation of neuronal damage by EAA administration in the injured cord and attenuation of neuronal damage by some selective EAA antagonists (including antagonists of NMDA, KA and AMPA) following traumatic injury to the spinal cord ^{83,106,109,141,268,390,392}.

Taken together, these results demonstrated that secondary damage to the spinal cord after traumatic injury can be partially attributed to delayed neurochemical change within CNS tissue, produced by increased extracellular EAAs. Significantly increased EAAs are thought to damage neurons by excessive activation mediated through specific membrane receptors mainly by two mechanisms: (a) an early chloride and sodium ion influx, leading to acute neuronal swelling and (b) a later calcium ion influx, leading to more delayed damage ^{221,229,299}. The later increased intracellular calcium is responsible for a cascade of cell events and further damage may occur in the absence of swelling ^{299,353}. Thus, excessive stimulation of membrane receptors by high extracellular concentration of EAAs may greatly increase Ca²⁺ influx to produce neuronal death in the CNS with accumulated intracellular Ca^{2+ 161,183}. The increased intracellular Ca²⁺ can activate a number of Ca²⁺-stimulated enzymes, such as phospholipases, protein kinases, nitric oxide synthase, proteases and nucleases, which subsequently damage some organellae, including mitochondrion and nuclei. All these eventually result in cell damage ²⁹⁹. These hypotheses have been supported by the

observations of a rapid decrease of extracellular calcium within the spinal cord following spinal injury and the restoration of neurological function after SCI in rat models by calciumchannel blockers ^{104,403}. Intracellular calcium influx and consequent accumulation is well known as the final common pathway of toxic cell death in the nervous system ³⁰⁶.

1.3.4 OTHER SECONDARY BIOCHEMICAL INJURY FACTORS

Biogenic amines (dopamine, noradrenaline, serotonin and histamine) act as neurotransmitters in the spinal cord. Some investigators 52,251,301,407 focused considerable attention on biogenic amines as possible mediators contributing to the secondary SCI. They reported that elevated levels of biogenic amines were observed within the spinal cord after trauma and paralleled a marked reduction in spinal cord blood flow in experimental trauma. However, conflicting results have been reported ³⁵⁹, which failed to confirm previous reports of amine alteration in spinal cord trauma. An impact injury to the thoracic cord did not lead to changes in noradrenaline, dopamine or serotonin despite the presence of severe haemorrhage and necrosis. Additionally, \propto -methyl-p-tyrosine, which reduces the levels of central dopamine and noradrenaline, did not demonstrate a protective effect after spinal cord trauma. Therefore, the role of biogenic amines in spinal cord trauma remains to be determined.

The lysosome mechanism was proposed by several authors ¹⁸⁹. They found that transection of the spinal cord was followed by massive accumulation of lysosomes and release of lysosomal hydrolases within spinal cord stumps. They suggested that release of lysosomal hydrolases resulted in secondary spinal cord damage.

The endogenous opioid mechanism was advanced by Faden et al.¹⁰⁷, who described the therapeutic effects of the opiate receptor antagonist naloxone in experimental models. They

suggested that endogenous opioids might play a pathophysiological role in the spinal cord following traumatic injury.

1.4 HISTOPATHOLOGICAL EVOLUTION

The sequential pathological changes in the cord following TSCI can be divided into acute, subacute and late phases. The acute phase is characterised by haemorrhage, rapid necrosis and glial activation, which is followed by reactive gliosis and recruitment of blood-born inflammatory cells in the subacute phase. The final appearance of the injured spinal cords some weeks after injury is surprisingly similar in the various lesion models: a cavity and scar tissue are formed and in white matter, different stages of Wallerian degeneration are observed.

1.4.1 ACUTE PHASE: HOURS AFTER INJURY

1.4.1.1 HAEMORRHAGE

An alteration in the microvasculature of central grey matter is the first detectable morphological change in the spinal cord ³⁰³. Multifocal petechial haemorrhages at the site of compression are observed within minutes following TSCI with the light microscope. Postcapillary venules become distended with erythrocytes and red blood cells penetrate the injured vascular endothelium and are found within the perivascular spaces ^{8,91}. The haemorrhages at the very early time points are restricted to the central grey matter adjacent to the central canal ²⁴. The traumatic vascular lesions spread within the next few hours in a radial direction in the grey matter and to a small extent also into white matter ^{11,95}. Within the first 24 h, microthrombi containing degranulated platelets and abundant fibrin are frequently observed in capillary-sized vessels with structurally intact as well as necrotic walls ¹¹. The progression from comparatively normal vessels to vascular congestion and blood

extravasation can occur rapidly. As early as a few minutes following impact injury, separation of endothelial junctions and exposure of the microvascular basal lamina were observed ¹⁴². Studies in cats using scanning electron microscopy showed craters in capillary endothelium and adherent noncellular material as early as 1 h posttrauma ²⁷⁹, suggesting that these endothelial abnormalities might be due to free radical-induced injury to membrane lipids, resulting in microcirculation failure. This view is supported by another finding that the endothelial abnormalities were prevented by pre-treatment with antioxidants ³⁸⁵. Within hours postinjury, the hallmarks of ischaemic vascular injury (vacuolation and swelling) were present in endothelial cells of capillary and postcapillary venules throughout grey and white matter ⁹¹.

1.4.1.2 NECROSIS

Another early morphological abnormality in the acute phase is neuronal necrosis. Neurons with cytoplasmic eosinophilia, the first sign of necrotic alteration, appear in random distribution in grey matter within the first hour postinjury ³⁷⁸. Other signs of necrotic alterations in neurons are also frequently observed, including ghost cells, cytoplasmic microvacuolation and shrunken neurons with indistinct nuclei, smudged cytoplasm, loss of Nissl bodies, irregular shape and hyperchromatization ³⁴¹. Ultrastructural observations revealed karyorrhexis and swelling of the rough endoplasmic reticulum in necrotic neuronal and glial cells ¹¹. The necrotic alterations quantitatively increase in the grey matter within the first several hours after injury ⁹⁹, when many cell perikarya in the epicentre of the lesion have undergone homogeneous eosinophilic changes on H&E staining and karyolytic or clumped chromatin has been revealed in nuclei. Additionally, both neurons and glial cells are equally vulnerable and both cell populations undergo cell death in the same time interval ^{11,99}.

1.4.1.3 AXONAL INJURY

Axonal injury in white matter is characterized by a finely granular appearance associated with a variable amount of swelling within the first several hours postiniury ¹¹. Characteristic early axonal abnormalities also include the development of a space between the axon and its myelin sheath, particularly in the central injury zone. This axonal swelling was mostly interpreted as due to oedema and was described as an enlarged periaxonal space ^{90,177,374}. However, electron microscopic studies ^{11,145} have showed that the majority of these spaces are intramyelinic vacuoles; the myelin sheaths are dilated or split. These focal changes of the myelin sheaths appear mainly in the central parts of white matter and account for the progressive spongy appearance of the white matter noted by light microscopy. By 4 h, numerous axons within the central white matter and to a lesser extent axons scattered throughout the peripheral white matter showed swelling and accumulation of organelles (mitochondria, neurofilaments, lysosomes and smooth endoplasmic reticulum)^{11,202}. These axonal abnormalities continued in centrifugal fashion toward the pial surface over the next several days ⁵⁰. a Immunocytochemical technologies using antibodies against APP 39, synaptophysin, chromogranin A, cathepsin D³²⁰, neurofilament protein subunits²⁷⁷ and ubiquitin³¹⁴ have revealed a far greater occurrence of axonal injury than had been appreciated by use of classical silver staining techniques. Of these immunological markers, labelling for APP was found to be the most sensitive and specific in demonstrating axonal injury ranging from mildly damaged axons to axonal retraction bulbs, which represent severed axon cylinders 38,132

1.4.1.4 MICROGLIAL ACTIVATION

As already described in section 1.3.1.1, rapid microglial activation was observed within hours after SCI ^{341,382}. Additionally, an in vitro study has demonstrated that microglia were activated

within a period as short as 5-10 minutes ³⁵⁶. Details of microglial activation will be discussed in section 3.3.

1.4.2 SUBACUTE PHASE: DAYS AND WEEKS AFTER INJURY

This phase is characterized by the activation of astrocytes in the CNS as well as the recruitment of different peripheral cell populations into the area of lesion.

1.4.2.1 INFLUXES OF NEUTROPHILS AND MONOCYTES

As already described in section 1.3.1, two waves of infiltrating peripheral inflammatory cells, an early peak of neutrophils and a later peak of phagocytic macrophages, are seen following TSCI.

1.4.2.2 ASTROCYTE ACTIVATION

Astrocytes undergo remarkable hypertrophy and limited proliferation upon injury ²⁵⁹. Reactive astrocytes have increased numbers of intermediate filaments comprised largely of GFAP and appear larger with more prominent and numerous processes than resting astrocytes in the normal CNS ²⁹¹. Reactive astrocytes also upmodulate the expression of a large number of molecules (e.g., enzymes, cytokines, neurotrophic factors) to exert some beneficial and injurious effects on the injured tissue. For example, upregulation of proteases and protease inhibitors help remodel the extracellular matrix, regulate the concentration of different proteins in the neutrophil and clear up debris from degenerating cells ^{260,291}. Cytokines are key mediators of immunity and inflammation and could play a critical role in the regulation of the blood-central nervous system interface ^{204,210,305}. Neurotrophic factors, transporter molecules and enzymes are involved in the metabolism of EAAs and in the antioxidant pathway ^{100,399}. Microscopic evaluation of spinal cord stab wound lesions at various postoperative time

intervals revealed a gradually increasing astrocytic reaction ²⁶⁰. Between 1 and 2 days, mitotic activity of astrocytes increased markedly, indicating that the increased number of astrocytes at spinal cord lesion sites results in part from proliferation of the cell population ²⁶⁰. Astrocyte reactivity upon injury extends in a radial direction into both adjacent grey and white matter, often over long distances ^{99,297}. The astrocytic response peaks at 14 days but is still present at 28 days ^{260,291}.

1.4.2.3 INFILTRATION OF SCHWANN, MENINGEAL AND FIBROBLASTIC CELLS

Schwann cells, meningeal cells and fibroblasts are additional peripheral cell types that have been seen to invade spinal cord lesion sites ³². However, the functional significance of these infiltrating cells is still not clear and remains controversial.

1.4.3 LATE PHASE: WEEKS TO MONTHS AFTER INJURY

1.4.3.1 POSTTRAUMATIC SYRINGOMYELIA

Resolution of the acute/subacute inflammatory response occurs several weeks after injury by the disappearance of the neutrophils and macrophages from the lesion area, leaving a fluid-filled cyst ³⁹⁷. Weeks after injury, the cysts become better defined and extensive scar tissue forms around the cavity ³⁹⁷. At very late stages in humans (months to years after the injury) secondary often very elongated syrinxes can appear preferentially rostral to the lesion ²²⁷. The process leading to so-called syringomyelia is very poorly understood at present. It is an important late complication and can significantly contribute to further functional losses ³³².

1.4.3.2 DEMYELINATION AND REMYELINATION

Another important aspect of the late phase is the continuous loss of myelin and axons in white matter. Apparent axonal loss and demyelination of a number of fibres were observed between 7 days and 3 months postinjury ³³. However, only a small proportion of the fibres were completely denuded of myelin and the majority showed abnormally thin sheaths surrounding axons of normal appearance ^{57,160}. Whether this specific appearance can also be due to demyelination is not completely clear. Interestingly, evidence of remyelination was also seen at 3 weeks postinjury ^{140,160}. Marked differences in the extent of remyelination between larger and smaller lesions were shown and remyelination was observed more extensively in smaller lesions ¹⁶⁰. At least a part of the remyelination was predominantly observed in severe contusive injury associated with extensive Wallerian degeneration ³⁶.

1.5 NEUROPROTECTIVE TREATMENT

The aim of neuroprotective therapies is to use pharmacologic agents to alter the detrimental neurochemical cascades initiated by mechanical deformation of neural tissue ^{22,240}. From the numerous substances tested in experimental spinal cord injury models for their neuroprotective efficacy, only one compound, methylprednisolone, was shown in well-controlled, multi-centre, large clinical trials to enhance functional outcome in the human. Although controversy exists about the benefits of its application, methylprednisolone is currently widely used in clinical practice and the only therapeutic agent approved by the Food and Drug Administration of U.S.A. for treating acute TSCI in humans. So far, the experimental and clinical trials of a large number of substances have shown very different and inconsistent results ¹⁰⁸ and few have been evaluated in extensive dose-response studies, and rarely were the treatment schedules based on knowledge of the drug's pharmacokinetics ³¹². In
addition, behavioral tests that are difficult to interpret were often used as the main outcome measurement, without careful and quantitative histology.

It is not proposed to undertake a comprehensive literature review of all these different therapies but to provide a selective overview as a background to the use of NF- κ B-specific antisense oligodeoxynucleotides in our studies. In this section, we concentrate on the few groups of tested substances that showed interesting or promising results.

1.5.1 ANTI-INFLAMMATORY AGENTS

<u>1.5.1.1 STEROIDS</u>

Steroids have been tested extensively in animal models as well as in clinical trials ^{47,79,97}. Methylprednisolone megadoses, if applied early after lesion, were shown to exert beneficial effects in the various experimental CNS injury models, although the exact mechanism of action remained unclear ^{6,401,402}. Based on these results the NASCIS 1 study, the first multicentre randomised clinical trial, was initiated to evaluate the steroid treatment of secondary damage following acute spinal cord trauma. A total 330 patients were enrolled in the study and were all treated within 48 h of injury. The study assessed the effects of high and low doses of methylprednisolone on recovery of neurological function in patients with spinal cord injury. Neurological evaluations performed at 6 month and 1 year postinjury did not show a significant difference in motor or sensory outcome between the high- and low-dose methylprednisolone groups ⁴⁵. A series of animal experiments conducted while NASCIS 1 was in progress suggested that higher doses than those used in NASCIS 1 might be needed to achieve a therapeutic response ^{48,152}. Thus, NASCIS 2 was started. A total 487 patients were randomised for treatments with methylprednisolone, naloxone, or placebo ⁴⁷. Based on

experimental studies, the administration of methylprednisolone was 30 mg/ kg followed by 5.4 mg/kg/hr for 23 h because these doses resulted in a positive effect on recovery in animals with TSCI. The maintenance dose was chosen according to theoretical calculations of the plasma half-life of the drug in humans and, to avoid complications of glucocorticoid administration, 24 h was chosen as the duration of drug application. Motor and sensory functions were assessed at 6 weeks, 6 months, and 1 year postinjury. The study found that the group of patients receiving methylprednisolone within 8 h after injury had significantly better sensory and motor function than those receiving placebo. Furthermore, the differences in motor improvement between the methylprednisolone and the placebo group were statistically significant at all three follow-up periods. Compared to the placebo group, no positive effect was shown in the group of patients who received naloxone or late methylprednisolone administration. A more detailed analysis of the data of NASCIS 2 also indicated that delayed treatment with methylprednisolone is associated with decreased neurological recovery ⁴⁶.

Adverse effects of such high doses of methylprednisolone, such as urinary tract infections and pneumonia, were commonly found in NASCIS 2¹²³. The incidence of wound infection and gastrointestinal haemorrhage in methylprednisolone-treated patients in NASCIS2 was also slightly higher than in the control group.

An important issue, which was not addressed in the NASCIS 2 study, is the mechanism of action of methylprednisolone. It has been believed that the treatment of spinal cord injury with steroids is based on their anti-inflammatory actions 97 , e.g., methylprednisolone has been recently found to reduce IL-1 β and TNF- α expression by 80% and 55% respectively after SCI in rats via inhibiting NF- κ B and AP-1 (two major proinflammatory transcription factors) 69,232,393,394 . Additionally, very high doses of the synthetic steroid methylprednisolone were

also found to exert non-specific radical scavenger effects ¹⁵¹ and reduce i-NOS expression by 70% after SCI in rats ⁶⁹.

1.5.1.2 ANTISENSE OLIGODEOXYNUCLEOTIDES

Since the identification of the DNA double-stranded helix, the gene as a target of therapy and, moreover, the use of DNA as a drug have been possibilities. Antisense oligonucleotides, short strands of synthetic nucleic acids, are designed to bind to a target gene promoter through Watson-Crick base pairing (complementary base pairing) and the formation of this oligonucleotide/promoter heteroduplex results in downregulation of mRNA synthesis and consequent inhibition of synthesis of the protein product ^{174,376}. 'Antisense' is used by some living organisms, specifically viruses, to control gene replication ¹²⁴. Only recently has the use of antisense DNA as a mechanism to control human gene translation been appreciated. The first antisense-based drug Vitravene was successfully developed to inhibit human cytomegalovirus by Isis Pharmaceutical Inc., Carlsbad, California in 1998 ²⁵⁵.

Antisense oligodeoxynucleotides carry a high therapeutic potential for the treatment of human diseases and these molecules have been applied in several different fields, including oncology, haematology and cardiovascular and infectious diseases ^{124,162}. In recent years, some studies have been initiated and performed to evaluate the therapeutic usefulness of antisense technology in modulating physiological and pathological functions in the CNS. These include cytokines, neurotransmitter receptors, neuropeptides, trophic factors and other proteins ³⁴⁴. Mayne et al. ²³⁷ demonstrated that administration of a TNF- α -specific antisense oligodeoxynucleotide into striatal parenchyma reduced cell death and improved neurobehavioral deficits in a rat model of intracerebral haemorrhage induced by disruption of the BBB integrity by collagenase, suggesting potential benefits through interference with

TNF- α production in the CNS injury. To date, few studies have been performed to evaluate the therapeutic usefulness of antisense oligodeoxynucleotides in modulating cytokine production to confer neuroprotection in TSCI. Thus, it would be of interest to examine such pharmacological agents in TSCI models in which cytokines may be a major mechanism leading to secondary tissue damage and functional deficits. For example, NF- κ B-specific antisense oligodeoxynucleotides would be a potential pharmacological agent because NF- κ B is a major transcriptional factor for the upregulation of IL-1 β , IL-6 and TNF α ^{10,27,156,215} and a ubiquitous transcription factor involved in the proinflammatory response to cytokines such as IL-1 β and TNF α ²⁹² (for details, see sections 2.2, 2.3 and 2.4).

However, like any other treatments in TSCI, the antisense oligodeoxynucleotides have some pitfalls and limitations. First, non-specific functional neuronal alteration and detrimental effects on cellular morphology may be caused by the antisense oligodeoxynucleotides in the CNS ³⁴⁴ even though recent advances in antisense oligodeoxynucleotides chemistry have significantly decreased these side effects ³⁷⁶. Second, while it is commonly believed that the CNS has limited capacity to launch immune reactions, it has not yet been established whether delivery of synthetic antisense oligodeoxynucleotides (a xenobiotic) into the CNS may ultimately stimulate immune competent cells to generate antibodies against RNA and/or DNA, triggering inflammation with severe CNS consequences. Finally, specificity of action is a key issue. Non-specific binding of the antisense oligodeoxynucleotides to mRNA species other than the intended target may cause unwanted interference with transcription and translation ¹⁷⁴.

1.5.2 EAA ANTAGONISTS

Increased extracellular levels of EAAs (glutamate and aspartate) accumulate in the lesion area following CNS injury ^{65,105,221,240,245}. Numerous studies have demonstrated that glutamate and related excitatory amino acids can induce death of neurons ^{262,263,383} and it has been recognized for many years that excitatory amino acids may be implicated in the secondary tissue damage following CNS injury ^{70,222}. Development of selective NMDA receptor antagonists has shown that the NMDA receptor complex may be an important factor for the excitotoxic action of EAAs ²⁹⁹ and several groups have shown that treatment with competitive or noncompetitive NMDA antagonists improves neurological function after brain injury ^{105,106,165}

1.5.3 NORADRENERGIC AGONISTS

Osterholm et al. ²⁶⁵ proposed the monoamine theory of spinal cord injury, arguing that high levels of accumulation of norepinephrine at the lesion site crucially contributes to the pathological pattern of necrosis. The effect of catecholamine modulation using substances such as oz-methyltyrosine and clonidine was therefore studied ^{250,266}. Mixed results were obtained, and hence, the value of modulating noradrenergic transmission in the acute phase of spinal cord injury remains unclear ⁴⁴. However, these pharmacological studies attracted general interest about possible pharmacological interventions. Barbeau and co-workers ¹⁵ reported that modulation of the monoamine level by noradrenergic agonists might be important in the more chronic phase of spinal cord injury.

1.5.4 HYPOTHERMIA

Other strategies, i.e., hypothermia, have been tested in experimental spinal cord injury in addition to pharmacological means described above ²³¹. It has been hypothesized that low temperature would protect the CNS tissue against the effects of hypoxia or ischaemia because

the oxygen demand of the CNS tissue may drop due to the low metabolism induced by hypothermia ²²⁶. Local spinal cord cooling was used in a series of experimental animal studies and the experimental data led to the trial of local spinal cord cooling in some cases of human spinal cord injury ¹⁵⁸. The data emerging from these studies have been difficult to interpret mainly due to the fact that low numbers of cases were reported and in none of the studies were appropriate controls included in the experimental design. Additionally, local spinal cord cooling is a technique fraught with technical difficulties, and the high rate of mortality reported in some of the trials ⁵¹ led to concerns about its clinical application.

1.6 ANIMAL MODELS

Interest in exploring spinal cord function using experimental models of SCI dates back to 177 A.D., when Galen performed spinal cord transections of dogs and other animals and recognized that resulting functional loss differed with the segmental level of the injury ³⁸⁹. Numerous experimental animal models of TSCI have been developed during the last decades in order to find effective methods to manage spinal cord injury in humans. To obtain the most useful data, the experimental design should mimic as closely as possible the situation in the human and it should be as reproducible as possible. This task is difficult because human SCIs are multifactorial and include variables that may be difficult to mimic. For example, the majority of human SCIs occur in a closed vertebral system whereas most animal models use an open laminectomy for lesioning ³¹². However, these models have provided the best and sometimes the only practical way to examine mechanisms of injury and to test potential treatments.

1.6.1 WEIGHT-DROP MODEL

The first well-controlled animal model was described by Allen ³⁶ in 1911, who designed a weight-drop technique to deliver a quantifiable impact to the spinal cord of animals. The technique of weight-drop contusion has been refined and adapted over the years, but the central principle of using gravity to standardize the mechanical impact on the spinal cord has persisted in TSCI research.

A primary advantage of weight-drop models of SCI lies in their clinical relevance. First, the weight-drop method closely simulates some of the biomechanics of human SCI. For example, most human SCIs are believed to be due to rapid flexion-extension of the spinal column, resulting in a contusion of the cord when the vertebral bone hits the spinal cord ^{31,36,125,391}. Other models such as photochemistry, transection, hemisection, and static loading cannot model the clinical contusion injury ²¹. Second, the similarities in histopathological appearance of the lesion site between rat weight-drop SCIs and human SCIs were observed by Balentine et al.¹¹ and other investigators ^{95,188,324}. The use of the weight-drop technique to produce traumatic injuries to the spinal cord in animals and the resulting stepwise sequential pathological changes in the cord were found to be similar to the configuration found in human spinal cord injuries. Spinal cord pathological changes, which were initially prominent in the centre of the cord, started as haemorrhages and oedema in the grey matter and progressed through central necrosis, adjacent white matter oedema, and demyelination, to finally involve the entire cord. The central fusiform zone of spinal cord necrosis later evolved into a cyst. Third, the weight-drop model has successfully predicted therapeutic potentials for steroids later tested in clinical trials ⁴⁷.

It has been found in the weight-drop model that the reproducibility of the impact on the spinal cord at a given height is very good: the standard error is less than 2.5% of the mean force or

impulse ^{31,391}. Furthermore, the mean force or impulse of the impact is significantly correlated to the height from which the weight is dropped ³¹, functional deficits of the animals ¹²⁵, somatosensory evoked potentials ²⁸⁸ and histopathology ^{31,389} seen at one month after SCI. Thus, the weight-drop model can be used to produce reproducible and graded spinal cord contusion injuries in the animal models ^{389,391}.

1.6.2 PNEUMATIC/ELECTROMECHANICAL MODEL

The first of these devices, the constrained stroke pneumatic impactor was pioneered by the research group in the General Motors Research Laboratories in the 1980s^{7,190}. An advantage of pneumatic or electromechanical production of spinal cord contusion is that injury biomechanics (e.g., contact velocity, amount of displacement of the surface of the tissue, force, etc.) can be controlled independently and therefore greater precision or actual determination of injury outcomes was allowed ^{335,336}. It has generally been used to injure the cervical spinal region with the vertebral column intact ³³⁵. By maintaining the normal structure of the spinal column, certain artefacts associated with a laminectomy procedure (e.g., size of laminectomy site, etc.) are thus avoided and close approximation of the human injury process is achieved. However, such devices are complicated and very expensive, and therefore their use has not been widespread.

1.6.3 COMPRESSION MODEL

Tarlov and his colleagues ³⁵² initiated the compression model and defined the gradation of neurological deficits with increasing compression of the spinal cord. A balloon catheter or a pneumatically driven mechanical plunger was used to compress the spinal cord in dogs. The clinical relevance of slow and maintained compression models is somewhat limited and is

distinct from that of the rapid contusion techniques, like the weight-drop or pneumatic/electromechanical techniques.

1.6.4 PHOTOCHEMICAL MODEL

Traumatic spinal cord injury results in degeneration of neural tissue by a number of pathophysiological mechanisms. Local spinal cord ischaemia is one of these mechanisms. It has been known that spinal cord blood flow is considerably reduced after traumatic injury ¹⁵⁹.

Thus, an entirely different method was introduced by Watson et al. ³⁸⁴ on the basis of injuring the spinal cord vascular endothelium photochemically. After the injection a photosensitising organic dye (e.g., bengal rose) into the bloodstream, the spinal cord is irradiated with a light beam of appropriate wavelength. Damage to the vascular endothelium and subsequent thrombosis lead to ischaemic lesions and vasogenic oedema ⁶¹. An advantage of the photochemical approach is that laminectomy is not required because the vertebral dorsal surfaces are sufficiently translucent.

Bunge et al. ⁵⁷ and other researchers ¹⁵⁹ used the photochemical technique to induce local spinal cord ischaemic injury in the rat, developing the photochemical lesion model with minimal variability to better understand the ischaemia mechanism of secondary SCI. Pathological changes after lesioning were studied by light and electron microscopy. The photochemical lesions resulted in extensive necrotic regions bordered by swollen axons, a massive influx of macrophages, an increase in the perivascular space in surrounding spared tissue, demyelination in the early stage and late myelination, by both oligodendrocytes and Schwann cells, in the tissue surrounding the necrotic lesion. These changes resembled those observed after SCI caused by contusion or compression.

2. CYTOKINES

In this review of the literature on cytokines, specific consideration has been paid to three main pro-inflammatory cytokines: IL-1 β , IL-6 and TNF- α .

2.1 OVERVIEW

2.1.1 WHAT IS A CYTOKINE ?

Most cytokines are soluble simple polypeptides or glycoproteins with a molecular weight of 30 kDa or less, but some cytokines form higher molecular weight oligomers (e.g., TNF- α molecules form trimers)^{60,256}. Cytokines are produced by leucocytes and a variety of other cells in the body, and act as chemical communicators between cells and have regulatory effects on haematopoietic and many other cell types that participate in host defence and repair processes ³⁷³. Cytokines are secreted into the extracellular fluid or are membrane exposed by a cell. There they exert their effects on the same cells (autocrine activity) or on neighbouring cells (paracrine activity) by binding to specific high-affinity cell surface receptors which are coupled to intracellular signal transduction and second messenger pathways ^{60,256}.

2.1.2 RESEARCH HISTORY

The field of cytokine research has evolved from four originally independent sources ^{103,373}. The first and most significant source is the field of lymphokine research. The origins of lymphokine research can be dated back to the mid-1960s when it was demonstrated that protein mediators secreted by lymphocytes regulated the growth and function of a variety of white blood cells. It soon became apparent that monocytes too are the source of these important proteins. The second source of cytokine research derives from the study of the interferons, which gradually became recognized as proteins exerting a broad range of actions on cell growth and differentiation. The third source of cytokine research is the field of

haematopoietic growth factors, or CSFs. The fourth source of cytokine research derives from the study of growth factors acting on non-haematopoietic cells, such as PDGF, EGF, TGF- β , FGF or NGF. Many of these factors, in addition to promoting cell growth, exert other 'cytokine-like' actions.

2.1.3 NOMENCLATURE

A unifying concept of cytokines was slow to emerge in the 1970s due to the fact that the cytokine field evolved from several separate sources. The term 'lymphokine', which originally denoted the product of activated lymphocytes ⁹⁸, was also used less discriminately for secreted proteins from a variety of cell sources. To dispel the wrong notion that such proteins could be produced by lymphocytes alone, Cohen et al.⁷³ proposed the term 'cytokines'. After a long-standing reluctance, 'cytokine' has become the generally accepted name for this group of proteins. To designate individual cytokines, a group of participants at the Second International Lymphokine Workshop held in 1979 proposed the term 'interleukin' in order to develop a system of nomenclature ¹ and 'interleukin' was proposed on the basis of the ability of these proteins to act as communication signals between different populations of leukocytes. The interleukin series has now reached 18³⁷³. Although the name 'interleukin' implies that these agents function as communication signals between leukocytes, the term is not reserved for factors that can act only on leukocytes and a number of the proteins that have been labelled as interleukins not only are produced by a variety of non-haematopoietic cells but also affect the functions of many diverse somatic cells (e.g. IL-1 or IL-6)¹. Many cytokines are now termed interleukins while others continue to be known by their older names (e.g. IFN- $\alpha/\beta/\gamma$, TNF- α , TGF- β and many others).

2.1.4 CHARACTERISTIC FEATURES

Cytokines are the major orchestrators of host defence processes and are involved in responses to trauma, tumour and invading organisms, repair and restoration of homeostasis ³⁷³. These regulatory proteins have a set of unique features outlined below ^{59,150,164,207,285,331,373}.

- Constitutive production of cytokines is usually low or absent except for growth factors; production is tightly regulated at the level of transcription or translation. The production of growth factors tends to be constitutive and not as tightly regulated as that of other cytokines.
- Cytokines tend to be produced by less specialized cells and several unrelated cell types can produce the same cytokine (e.g., IL-1 is produced by neurons, microglia, monocytes-macrophages, fibroblasts, endothelial cells, etc.)
- Cytokines produce their actions by binding to specific high-affinity cell surface receptors. In addition to their cell surface (membrane-anchored) forms, many cytokine receptors (e.g., IL-1, IL-6 and TNF receptors) exist also as soluble cytokine receptors, lacking the residues that anchor the membrane, but retaining high-affinity binding properties. The soluble cytokine receptors play important roles as regulators of cytokine activity and can function as competitive inhibitors by sequestering cytokines away from their respective cell surface receptors.
- Most cytokine actions can be attributed to an altered pattern of gene expression in the target cells. Phenotypically, cytokine actions lead to an increase (or decrease) in the rate of cell proliferation, a change in cell differentiation state and/or a change in the expression of some differentiated functions.
- The range of actions displayed by individual cytokines can be broad and diverse, some actions targeting non-haematopoietic cells while other actions target haematopoietic cells.

- The 'redundancy' and 'pleiotropy' of cytokine actions, i.e. structurally dissimilar cytokines (e.g., TNF and IL-1) can have an overlapping spectrum of actions and individual cytokines tend to exert multiple actions on multiple target cells and tissues.
- Cytokine action is contextual. Actions of cytokines can be influenced profoundly by the milieu in which they act and especially by the presence of other biologically active agents (e.g., other cytokines). For example, a cytokine may increase (or decrease) the production of another cytokine in multiple target cells, may increase (or decrease) the expression of receptors in multiple target cells for another cytokine and may increase (or decrease) signalling by receptors in multiple target cells for another cytokine.

2.1.5 Sources of IL-1 β , IL-6 and TNF α in SCI

Although the inflammatory response to TSCI has been extensively investigated in animal models, little is known about the cytokine response and the cellular sources of these cytokines (IL-1 β , IL-6 and TNF α) in rat and human SCI.

2.2 IL-1β

There are two forms of IL-1, IL-1 α and IL-1 β , and in most studies their effects in terms of biologic activity are indistinguishable ⁸⁸. The sections below concentrate on IL-1 β .

2.2.1 STRUCTURE

Human IL-1 β is a single 153-residue polypeptide chain, whose structure is composed of 12 β strands organized in a three-fold repeating motif (Figure 1). The core of the structure can best be described as a tetrahedron whose 4 faces are each made up of 3 β -strands, leaving only the end supporting the chain termini fully exposed. The exposed portions of the polypeptide chain are involved in the IL-1 β receptor recognition ^{116,281,282,363}.



Figure 1. Stereo structure of IL-1 β . Two twisted arrows represent β -strands, who are numbered sequentially. N and C represent the termini of the single 153-residue polypeptide chain of IL-1 β . The exposed portions of the polypeptide chain are involved in the IL-1 β receptor recognition. (Adapted from Priestle JP, Schar HP and Grutter MG: Crystal structure of the cytokine interleukin-1 β . The EMBO Journal 7(2):339-343, 1988.)

2.2.2 IL-1β GENE AND IL-1β BIOSYNTHESIS

The human IL-1 β gene consists of 7 exons on the long arm of chromosome 2 at the locus 2q13-2q21 ^{60,93}.

Several potential transcriptional control elements, such as NF κ B, AP1, CRE, NF-IL6 and NF β A, have been identified within the conserved region of the IL-1 β promoter ^{195,198,321,342,364}, as shown in Figure 2. These transcriptional regulators are up-regulated in response to many stimuli including injury, microbial products (e.g., bacterial lipopolysaccaride), cytokines (IL-1 β , IL-2, TNF, etc.), T cell/antigen presenting cell interactions and immune complexes ^{88,89}. For example, IL-1 β mRNA levels in human monocytes rise rapidly within 15 min after stimulation with bacterial lipopolysaccaride, but start to fall after 4 h ¹¹⁴. The fall is caused by the synthesis of a transcriptional repressor and a decrease in mRNA half-life ¹⁸⁴, suggesting that the production of IL-1 β is tightly regulated. This is further supported by in vivo studies demonstrating a robust and transient increase of IL-1 β mRNA expression that rapidly falls to a low and constant level within 6 hr after CNS injury in rats ^{193,341}.

In addition to tightly regulated transcription, this regulation also extends to translation of IL-1 β mRNA. Stimulants such as complement component C5a ³⁰⁸ or hyperosmolar NaCl ³¹⁹ were found to induce the synthesis of large amounts of IL-1 β mRNA in monocytic cells without significant translation into the IL-1 β protein. This dissociation between transcription and translation suggests that the above stimuli are not sufficient to provide a signal for translation despite a vigorous signal for transcription ³⁰⁷.

Following synthesis, the 31-kDa precursor of IL-1 β remains cytosolic and only marginally active until it is cleaved by IL-1 β converting enzyme. The cleavage converts IL-1 β precursor

to its 17 kDa mature form and then the mature IL-1 β is secreted out of the cell ¹⁸⁵. Thus, the release of mature IL-1 β depends on cleavage by IL-1 β converting enzyme.

Constitutive production of IL-1 β is usually low or absent and its expression is tightly regulated at the level of transcription, translation and secretion ⁸⁸.



Figure 2. Structure of the IL-1 β gene promoter. The general structure of the IL-1 β promoter is schematically illustrated. The approximate position of consensus sequences for known transcription factors are indicated (boxes), including NFKB, AP1, CRE, NF-IL6 and NF β A. The major transcription start site is located at position +1. (Adapted from Stylianou E and Saklatvala J: Interleukin-1. The International Journal of Biochemistry & Cell Biology 30:1075-1079,1988.)

2.2.3 IL-1 RECEPTOR AND SIGNAL TRANSDUCTION

IL-1 receptors are expressed in most cells, including neurons, endothelial cells, neutrophils, T cells and B cells. ^{60,87}. There are two primary cell surface receptors for IL-1 β . IL-1 type I receptor transduces a signal whereas the type II receptor binds IL-1 β but does not transduce a signal. In fact, IL-1 type II receptor acts as a sink for IL-1 β and has been termed a 'decoy' receptor ⁷⁴. A unique aspect of cytokine biology is a naturally occurring IL-1 receptor antagonist, which is structurally similar to IL-1 β but lacking agonist activity ⁸⁹.

When IL-1 β binds to IL-1 type 1 receptor, a complex is formed which then binds to the IL-1R-AcP resulting in high-affinity binding ⁸⁸. Although it remains unclear how IL-1 type I receptor triggers the phosphorylation and activation, it has been found that, within a few minutes following binding to receptors, IL-1 β induces intracellular multiple protein phosphorylations and activation of phosphatases via the receptor, resulting in cascades of activation of protein kinases ^{42,342}.

One main cascade leads to phosphorylation of I κ B (i.e. NF- κ B inhibitory factor), which is rapidly degraded by the proteasome following its phosphorylation. Degradation of I κ B activates NF- κ B and releases it from the cytoplasmic NF κ B-I κ B complex ⁷⁶. Then, NF- κ B translocates to the nucleus and binds to its DNA recognition site in the gene promoter to upregulate the transcription of genes encoding pro-inflammatory cytokines (e.g., IL-1, 2, 6, 8, TNF, etc.), adhesion molecules (e.g., VCAM-1), chemokines, growth factors (e.g., CSF), inducible enzymes (e.g., COX-2, iNOS, etc.), anti-apoptotic enzymes (e.g., Mn-SOD) and growth proteins (e.g., c-myc)^{10,156,215,236,357}.

The other main cascade is the activation of three MAP kinases, which is a complicated pathway of phosphorylation of multiple protein kinases and is still poorly understood ³⁴². This signal transduction pathway mainly leads to the activation of cytoplasmic AP-1 (a dimer composed of various Fos and Jun family proteins), which translocates to the nucleus and binds to its DNA recognition site in the gene promoter to activate the transcription of many genes encoding proteolytic enzymes (e.g., MMPs), growth factors (e.g., NGF), growth protein (e.g., GAP-43), β -APP, galanin, neurofilament proteins and α -tubulin ^{53,167,178,236,309,394}.

Thus, IL-1 β exerts most of the biological effects on cells through the activation of NF- κ B and AP-1, two major proinflammtory transcription factors common to many IL-1-induced genes

An unusual discrepancy has been noted that low concentrations of IL-1 β can induce a potent biologic response via a low number of receptors (fewer than 10-100 in some cells) ^{126,264}, suggesting the efficiency of so few IL-1 type I receptors and the greatly amplified transduction of the post-receptor signals.

2.2.4 BIOLOGIC EFFECTS OF IL-1\beta IN SCI

IL-1 β affects nearly every cell type, often in concert with other cytokines or small mediator molecules, e.g., TNF- α , as both IL-1 β and TNF- α are potent activators of the transcription factor NF- κ B^{88,373}. IL-1 β is a highly inflammatory cytokine and the margin between clinical benefit and unacceptable toxicity in humans is narrow⁸⁹. It has been generally accepted that low concentrations of IL-1 β protect neurons and are neurotrophic, whereas higher concentrations are neurotoxic^{164,203}. Significantly increased IL-1 β mRNA and protein expressions have been found in the cord after experimental SCI ^{19,164,192,216,341,357,380}. Some recent studies have demonstrated that within hours following SCI, activated microglia within the cord express IL-1 β , which activates the endogenous glial cells ⁸⁵ and stimulates the up-regulation of endothelial adhesion molecules to enhance leukocyte recruitment (e.g., ICAM-1 and VCAM-1) ^{19,164,179,341}. These findings suggesting that this early synthesis of IL-1 β may be an important signal for initiating a progressive inflammatory response within the spinal cord.

The role that the increased IL-1 β plays in mediating secondary SCI is still controversial. Many in vitro and vivo studies demonstrated that IL-1 β may be neurotoxic. For example, it has been demonstrated by in vitro investigations that IL-1 β is toxic to neurons ⁶⁷. Moreover, in vivo studies have suggested that IL-1B may contribute to tissue destruction, increased vascular permeability and oedema formation as it up-regulates MMP expression via the activation of AP-1, a major proinflammatory transcription factor ^{175,394,395}. MMP-1 plays a major role in tissue destruction in inflammation and MMP-9 degrades the extracellular matrix component of basement membrane leading to the loss of vascular integrity 394 . IL-1 β is also implicated in the up-regulation of iNOS and COX-2 via the activation of NF-KB, another major proinflammatory transcription factor ¹⁰, resulting in an increase in NO and ROS production, and a TXA₂-PGI₂ imbalance, respectively ^{69,357}. An increased production of free radicals causes secondary tissue damage and an imbalanced production between TXA₂ and PGI₂ is involved in the microvascular thromboembolism and the secondary ischaemia following SCI. Additionally, IL-1 β may stimulate formation of the astroglial scar^{138,211}, which is thought to be one element inhibiting the regeneration of injured axons through the lesion. Recently, Holmin and Mathiesen ¹⁷⁵ found that intracerebral administration of IL-1β induces infiltration of inflammatory cells and apoptosis of intrinsic CNS cells. They also

found that IL-1 β causes higher expression level of the pro-apoptotic Bax gene than the antiapoptotic Bcl-2 gene. The most direct evidence implicating IL-1 β in secondary SCI derives from experiments that employed a recombinant IL-1 receptor antagonist. Systemic injections of IL-1 receptor antagonist reduces neuronal damage, prevents apoptosis and improved cognitive function in rodents after CNS injury ^{122,223,257,302,360}. Furthermore, the administration of exogenous IL-1 β markedly exacerbates ischaemic or excitotoxic CNS injury ^{206,300}.

However, there are instances where IL-1 β appears to act as a neurotrophic factor. In support of this, IL-1 β attenuated the increased neuronal death, which was induced by adding an antiserum to IL-1 α into dissociated mouse spinal cord cultures ⁴⁹. IL-1 β could produce a neurotrophic effect indirectly via induction of some growth factors, such as NGF and FGF, in astrocytes ²⁸⁴,²⁴⁷. Additionally, IL-1 β can stimulate blood vessel growth ¹³⁸, which is essential for the continued survival of tissue spared by the injury as well as any tissue repair that may contribute to functional recovery after SCI, which causes disruption of blood vessels and consequent ischaemia.

Thus, IL-1 β is an important and modifiable component in the inflammatory response following SCI and has complex and bi-directional biological effects on the injured spinal cord.

2.3 IL-6

2.3.1 STRUCTURE

Human IL-6 is a glycoprotein with a molecular mass ranging from 21 to 28 kDa and consists of 212 amino acids including a hydrophobic signal sequence of 28 amino acids 60,345 . The structure is composed of four (A, B, C, D) helical bundles oriented in an 'up-up-down-down' configuration and three sites are involved in receptor interaction: site 1 is the binding site for IL-6 receptor α chain and sites 2 and 3 are those for gp130 (IL-6 receptor β chain) (Figure 3)



Figure 3. Three-dimensional model of human IL-6. IL-6 is composed of four (A, B, C, D) helical bundles oriented in an 'up-up-down-down' configuration. Three sites are involved in receptor interaction: site 1(blue) is the binding site for IL-6 receptor α chain and sites 2 (red) and 3 (green) are those for gp130 (IL-6 receptor β chain). (Adapted from Paonessa G, Graziani R, Serio AD et al.: Two distinct and independent sites on IL-6 trigger gp130 dimer formation and signalling. The EMBO Journal 14(9): 1942-1951, 1995)

2.3.2 IL-6 GENE AND IL-6 BIOSYNTHESIS

The human IL-6 gene is approximately 5 kilobases in length and consists of 5 exons and 4 introns on the short arm of chromosome 7 at the locus 7p14-7p21 ^{60,172,345}.

Within the conserved region of the IL-6 promoter, there are several potential transcriptional factors such as an NF- κ B binding site, a C-Fos SRE, a CRE, an AP-1 binding site and GRE ^{172,215,345}. Three DNA sequences in the IL-6 promoter are identified as the main functional transcriptional factors as shown in the figure: a 23-bp MRE, a 14-bp NF-IL6 and an NF- κ B binding site (Figure 4). Additionally, the proposed stimuli to activate these three main functional transcriptional factors are also shown in the Figure 4, including IL-1, TNF, IL-6, LPS and serum.

The production of IL-6 is induced by a variety of stimuli, such as injury 157,197,204,315,354,365,388 , pro-inflammatory cytokines (e.g., IL-1, TNF, IL-2, IFN- β etc.) 210,305,372 , growth factors (e.g., PDGF) 172 , LPS 210,369 and various viruses while its production is inhibited by glucocorticoids 316 , IL-4 133 and IL-13 244 .

Constitutive production of IL-6 is usually low or absent and its expression is tightly kept in check by a complex network, including sex steroids, e.g., estrogen and testosterone ³⁷².



Figure 4. A schematic structure of the IL-6 promoter region, where there are several potential transcriptional factors such as an NF-KB binding site, a C-Fos serum-responsive element (SRE), a cAMP-responsive element (CRE), an AP-1 binding site and a glucocorticoid-responsive element (GRE). Three DNA sequences in the IL-6 promoter are identified as functional transcriptional factors as shown in the figure: a 23-bp multiresponse element (MRE), a 14-bp sequence that is recognized by a nuclear factor, NF-IL6 and an NF-KB binding site. Additionally, the proposed stimuli to activate these three functional transcriptional factors are also shown. (Adapted from Aggarwal BB and Gutterman JU: IL-6, in Aggarwal BB and Gutterman JU (eds): Human cytokines: handbook for basic and clinical research. Boston, Blasckwell Scientific Publication:143-167,1992)

2.3.3 IL-6 RECEPTOR AND SIGNAL TRANSDUCTION

IL-6 receptor is expressed on a wide variety of cells, including neurons, glial cells, monocytes, fibroblasts, T cells and activated B cells 60,345 , IL-6 receptor consists of two molecules, one is an 80-kDa IL-6 binding protein (α chain) and the other a 130-kDa binding protein, gp130 (β chain) with 277-amino-acid residues in its cytoplasmic domain 172,269 . Thus, IL-6 receptor α chain and gp 130 (IL-6 receptor β chain) form a high-affinity IL-6 binding site. The cytoplasmic domain of IL-6 receptor α chain is not required for the IL-6-mediated signal transduction.

The binding of IL-6 to its receptor induces the formation of a hexamer composed of two each of IL-6, IL-6 receptor α chain and gp 130²⁶⁹, resulting in tyrosine phosphorylation of the cytoplasmic domain of gp130²⁵⁶. Then, intracellular signalling molecules (e.g., STAT) specifically recognize and bind to the phosphorylated receptors (gp 130). Once bound to the phosphorylated receptors, these signalling molecules themselves become phosphorylated by receptor-associated kinases, enabling them to disengage from the receptors (gp 130) and interact with additional signalling molecules to form the intracellular IL-6 signal transduction pathway. The IL-6 signal transduction pathway mainly consists of the JAK-STAT and Ras-MAP kinase pathways^{120,256}.

JAK (named after Janus, the Roman god with two faces) are gp 130-associated kinases and become activated by cross-phosphorylation after IL-6-induced phosphorylation of the gp130. Although the JAK-STAT pathway is still not well understood, it is clear that JAK is critical for the activation of a specific signalling pathway, STAT ^{172,256}. Once phosphorylated by JAK, STAT molecules disengage from the receptor (gp 130) and translocate to the nucleus, where they bind to specific DNA motifs in the gene promoters and activate or inhibit the transcription of these genes encoding anti-apoptotic proteins (e.g., bcl-2, pim-1, etc.), growth proteins (e.g., c-jun, c-myc, c-myb, etc.) and acute-phase proteins (e.g., CRP) ^{172,173,322}.

In addition to the JAK-STAT signal transduction pathway, the other main pathway is the activation of Ras-MAP kinases through SHP-2. This cascade of kinase reactions lead to the phosphorylation and activation of NF- κ B and ERKs ^{172,209,256}. Once activated, the NF- κ B and ERKs translocate to the nucleus to phosphorylate their corresponding transcription factors, which up-regulate the expression of pro-inflammatory cytokines, adhesion molecules and growth proteins ^{10,156,256}.

2.3.4 BIOLOGIC EFFECTS OF IL-6 IN SCI

IL-6, a multifunctional cytokine, is known to play an important role in a variety of CNS functions such as cell-to-cell signaling coordination of inflammatory response, protection of neurons from insult, as well as neuronal and glial differentiation, growth and survival ^{147,173,197,345}, many of which overlap with those of IL-1 β and TNF- α . It has been shown that a variety of stimuli, including injury, viruses and cytokines (e.g., IL-1 β and TNF- α), can trigger IL-6 production within the CNS ³⁸¹ and IL-6 receptors are present in neurons and oligodendrocytes ^{172,210,369,388}.

Many experimental studies have demonstrated that IL-6 mRNA and protein are elevated in the cord following SCI ^{164,216,341}. It has been recently found that within hours following SCI, IL-6 protein is expressed by neurons and activated microglia within the cord ¹⁶⁴.

The functional significance of IL-6 in the CNS is still hotly debated. It has been observed that IL-6 induces neurite outgrowth of neuronal cells in vitro ¹⁸⁰, promotes oligodendrocyte

survival in vitro ¹⁸ and improves the survival of cultured rat cholinergic neurons with or without initiating the synthesis of neurotrophic factors ^{147,153,154,157,228}. Additionally, in vivo studies have demonstrated that local administration of IL-6 attenuates the neurotoxic effects of NMDA on rat striatal cholinergic neurons ³⁶¹ and prevents degeneration of the spinal motoneurons of wobbler mice ¹⁸¹.

Conversely, it has been found in experimental SCI that anti-rat IL-6 antibody significantly inhibits the up-regulation of iNOS and reduces ultrastructural damages in the myelinated nerve fibres to attenuate secondary spinal cord damage ³⁶⁵. Additionally, a severe neurologic syndrome with extensive neuropathologic changes (e.g., neuronal damage and reactive astrocytosis) was induced in transgenic mice with cerebral overexpression of IL-6 ⁶⁴. Moreover, the clinical features and neuropathology in the transgenic mice correlated with the level and spatial distribution of IL-6 overexpression.

Thus, IL-6 is both a neurotrophic and cytotoxic factor and is partially regulated by IL-1 β and TNF- α ³⁷⁵.

2.4 TNF-α

2.4.1 STRUCTURE

TNF- α exists as a compact trimer composed of 3 identical subunits of 157 amino acids ^{3,150}. Each subunit consists almost entirely of antiparallel β -pleated sheets, organized into a 'jellyroll β sandwich' (Figure 5) ^{60,186}. The C-terminus of each subunit is embedded in the base of the trimer and the N-terminus is relatively free from the base of the trimer. Thus the N-terminus does not participate in trimer interaction and is not critical for TNF- α biologic activity. Additionally, mutations that destabilize the trimeric association of monomers result in the loss of TNF- α biologic activity, suggesting that the trimeric structure of TNF- α is important for its biologic functions ⁴⁰⁵.



Figure 5. Ribbon representation of the trimer with the 3-fold axis vertical. Individual subunits are colour-coded blue, green and red. N-termini are marked by blue spheres and C termini by red. Yellow spheres near the top of the molecule indicate the disulphide bridges. (Adapted from Jones EY, Stuart DI and Walker NPC et al.: Structure of tumour necrosis factor. Nature 338 (6212): 225-228, 1989)

2.4.2 TNF-\alpha GENE AND TNF-\alpha BIOSYNTHESIS

The human TNF- α gene is approximately 3.6 kilobases in length and consists of 6 exons and 3 introns on the long arm of chromosome 6 at the locus 6q12-6q23^{3,60}.

A number of regulatory transcription factors are found in the promoter of the TNF- α gene (Figure 6), including three NF- κ B binding sites κ 1, κ 2 and κ 3; three NFAT binding sites for NFAT-149, NFAT-117 and NFAT-76; one CRE for activation transcription factor-2/Jun, one AP-1 and one AP-2 binding site for Fos/Jun⁴⁰⁵.

TNF- α is initially synthesized as a 233-amino-acid membrane-anchored prohormone, which is then cleaved by the TNF- α converting enzyme to yield the mature 157-amino-acid cytokine ⁶⁰. TNF- α has been shown to be produced by numerous cells, including immune cells (e.g., neutrophils, monocytic cells, B cells, T cells, natural killer cells, etc.) and non-immune cells (e.g., astrocytes, microglia, neurons, fibroblasts, osteoblasts, etc.) ⁴⁰⁵.

The biosynthesis of TNF- α is tightly controlled at many different levels to ensure the silence of the TNF- α gene under normal circumstances. Therefore, TNF- α is produced in vanishingly small quantities in quiescent cells, but is highly inducible by traumatic injury, ischaemia, cytokines (e.g., IL-1, IL-2, IFN, etc.), growth factors (e.g., CSF) and bacterial products (e.g., LPS) ^{208,210,237,258,379,396}.



Figure 6. Model of the TNF- α promoter. A number of transcription factor in the TNF- α promoter are found upstream of its gene, including three NF- κB sites κl , $\kappa 2$ and $\kappa 3$; three NFAT binding sites, one CRE for activation transcription factor-2/Jun, one AP-1 and one AP-2 binding sites for Fos/Jun. (Adapted from Zhang M and Tracey KJ: Tumour necrosis factor, in Thomson A (eds): The cytokines handbook. San Diego, Academic Press: 517-548,1998)

2.4.3 TNF- α RECEPTOR AND SIGNAL TRANSDUCTION

TNF- α receptors are present on nearly all cell types with a few exceptions such as erythrocytes and resting T cells. There are two distinct but structurally homologous TNF- α receptors, type I and type II with molecular masses of 60 and 80 kDa, respectively. TNFR1 is found on most cell types whereas TNFR2 is more restricted to endothelial and haematopoietic cells ^{60,405}.

It is generally believed that TNFR1 is responsible for the majority of biologic actions of TNF- α while signal transduction through TNFR2 occurs less extensively and is confined mainly to cells of the immune system. Thus, the section below concentrates on the signal transduction through TNFR1.

Three intracellular functional domains of TNFR1, i.e., death domain, NSD and ASD, are responsible for transferring signals from TNF- α to their corresponding intracellular adaptor proteins, TRADD, FAN, PC-PLC, via protein-protein interactions.

Once TRADD has bound to the TNFR1 death domain, it causes recruitment and activation of FADD and RIP through the C-terminal death domain and recruitment and activation of TRAF-2 through the N-terminal death domain. Activated FADD and RIP then bind and activate caspase-2 and caspase-8, respectively. These two caspases initiate a protease cascade, resulting in the cleaving of death substrates and activation of death protein (e.g., Par-4) to induce apoptosis ^{84,311,405}. Meanwhile, activated TRAF-2 triggered activations of MEKK and JNK, lead to the activation NF-κB and AP-1 to mediate the inflammatory response, by induction of pro-inflammatory cytokines (e.g., IL-1, 2, 6, 8, TNF, etc.), adhesion molecules (e.g., VCAM-1), inducible enzymes (e.g., COX-2, iNOS, etc.), chemokines ^{10,156,215,236,357}, and

anti-apoptosis molecules (e.g., Mn-SOD, CSF, etc.) ^{171,209,370,405}. Thus, the TNFR1 death domain mediates both apoptotic and anti-apoptotic pathways.

FAN links the NSD of TNFR1 directly to neutral sphingomyelinase, which is then activated to mediate cell proliferation and the inflammatory response through MAP kinase ERK and PLA-2, respectively ^{370,405}.

Once PC-PLC is activated, 1,2-diacylglycerol is produced by PC-PLC and activates acidic sphingomyelinase, which converts lipid sphingomyelin to ceramide. The rapidly raised intracellular level of ceramide acts as a secondary messenger, leading to NF- κ B activation to mediate anti-apoptosis and the inflammatory response ^{370,405}.

Thus, the downstream pathways of these three adaptor proteins result in various cell activities, including apoptosis, anti-apoptosis, inflammatory response and cell proliferation.

2.4.4 BIOLOGIC EFFECTS OF TNF-\alpha IN SCI

The presence of TNF- α has been reported in various cells in the CNS, including microglia, astrocytes and neurons ⁶⁸ and these cells also express high-affinity TNF- α receptors ³²⁹. It is generally believed that high levels of TNF- α are injurious, but low levels can be beneficial ^{362,405}

TNF- α shares some similar properties with IL-1 β in terms of pro-inflammatory effects, such as activation of endogenous glial cells ³⁶⁶, proliferation and hypertrophy of astrocytes ³⁷⁹, enhanced permeability of endothelial cells and enhanced recruitment of blood leucocytes ³⁴⁸.

This may be due to the fact that both TNF- α and IL-1 β are potent activators of NF- κ B, a major pro-inflammatory transcription factor ¹⁰.

Many experimental studies have demonstrated that TNF- α mRNA and protein are elevated in the cord following SCI ^{19,164,208,216,341,379,393}. It has been recently found that within hours following SCI, TNF- α protein is expressed by neurons and activated microglia within the cord ^{194,396}.

The functional significance of TNF- α in the SCI is still not well understood. Some studies have demonstrated cytotoxic roles of TNF- α . It has been shown that TNF- α has a direct toxic effect on oligodendrocytes in vitro ⁹⁴ and a single micro-injection of TNF- α caused demyelination in the spinal cord ³²⁵ and in the sciatic nerve ²⁹⁰. Furthermore, in transgenic mice overexpressing TNF- α , a spontaneous inflammatory demyelination in the brain and spinal cord occurred and was partially prevented by exogenously delivered neutralizing antibodies to TNF- α ²⁸³. In addition to the toxic effect on oligodendrocytes, TNF- α can induce apoptotic changes in cultured neurons and glial cells ^{238,346,370} and cause BBB injury with damage to endothelial cells ⁸⁰. In support of cytotoxic roles of TNF- α , some in vivo studies have also demonstrated that following CNS injury, inhibition of TNF- α by activated protein C, IL-10 or a neutralizing antibody significantly improved neurological outcome ^{28,205,349}

In contrast to its toxic actions, TNF- α has also been demonstrated to induce IL-6, NGF and other growth factors in astrocytes ^{305,399} and exert a regenerative effect on axons ³¹³. Additionally, TNF- α prevents glutamate-induced cell death and cytotoxic effects of amyloid β -peptides and iron by regulating intracellular calcium levels and suppressing the
accumulation of ROS in pure hippocampal cultures ^{16,68}. Another important neurotrophic effect of TNF- α is the induction of angiogenesis ²¹³. Additionally, improved recovery of motor function was observed in NOS-deficient, but not in TNF- α -deficient mice after SCI ¹¹¹. Furthermore, a study using TNFR knockout mice (both TNFR1 and TNFR2 deleted) has shown that neurons from the TNFR knockout mice exhibit reduced survival in culture compared with those from wild-type mice and doses of kainic acid that cause minimal damage in wild-type mice produce extensive neuronal loss in TNFR knockout mice ⁵⁵.

It has been recently proposed that the neurotrophic and neuroprotective effects of TNF- α may depend on the ratio of TNFR1 to TNFR2 levels ²⁶. One possibility is that higher levels of TNFR2 may contribute to a cytoprotective response and increased levels of TNFR1 may induce a cytotoxic response ¹⁰².

In summary, TNF- α is a powerful inflammatory mediator with both cytotoxic and neurotrophic actions.

56

3. MICROGLIA

Microglia represent 5-12% of the cells in a given brain region ³⁸⁷ and these resident cells comprise about up to 20% of the total glial cell population ²⁵. It has been shown that microglia form an extremely stable cell population with little turnover and with less than 1% bone marrow precursor cells ^{85,170}.

3.1 NOMENCLATURE

del Rio-Hortega in 1919 first used the term microglia to describe a type of glial cell that could be differentiated from neurons, astrocytes and oligodendrocytes by its distinctive morphology with silver impregnation techniques⁸¹. The nature and identity of microglial cells have triggered much debate and research since their discovery. However, it is now generally accepted that microglia are ubiquitous, mesodermally derived glial cells of characteristic morphology and phenotype which are evenly distributed throughout the central nervous system, and whose functions are primarily related to phagocytosis, antigen presentation, cytotoxicity and neuronal survival ³³⁸. The term "macrophage" is used to refer to a monocytederived phagocyte in the parenchyma of CNS ⁹². The distinction is complicated by the fact that macrophages are derived, at least in part, from intrinsic microglia in the CNS and that it is technically difficult to distinguish between phagocytic microglia and monocyte-derived macrophages ^{117,339}. Thus, microglia are also called as "resident macrophages of the CNS" ²⁵.

3.2 CLASSIFICATION

In view of their morphological and functional characteristics in the mature CNS, three different types of microglia can be distinguished ^{25,339}:

1. the ramified (resting) microglia with long and branched processes, found predominantly in the white matter of normal mature CNS;

- 2. the ameboid (activated), but non-phagocytic microglia with cellular hypertrophy, and shortened and thickened processes, in response to sublethal injury without causing terminal degeneration and necrosis such as follows nerve transection; and
- the foamy (phagocytic) microglia in areas of necrosis produced by varied mechanism including neurotrauma.

Figure 7 demonstrates the progressive transformation in the morphological appearance between ramified (resting) microglia and ameboid (activated) microglia.

Although neither the ameboid nor ramified shapes may be reliable indicators of the functional state of microglia, ramified microglia are often referred to as "resting" microglia and ameboid microglia as "activated" microglia in the mature CNS. However, there is no consensus as to what constitutes the best marker for microglial activation, especially in situ ⁸⁵.



Figure 7. Schematic diagram of interrelations between ramified and ameboid microglia. In disease states, the ramified microglia are gradually activated, showing progressive transformation in the morphological appearance. (Adapted from Dickson DW and Lee SC: Microglia, in Davis RL and Robertson DM (eds): Textbook of neuropathology. Boston, Williams & Wilkins: 165-205,1997)

3.3 MICROGLIAL ACTIVATION

3.3.1 RESTING MICROGLIA

Resting microglia with numerous fine antler-like processes show a highly down-regulated immunophenotype and are in a functionally quiescent state ^{272,339}. The cell surface antigens on resting microglia in the physiologically quiescent state include complement receptor type 3 and Fc, but not MHC I, II and CD4 ³⁸². Microglia can most rapidly respond to injury in the CNS. They respond not only to changes in the structural integrity of CNS but also to very subtle alterations in their microenvironment, such as imbalances in ion homeostasis that precede pathological changes detectable histologically ¹²⁹. Thus, microglial activation often precedes reactions of any other cell type in the CNS ²⁰⁰.

3.3.2 ACTIVATED MICROGLIA

To define stages of microglia activation in vivo, the model of facial nerve axotomy, which leaves the BBB unimpaired, was used as it allows the study of the activation of microglia in the absence of infiltrating haematogenous macrophages ³³⁹. In that study, the facial nerve was cut outside the brain and the reactions of facial motoneurons and their glial environment were studied in the brainstem. Following facial nerve transection, ramified microglia proliferated, became ameboid with cellular hypertrophy and shortened processes, and expressed several new surface antigens, including MHC I, II and CD4 ³³⁹. It has also been noted that microglia in a perineuronal position started to ensheath the injured motor neurons and interpose processes between afferent synaptic terminals and the neuronal surface. The phenomenon, originally described by Blinzinger and Kreutzberg ³⁷, is now known as "synaptic stripping", and its functional significance is not well understood. It has been suggested that detachment of synaptic terminals from the motor neuron surface may influence synaptic reorganization of injured motor neurons ²⁵. In addition, APP is newly expressed by activated perineuronal

60

microglia ¹². But, again, the significance of the presence of APP in activated microglia remains enigmatic.

It has also been observed that, upon cellular activation, microglia are capable of producing large quantities of a number of neurotoxic mediators, including EAAs, proteases, cytokines and NO 200,387 . Details will be discussed in section 3.4.

3.3.3 PHAGOCYTIC MICROGIA

Under the condition of facial nerve axotomy, microglia become activated but not phagocytic. However, if motor neuron death is induced by injection of toxic ricin into the facial nerve, microglia rapidly transform into phagocytic microglia ³⁴⁰, and gradually migrated into the injury site to remove the neuronal cell debris. In addition to complement receptor type 3, Fc, CD4, MHC I and II, these microglia-derived macrophages also express the ED1 epitope which is otherwise typical of peripheral macrophages ²⁵. Thus, it has to be stressed that it is technically difficult to distinguish between intrinsic phagocytic microglia and monocytederived macrophages ^{25,117,339,382}.

3.3.4 SUMMARY

In summary, the microglial response to injury occurs in a rather stereotypic pattern, irrespective of the cause of the lesion ^{128,339}. Results obtained from the facial-nerve transection model show that activation of microglia displays a repertoire in terms of proliferation, migration to the site of injury, characteristic morphological, immunophenotypical and functional changes, and that microglial activation takes place in a graded fashion. In the first stage of activation, microglia become activated, but do not become phagocytic. In the second

stage of activation, following neuronal and/or axonal terminal degeneration, microglia transform into phagocytes, also known as microglia-derived brain macrophages.

Thus, the activation process is a graded event that is dependent on the severity of the insult and is most probably regulated by specific signals, e.g., cytokines, in a well-controlled manner 128 .

3.4 FUNCTIONS OF MICROGLIA IN SCI

Functional significance of activated microglia in SCI is still poorly understood. Microglia have shown both cytotoxic and neurotrophic effects on the injured tissue, suggesting a possible dual-edged role ²⁵.

3.4.1 CYTOTOXICITY

Many studies have demonstrated a swift activation of microglia following SCI ^{323,341,382}. There are two principal ways by which microglia may act as cytotoxic cells.

First, phagocytic microglia express Fc and complement receptors on their surfaces ⁸⁵. In particular, during antibody-mediated demyelination, activated microglia can lyse antibody-coated target cells via interaction of Fc and complement receptors on their surfaces with immune complexes and complement-opsonized antigens ⁴⁰⁴.

Second, activated microglia are capable of releasing several potentially cytotoxic substances in vitro such as cytokines (e.g., TNF- α , IL-1 β and IL-6), free oxygen intermediates, NO, proteinases, arachidonic acid derivates and EAAs ^{12,75,242,323,355,387}. This is further supported by findings in animal models of CNS trauma that at the lesion site activated microglia have been shown by microdialysis measurements and in situ hybridisation to release high levels of cytokines (e.g., IL-1) within 24 h following injury ³⁸⁸. Shuman et al. ³²³ observed microglia with an activated morphology in the same regions as oligodendrocyte apoptosis and apparent contact between some of the apoptotic oligodendrocytes and microglial processes after spinal cord contusion in the rat, suggesting microglia-produced TNF- α may cause oligodendrocyte apoptosis. Microglia-produced TNF- α may also cause direct damage to myelin, furthering demyelination ³¹⁷. Additionally, Combs et al. ⁷⁵ demonstrated in a tissue culture model that conditioned media from β -amyloid- and prion- stimulated microglia are neurotoxic to mouse neurons.

Interestingly, the cytotoxic properties of microglia can be modulated by cytokines, glucocorticoids and neurotransmitters ²²⁴. Cytokines such as IFN γ prime microglia to become activated whereas other cytokines such as TGF β 1 or IL-4 downregulate microglial cytotoxicity ²⁴³. Neuronal activity may also control microglial activation. β -adrenergic agonists like isoproterenol have been shown to reduce IL-1 and TNF- α production by microglia ²⁰⁰. Additionally, glucocorticoids, such as dexamethasone and corticosterone, are also potent inhibitors of microglial activation ²²⁴. Furthermore, potent inhibitors of macrophage/microglial activation have been shown to reduce the extent of tissue damage and improve the motor function after ischaemic injury in the rabbit spinal cord ¹³⁷.

However, most of the information on the cytotoxic properties of activated microglia pertains to in vitro observations and still remains to be confirmed in vivo.

3.4.2 NEUROTROPHY

Although activated microglia are generally regarded as cytotoxic effector cells, they also exert neurotrophic effects on the injured tissue to promote tissue repair and regeneration after injury. For example, TGF β 1 produced by activated microglia after CNS trauma or after ischaemic injury may either promote tissue repair directly or indirectly by reducing astrocytic scar formation ^{219,386,388}. Microglia secrete both the urokinase-type plasminogen activator and plasminogen, which have been shown to promote neurite outgrowth ^{253,254}. Microglia-secreted plasminogen may also be involved in tissue remodelling after injury ²⁵. In fact, tissue remodelling by activated microglia precedes the regeneration of optic nerve of fish or amphibia which, unlike the mammalian CNS, has a high capacity for regeneration, ²⁰⁰, suggesting microglial activation may support regeneration. Furthermore, a recent study has demonstrated that transplantation of activated macrophage/mciroglial cells can significantly promote the regeneration of sensory axons into the injured spinal cord in the rat ²⁸⁰.

It is also reasonable to assume that following injury, immediately activated microglia release mediators such as IL-1, which may induce astrocyte activation ¹¹⁰, as IL-1 is capable of inducing hyperplasia and hypertrophy of astrocytes when injected intracerebrally ¹³⁸. Reactive astrocytes may, in turn, contribute to CNS regeneration by secreting neurotrophic factors such as neurotrophins or insulin-like growth factors, which promote neuronal and/or oligodendrocyte survival ¹³⁰.

AIMS AND HYPOTHESES

HYPOTHESES

- 1. The pro-inflammatory cytokines IL-1 β , IL-6 and TNF- α act as messengers to coordinate the inflammatory cascade in secondary SCI.
- 2. The cytokine response should be greater in severe than in mild SCI.
- 3. The NF- κ B antisense should significantly inhibit the upregulation of IL-1 β , IL-6 and TNF- α after SCI by blocking the activation of NF- κ B.

AIMS

- 1. To investigate early posttraumatic inflammatory cellular response in rat and human SCIs.
- To demonstrate and compare temporal mRNA expression patterns for IL-1B, IL-6 and TNFα in mild and severe rat SCIs.
- To demonstrate and compare temporal protein expression patterns for IL-1β, IL-6 and TNFα in mild and severe rat SCIs.
- 4. To compare temporal mRNA and protein expression patterns for IL-1B, IL-6 and TNF α in severe rat SCI with the patterns in rats treated with the NF- κ B antisense after SCI.
- 5. To localize cellular sources of interleukin-1 β (IL-1 β), interleukin-6 (IL-6) and tumour necrosis factor- α (TNF- α) in rat and human SCI.

RAT SCI EXPERIMENTS

1. MATERIALS AND GENERAL METHODS

1.1 ANIMALS USED AND ETHICS APPROVAL

All the experimental procedures were approved by the Animal Ethics Committees of the Institute of Medical and Veterinary Science and the University of Adelaide. One hundred and twenty-six male Sprague-Dawley rats were used in the experiments and were supplied by and housed in the Institute of Medical and Veterinary Science (Table 2). Prior to surgery, rats were kept in cages in groups of up to six. Rats were weighed at the first anaesthetic. Postoperatively, rats were housed in individual cages and given food and water ad libidum. Analgesia was administered as required.

Experiment	Number of rats	Average weight \pm SD
Weight-drop model of SCI	33	412 ± 18 g
Inflammatory cellular response & cellular localization of IL-1 β , IL-6 and TNF α after SCI	31*	$420\pm20~{\rm g}$
Studies of IL-1 β , IL-6 & TNF α mRNAs and proteins after SCI	60	418 ± 22 g
NF-κB antisense treatment after SCI	14	422 ± 23 g

Table 2. Rats used to study traumatic spinal cord injury.

* Includes 12 rats in the 'weight-drop model of SCI'.

1.2 ANAESTHESIA

Anaesthesia was induced in each rat with 4% isoflurane in oxygen (3 L/min) in an anaesthetic chamber. Rats were positioned prone. Anaesthesia was maintained with the animal self ventilating 2.5% isoflurane in oxygen (1.5 L/min) through a nose cone. Core body temperature was continuously monitored and maintained at 38 ± 1 °C by a heating pad. Following the surgical procedure, anaesthesia was withdrawn and the rat supplied with 100% oxygen for 1-2 minutes before placing the rat in the postoperative recovery cage.

1.3 SURGICAL PROCEDURE

A 3 cm midline incision was made in the skin, followed by blunt dissection to expose the lower thoracic spine. Paraspinal muscles were stripped from the spinous processes of T10 to T13 under a dissecting microscope. A laminectomy of T12 was performed to expose a circular region of dura approximately 8 mm in diameter. The spinal column was stabilized by clamping the spinous processes of T11 and T13 with angled Allis clamps held in custom-machined holders. The clamps were then raised so that the lumbar region of the rat was suspended by the spinous processes. The prepared rat was positioned under a weight-drop device, which was used to induce the spinal cord contusions (details seen in 2.1.2). Mild and severe SCIs were respectively produced by dropping a 10-g weight from 3.0 or 12.0 cm onto the exposed dura of rat spinal cord at the T12 vertebral level. After injury, the wound was closed in layers using 3-0 synthetic absorbable sutures.

1.4 NEUROLOGICAL EXAMINATION

After rats recovered from surgery, neurological examinations were performed daily until sacrifice. Neurological function was evaluated with a grading system modified from those of Tarlov ³⁵¹ and Delamarter et al. ⁸² (Table 3)

GradeFunction0No movement of hind limb; no weight bearing1Barely perceptible movement of hind limb; no weight bearing2Frequent movement of hind limb; no weight bearing3Can support weight on hind limb; may take one or two steps4Walks with only mild deficit5Normal walking

Table 3. Motor score: grading of neurological function in experimental rats

1.5 PERFUSION-SACRIFICE

Following a survival period of 1 h – 14 days, rats were induced and anaesthetized with isoflurane. The rat was positioned supine and the thoracic cage opened to expose the heart and aorta. A blunt 19 gauge needle was introduced through the apex of the heart into the ascending aorta. Two millilitres of 1000 IU/ml heparin was injected into the aorta. The heart was clamped transversely at the apex to secure the needle in place. The right atrium was opened. The rat was then perfused with either freshly prepared 4% paraformaldehyde in 0.1 M phosphate buffer (pH 7.4, at room temperature) or normal saline for 10 minutes at a pressure of 120 mmHg. Perfusion pressures were generated with compressed air in a closed system and monitored with a sphygmomanometer ³⁰⁴.

1.6 TISSUE PROCESSING

1.6.1 REMOVAL OF SPINAL CORDS FROM RATS PERFUSED WITH 4% PARAFORMALDEHYDE

The entire spinal column was removed from each rat immediately after perfusion-fixation and postfixed in 4% paraformaldehyde in 0.1 M phosphate buffer (pH 7.4) overnight. The spinal cord was then dissected out and divided into nine 1-cm segments. Each segment was marked at the rostral end on the right side with a small vertical incision to allow orientation.

Tissue blocks were dehydrated in graded alcohol baths and cleared with chloroform, prior to processing into paraffin wax. Five micrometer serial sections were cut at (150 μ m) levels with a microtome and mounted onto slides coated with APT (Sigma Chemical Corporation, US). The sections were dried at 37°C for at least 12 hours prior to use. Sections from each level were stained with H&E and immunohistochemically.

1.6.2 REMOVAL OF SPINAL CORDS FROM RATS PERFUSED WITH NORMAL SALINE

Spinal cord segments (2 cm in length and 190-210 mg in weight) encompassing the lesion epicentre were quickly removed from rats, snap-frozen in dry ice and placed in a sterile bag immediately after perfusion. Tissue samples were stored at -70°C until RT-PCR and Western blotting analyses.

1.7 PHOTOGRAPHY

Photomicrographs were taken with an Olympus PM20 camera system and an Olympus BX50 microscope. Film used for microscopic photography was Kodak EPY-36 Tungsten 64T Ektachrome.

2. WEIGHT-DROP MODEL

This experiment was performed to determine whether or not a graded (mild and severe) and consistent SCI could be produced in the rat with the weight-drop device.

2.1 METHODS

2.1.1 ANIMALS

Thirty-three adult male Sprague-Dawley rats were used and divided into three groups; laminectomy control, mild and severe SCI. The control group (N=3) received a T12 laminectomy only and were sacrificed at 14 d postinjury. The mild SCI group consisted of fifteen rats, which were injured by dropping the 10-g weight 3 cm onto the spinal cord and were sacrificed at 1 d, 7 d or 14 d postinjury (n=5 for each time point). In the severe SCI group, fifteen rats were injured by dropping the 10-g weight 12 cm onto the spinal cord and were sacrificed at 1 d, 7 d or 14 d postinjury (n=5 for each time point).

2.1.2 WEIGHT-DROP TECHNIQUE

The weight-drop device consisted of a Teflon impounder, 2 g weight, aligned but loosely fitted over the end of a brass rod inserted through a 10-g weight. The brass rod was attached to a stereotactic frame that allowed precise positioning along the X, Y, and Z coordinates. The spinal column was stabilized by clamping the spinous processes of T11 and T13 with angled Allis clamps held in custom-machined holders and the impounder was then centred over the laminectomy and lowered onto the dura. The 10-g weight was held in place by a pin which, when removed, allowed the weight to fall. The 10-g weight was then dropped 3.0 or 12.0 cm onto the impounder and 5 seconds later, the entire rod assembly was raised off the dura. For the laminectomy control group, the impounder was lowered onto the dura for 2 minutes but no weight was dropped.

2.1.3 MOTOR SCORE

Motor performances of hind limbs were analyzed with a grading system modified from those of Tarlov ³⁵¹ and Delamarter et al. ⁸² (Table 3). A motor score was assigned to the left and right hind limb separately and the motor scores of the left and right hind limbs were averaged together to yield one score for a rat per test session.

2.1.4 HISTOPATHOLOGY

Tissue sections were stained with haematoxylin and eosin. The epicentre of the injury was identified histologically by reviewing serial transverse sections and selecting the section that reflected the maximal extent of the lesion with light microscopy. The area of the maximal lesion was measured with NIH image 1.62 software (NIH, Bethesda, MA) and the length of the spinal cord lesion was derived from the number of serial transverse sections showing histological abnormality.

2.1.5 STATISTICS

Wilcoxon Rank Sum Test and T-test were respectively used to compare the differences in Tarlov score and histopathology between mild and severe rat SCI. A P value less than 0.05 was considered significant.

2.2 RESULTS

2.2.1 MOTOR PERFORMANCE

As a motor score was assigned to the left and right hind limbs separately, asymmetry in the lesion was detected in some rats. However, for the most part, the deficits appeared symmetrical with the same score given to both hind limbs. In no case did the score between hind limbs and vary by more than one point.

Table 4 shows the motor scores for laminectomy control, mild and severe SCI groups and statistical comparisons of pairs of the mild and severe SCI groups with respect to the motor score at 1, 7 and 14 days after injury (refer to Appendix 2).

The laminectomy control group did not show any motor function deficits while mild and severe SCI groups presented varying degrees of deficits. In no case did the score between rats in the same group vary by more than one point.

Motor functions of the hind limbs in the mild SCI group demonstrated mild and transient declines and then gradually and fully recovered to the normal level, whereas motor functions of rats with severe SCI were significantly impaired and improved marginally over a period of two weeks after injury. The mild SCI group had significantly better motor scores than the severe SCI group at 1, 7 and 14 days after injury.

Group	Weight-drop Height (cm)		Motor score (median)		
		1 d	7 d	14 d	
Laminectomy control	0.0	5	5	5	
Mild SCI	3.0	4	5	5	
Severe SCI	12.0	0	0.5	1	
Comparisons between mild and severe SCI		P < 0.05	P < 0.05	P < 0.05	

0.042

2

Table 4. Motor scores for laminectomy control, mild and severe SCI groups & comparisons of pairs of the mild and severe SCI groupswith respect to the motor score

2.2.2 HISTOPATHOLOGY

The 3-cm weight-drop contusions in the group of mild SCI produced central core lesions, which were characterized by cavities that replaced some of the grey and white matter. There were also multiple small microcysts in the white matter, some of which contained swollen axons or axonal debris. A representative transverse section at the lesion centre in mild SCI at 14 days after injury is shown in Figure 8A.

The 12-cm weight-drop contusions in the group of severe SCI created subtotal losses of grey and white matter and only tiny and isolated patches of white matter remained on peripheral edges of the ventral funiculus. A representative transverse sections in severe SCI at 14 days after injury is shown in Figure 8B.

No tissue loss or pathological changes were observed in the laminectomy control group (Figure 8C).

Statistical comparisons were done between the mild and severe SCI groups with respect to the area of maximal lesions and the length of lesions at 14 days after injury, showing significantly greater areas of maximal lesion $(6.70 \pm 0.37 \text{ mm}^2)$ and lengths of lesion $(13.23 \pm 0.81 \text{ mm})$ in severe SCI than in mild SCI (area of maximal lesion: $1.21 \pm 0.11 \text{ mm}^2$ & lesion length $2.88 \pm 0.26 \text{ mm}$)(refer to Appendix 2). P values are both less than 0.05.

76

Figure 8. Representative transverse sections at the epicentre of the lesion for a 3 cm (A) and 12 cm (B) weight-drop contusion SCI, 2 weeks after injury. C shows a transverse section of a laminectomy control rat spinal cord at T12 segment, 2 weeks after laminectomy. H&E, X10.





2.3 DISCUSSION

The results indicate that by using our weight-drop device, a graded SCI can be produced in rats with significant differences in outcomes of motor function and histopathology between mild and severe SCI groups. Furthermore, the spinal cord lesion induced by the weight-drop device is consistent: the standard error is less than 10 percent of the mean maximal lesion area or mean lesion length in the mild and severe SCI group.

Histopathology of spinal cords (area of maximal lesions and length of lesions) at 14 days after mild and severe SCI was chosen for statistical comparisons because it is more accurate to define the lesion area and intact area in the damaged spinal cord at 14 days postinjury (Figures 8A-B) than at earlier time points, such as 1 hr postinjury (Figures 9A-B).

There are two important differences in our weight-drop technique if compared to the classic Allen weight-drop technique ^{21,391}. The first is the extent of the laminectomy. We carried out a limited, one-level laminectomy just large enough to allow the impounder to contact the dura. An ideal experimental model of SCI would require minimal surgical preparation of the animal and multiple-level laminectomy itself is a major injury to the animal. The second is the extent to which the spinal column was stabilized prior to weight-drop injury. We stabilized the spinal column via clamps on the spinous processes of the vertebrae immediately rostral and caudal to the laminectomy. The rat was actually lifted by those clamps so that the weight-drop impact could not be cushioned by the body as a whole. Such stabilization also reduced the effects of respiratory movements that may alter the position of the spinal cord with respect to the impounder at the moment of impact and thus contribute to variability.

80

In conclusion, our weight-drop device produces graded and consistent contusion injuries of the spinal cord in the rat. **Figure 9.** Representative transverse sections at the epicentre of the lesion for a 3 cm (A) and 12 cm (B) weight-drop contusion SCI, 1 hour after injury. H&E, X10.



3. INFLAMMATORY CELLULAR RESPONSE

This experiment was performed to investigate the posttraumatic inflammatory cellular response in the rat after SCI.

3.1 METHODS

3.1.1 ANIMALS

Thirty-one rats were used and divided into four groups: mild SCI, severe SCI, laminectomy control and naïve control. Fourteen rats with mild SCI were killed at 1 h (n=2), 3 h (n=2), 6 h (n=2), 1 d (n=2), 3 d (n=2), 7 d (n=2) or 14 d (n=2) postinjury. Severe SCI group also includes fourteen rats, which were sacrificed at 1 h (n=2), 3 h (n=2), 6 h (n=2), 1 d (n=2), 3 d (n=2), 7 d (n=2) postinjury. Two rats with laminectomy only were killed at 1 or 24 h (n=1 for each time point) after surgery and one normal rat was killed as a naïve control.

3.1.2 HISTOLOGICAL STAINING

Sections from each level were stained with haematoxylin and eosin to assess the extent and distribution of any pathologic abnormality of the cord with particular attention to haemorrhage, necrosis and migration of inflammatory cells (neutrophils and macrophages).

Immunocytochemical staining was carried out on 5- μ m paraffin sections using standard immunoperoxidase staining protocols ³³⁴. The sections were deparaffinized in xylene and cleared in graded ethanol baths. Endogenous peroxidase activity in the tissue was blocked by incubation with 3% H₂O₂ in PBS and non-specific binding was suppressed by incubation with blocking serum (15% NHS in PBS). Sections were then incubated overnight with the primary antibody diluted in NHS and stained with 3,3-diaminobenzidine tetrahydrochloride (DAB; Sigma, St. Louis, MO) using avidin-biotin peroxidase (Vectastain ABC kit; Vector

Laboratories, Burlingame, CA) and counter-stained with haematoxylin. Negative control studies were performed by omitting the primary antibody step.

Macrophages were detected using the mouse monoclonal IgG antibody ED1 (Serotec Ltd., Oxford, UK) at a dilution of 1:400⁸⁶. Axonal injury was identified using a mouse anti-APP monoclonal antibody (DAKO, Carptinteria, CA) at a dilution of 1:10000^{132,217}. To identify microglia, the horseradish peroxidase conjugate of the B₄-isolectin from Griffonia simplicifolia (GS I-B₄-HRP, Sigma Chemical Co., CA) was used at a concentration of 20 μ g/ml³³⁷. A rabbit anti-TNF- α polyclonal antibody (1:60, HyCult Biotechnology, Uden, Holland) was used to detect TNF- α expression. The antigen-specificity of the TNF- α antibody was checked by pre-absorbing the primary antibody with exogenous recombinant rat TNF- α (Pepro Tech, NJ).

Using double-label fluorescent immunohistochemistry, the cellular source of TNF- α was elucidated. The sections were incubated overnight with a combination of a rabbit anti-TNF- α antibody (as described before), and a human microglia marker demonstrating cross-reactivity with rat microglia (1:1000, a gift from Dr. Roggendorf W., University of Wurzburg, Germany). On the following day, the sections were incubated with a mixture of fluorescein-conjugated donkey anti-rabbit (FITC; 1:100; Jackson Immunoresearch Lab, West Grove, PA) and CyTM5-conjugated donkey anti-mouse (Cy5; 1:400; Jackson Immunoresearch Lab, West Grove, PA) antibodies. Sections were then mounted and examined under a fluorescence microscope (Biorad, LaserSharp 2100).

3.2 RESULTS

The nature and temporal development of the inflammatory response was the same in both mild and severe SCIs and differed only in degree, being much greater in severe injury. For example, transverse sections of lesion centres of mild and severe SCI at 1 h and 14 d postinjury are shown in Figures 9A-B and 8A-B, respectively.

3.2.1 ONE HOUR AFTER SCI

One hour following traumatic SCI, the lesion centre was marked by haemorrhage and necrosis (Figure 9), but no neutrophils or other leucocytes were seen in the areas of damaged tissue (Figures 10A-B). Some severely damaged neurons displayed extensive blebbing and shrinkage of their cytoplasms (Figures 10A-B). Signs of neuronal death, such as pyknosis and pale ghost-like cytoplasm were readily apparent in the grey matter (Figures 10A-B). At this early time point, the expression of TNF- α was found in many neurons (Figure 10C) and TNF- α positive neurons were found up to 0.6 cm from the lesion centre and there was no difference in the immunostaining pattern of TNF- α after severe injury than mild injury. Furthermore, there were morphological signs of microglial activation, such as cellular hypertrophy and retraction of microglial processes (Figure 10D), and some activated (ameboid) microglia were found wrapping around some axonal swellings (Figure 10D). Meanwhile, early axonal injury was demonstrated by APP immunoreactivity in neurons and some axons (Figures 10E-F).

Figure 10. Histological changes in the lesion at 1 h after SCI. (A-B) Marked haemorrhage without the infiltration of leucocytes in the lesion and some severely damaged neurons (single arrows) displaying extensive blebbing and shrinkage of their cytoplasms. There were signs of neuronal death, such as pyknosis (double-headed arrow) and pale ghost-like cytoplasm (double arrows) in the grey matter. H&E, X100. (C) TNF- α expression was detected in some neurons (arrows). TNF- α , X100. (D) Some activated (ameboid) microglia with morphological signs of cellular hypertrophy and retraction of processes wrapped around axons (arrows). B₄-isolectin, X100. (E-F) APP expression in some neurons and axons (arrows). APP, X100.







3.2.2 SIX HOURS AFTER SCI

Similar pathology was observed at 3 h after SCI compared to 1 h postinjury. However, at 6 h postinjury, a dramatic increase in the number of multinuclear neutrophils was found primarily in and around blood vessels (Figure 11A). Very occasional mononuclear cells in the walls of blood vessels were observed. TNF- α expression was detected not only in many neurons but also in some glial cells with microglial morphological appearance (Figure 11B). Some of these TNF- α positive glial cells were found surrounding axons (Figure 11B). TNF- α positive cells were found up to 1 cm from the lesion centre and there was no difference in the immunostaining pattern of TNF- α between the rostral and caudal parts of the lesion. There were few neurons and glial cells expressing TNF- α after mild injury compared with severe injury. More activated (ameboid) microglia were detected and some of them were found wrapping around axons as well as neurons (Figure 11C). Axonal injury was shown by APP immunoreactivity of many neurons and axons (Figure 11D).

To determine if TNF- α positive glial cells were microglia, double-label fluorescent immunohistochemistry was used, showing co-localization of TNF- α and the microglial marker KiM1P (Figure 12).
Figure 11. Histological changes in the lesion at 6 h after SCI. (A) Neutrophil margination in the wall of a blood vessel (arrows). H&E, X100. (B) Glial cells expressed TNF- α and some of them surrounded axons (arrows). TNF- α , X1500. (C) More activated (ameboid) microglia were found and some of them wrapped around neurons (arrows). B₄-isolectin, X100. (D) APP positive neurons (double-headed arrow) and axons (arrows). APP, X100.





Figure 12. Co-localization of the TNF- α (green) and the microglial marker KiM1P (red) in the lesion at 6 h after severe SCI. Cells stained with anti-TNF- α only and B₄-isolectin only were respectively shown in (A) and (B). Double-label immunofluorescent immunohistochemistry confirmed that TNF- α was co-localized in microglia (C). Arrows indicate cells co-localizing expression of the microglial marker (KiM1P) and TNF- α . (A-C) (X600, zoom 2).







3.2.3 ONE DAY AFTER SCI

One day following SCI, numerous polymorphonuclear neutrophils were found in the damaged tissue (Figure 13A) and the number of neutrophils appeared to reach a peak at this time point. Weak expression of TNF- α was seen in the neurons (Figure 13B) while no expression was identified in the glial cells or neutrophils, suggesting that the level of TNF- α protein quickly declined. Some ED-1-stained macrophages started to appear in the injured tissue (Figure 13C) and many activated (ameboid) microglia were found wrapping around axonal swellings (Figure 13D). APP expression was also detected in neurons and axons.

Figure 13. Histological changes in the lesion at 1 d after SCI. (A) Numerous neutrophils infiltrated the damaged spinal cord (arrow). H&E, X100. (B) Weak expression of TNF- α in neurons (arrows). TNF- α , X100. (C) Some macrophages started to appear in the lesion. ED-1, X1500. (D) Axons were surrounded by activated (ameboid) microglia (arrows). B₄-isolectin, X100.





3.2.4 THREE DAYS AFTER SCI

At 3 d postinjury, the number of neutrophils dramatically declined while macrophages (Figures 14 A-B) and activated (ameboid) microglia (Figure 14 C) persisted in the spinal cord. Macrophages were found to be predominantly present in the necrotic areas (Figures 14 A-B) and largely absent from surviving areas. Instead, these regions were populated by activated (ameboid) microglia, some of which were found wrapping around axons (Figure 14 C). APP expression continued to be present in the neurons and axons (Figure 14 D), but no expression of TNF- α was observed.

3.2.5 SEVEN AND FOURTEEN DAYS AFTER SCI

Pathological changes at 7 and 14 days after SCI were very similar to those at 3 days postinjury. There were still many macrophages, predominantly in necrotic areas, and numerous activated (ameboid) microglia confined to the surviving areas. Some of activated microglia continued to surround axons and APP expression continued to be present in the neurons and axons.

3.2.6 CONTROL STUDIES

There was no expression of APP and TNF- α in two laminectomy controls and one normal control. Neither macrophage nor activated (ameboid) microglia were detected in the laminectomy controls and normal control.

No immunoreactivity of TNF- α was seen in the antigen-absorption controls.

No positive staining was observed in the negative immunostaining control studies, which were performed by omitting the primary antibody step.

Figure 14. Histological changes in the lesion at 3 d after SCI. (A) Numerous macrophages were present in the damaged spinal cord, phagocytosing erythrocytes (arrows). H&E, X100. (B) Numerous ED-1 positive macrophages predominantly in the necrotic area. ED-1, X100. (C) Activated (ameboid) microglia mainly in the surviving tissue, surrounding around axons (arrow). B₄-isolectin, X100. (D) APP expression in the axons. APP, X100.





3.2.7 SUMMARY OF POSTTRAUMATIC INFLAMMATORY CELLULAR RESPONSE

The inflammatory cellular response after SCI is summarised in Table 5 below.

	Tat	ole 5.	Inflammatory	cellular	response	after SCI.
--	-----	--------	--------------	----------	----------	------------

Postinjury	Histopathology					
1 & 3 hr	Haemorrhage and necrosis; no leukocyte infiltration. Neuronal pyknosis, vacuolation and pale ghost-like changes. Activated (ameboid) microglia, some of which surrounded axons. TNFα expression in neurons and APP expression in neurons & axons.					
6 hr	Neutrophil margination. Activated (ameboid) microglia, some of which surrounded neurons. TNEQ expression not only in neurons but also in some glial cells.					
	APP expression in neurons and axons.					
1 d	Peak of neutrophil number and ED-1+ macrophages started to appear. Activated (ameboid) microglia, some of which surrounded axons. A dramatic decline in TNF expression. APP expression in neurons and axons.					
3, 7 & 14 d	Few neutrophils in the damaged tissue. Numerous macrophages predominantly in necrotic areas. Activated (ameboid) microglia around axons mainly in surviving areas. APP expression in neurons and axons.					

3.3 DISCUSSION

3.3.1 STAINING METHODS FOR RAT MICROGLIAL CELLS

The lack of a unique marker for microglia has made their study challenging. Many of the best markers for microglia are cell surface antigens that are unstable with routine histologic methods. Except for a few markers such as lectin, markers for microglia are either useless or suboptimal in paraformaldehyde-fixed or formalin-fixed paraffin sections ^{85,338}.

Therefore, a simple method of using the lectin from GS I-B₄ for histochemical visualization of rat microglial cells was used in this study. In addition to providing good structural preservation, this method achieves complete labelling of all microglial cells and superior visualization of microglial processes. Furthermore, no other glial cell types aside from microglia demonstrate binding with the lectin from GS I-B₄ ³³⁷. Therefore, this lectin is a very reliable microglial marker.

3.3.2 APP UPREGULATION

APP has been used extensively as a sensitive marker of axonal injury in human studies ^{39,131,320} and experimental studies ^{234,371}, but the significance of APP upregulation in neurons and axons in response to TSCI is unknown. It has been suggested that induction of APP in the CNS is a normal "acute phase" response to neuronal stress ^{71,131,294,295} similar to the induction of heat shock proteins ²²⁵. However, other studies have suggested that APP upregulation may have neuroprotective functions ^{143,235,330}. In the studies described here, it is not known whether APP expression increases early to perform some neuroprotective function. A possibility is that APP upregulation has no specific role in TSCI as alteration in APP expression could result from a number of factors common to local or diffuse areas of tissue damage such as oxidative stress and local inflammatory cytokines ⁷¹. Thus, increased APP

immunoreactivity within neurons and axons following SCI may be an adaptive response to injury.

3.3.3 CHEMOATTRACTANTS OF INFILTRATING LEUKOCYTES

Haematogenous inflammatory cells (neutrophils and macrophages) did not start to infiltrate the injured spinal cord until 6 h postinjury, suggesting that these inflammatory cells were not spilled from damaged vessels, but recruited by some chemoattractants, including proinflammatory cytokines, haemorrhage and necrosis ^{88,113,239,347}. It has been reported that direct injection of TNF α or IL-1 β into normal CNS causes widespread leukocyte margination ³⁴¹. This is further supported by our findings that a dramatic elevation of TNF α expression as early as 1 h after SCI, which may contribute to the recruitment of leukocytes into the damaged cord.

3.3.4 INFLAMMATORY CELLS

Three cell types are predominantly involved in the early aspects of an inflammatory response: microglia, neutrophils and macrophages. In contrast to some in vivo studies that failed to detect morphological signs of microglial activation by 1 d postinjury ^{261,341}, activated (ameboid) microglia with cellular hypertrophy and retraction of processes were observed in this study as early as 1 h after TSCI and some of them were found surrounding axonal swellings. This novel finding challenged a current view that there is no direct topographical association between microglial cells and axons, and no association of axonal injury with activated microglia ^{127,261,278}. More studies are needed to elucidate the effect of activated microglia surrounding axons because activated microglia are able to produce proinflammatory cytokines (observed in this study), cytotoxic substances ^{25,387} and growth factors ³⁴¹. Activated microglia may provide a trophic local environment to promote axonal

regeneration as some studies have shown that activated microglia promoted regeneration of sensory axons in the injured rat spinal cord ^{248,280} and improved recovery of motor function in paraplegic rats ²⁸⁹.

The current study also found that activated (ameboid) microglia surrounded around neurons. This phenomenon originally found by the Blinzinger group ³⁷ in the study of facial nerve axotomy, is now known as "synaptic stripping" ²⁵. Activated (ameboid) microglia are thought to interpose processes between afferent synaptic terminals and the neuronal surface and to be involved in limited phagocytosis of individual synaptic termini. It has been suggested that neuronal energy expenditure is minimised by cessation of the "transmission" function ²⁵² and "synaptic stripping" may also have an impact on the synaptic reorganization of the injured neurons, but the effect of synaptic stripping on neurons is, as yet, largely unknown.

Neutrophils are the first peripheral inflammatory cells to migrate into the tissue. It has been suggested that neutrophils may be involved in neuronophagia ²³⁹, a view supported by in vitro literature about cytotoxic effects of neutrophils ⁹, but not by other in vivo data, which could not correlate secondary tissue damage with the presence of polymorphonuclear neutrophils ^{99,118}. In this study we have not found neutrophil-mediated neuronophagia and our data have shown that neutrophil influx in the contused spinal cord follows a time course of a detectable increase at 6 h and a rapid influx thereafter that peaks at 24 h. This is consistent with time courses described for other studies of SCI ^{65,99,341}. The fact that necrosis precedes the arrival of neutrophils at the injury site indicates that the tissue necrosis may not be caused by the invading leukocytes, but that it may, instead, provide a chemotactic stimulus for attracting neutrophils as the first line of recruited phagocytic cells to begin removal of cellular debris.

The second wave of peripheral inflammatory cells to enter damaged tissue in the CNS is monocyte-derived macrophages. It has been well-known that the population of macrophages is heterogeneous, consisting of microglia- and monocyte-derived ^{25,85,200,216,338}. Activated (ameboid) microglia can be distinguished from monocyte-derived macrophages by the morphology (microglial processes) before they further transform into round-shaped macrophages ³³⁸. However, when activated (ameboid) microglia further transform into round-shaped macrophages, it is very difficult to determine their origin. This is because most techniques that label microglia will also label peripheral monocyte-derived macrophages ^{25,338}. Thus, the quantitative contributions of endogenous microglia-derived and monocyte-derived macrophages to the total macrophage pool are still not clear ²⁵. Macrophages arising from both sources are specifically labelled by the monoclonal antibody ED1, which does not label untransformed resident microglia, and is therefore the best label for macrophages ⁷⁷.

Regardless of their origin, various reports have shown that macrophages can play both negative and positive roles in responding to injury. Macrophages (including microglia and monocytes) can be induced to produce several potentially cytotoxic substances in vitro, such as free oxygen intermediates, NO, proteases, EAAs and pro-inflammatory cytokines ^{13,200}. Thus, these cells may contribute to the secondary tissue destruction after TSCI. In support of this, depletion of macrophages has been shown to decrease tissue damage in the cord and delay functional loss after SCI ^{34,274}. In contrast, macrophages play a key role in the removal of cellular debris and erythrocytes, and produce the trophic cytokines, such as TGF- β 1 and IL-4, to promote tissue repair and neuronal survival ^{14,78,271}. This is supported by some recent demonstrations that transplantation of cultured macrophage or microglia cause enhanced neurite outgrowth and better recovery of motor function ^{121,286,289}. Thus, the role of macrophages (including microglia and monocytes) is far from clear in studies of TSCI and

their function is likely to be dependent on the time point following injury and their location relative to the lesion.

3.3.5 CELLULAR SOURCES OF TNFα

It has been observed in our study that the rapid elevation of TNF α expression at 1, 3 and 6 h after SCI was followed by a dramatic decline of TNF α expressions prior to the peak appearance of neutrophils and macrophages, indicating that TNF α and other proinflammatory cytokines may be primarily produced by endogenous CNS cells rather than infiltrating blood-borne leukocytes. This is supported by our detection of TNF α expression in neurons and some microglial cells, using double-label fluorescent immunohistochemistry. Similar studies of other pro-inflammatory cytokines, such as IL-1 β and IL-6, could not be done due to the unavailability of IL-1 β and IL-6 specific antibodies for rat paraffin tissue.

4. UPREGULATION OF IL-1 β , IL-6 AND TNF α mRNAs AND PROTEINS AFTER MILD AND SEVERE SCI

This experiment was performed to investigate the response of pro-inflammatory cytokines (IL-1 β , IL-6 and TNF α) at mRNA and protein levels in the rat after SCI.

4.1 METHODS

4.1.1 ANIMALS

Sixty rats were used and divided into four groups: mild SCI, severe SCI, laminectomy control and naïve control. Twenty-one rats with mild SCI were killed at 1 h (n=4), 3 h (n=5), 6 h (n=4), 1 d (n=4) or 3 d (n=4) postinjury. The severe SCI group included twenty rats, which were sacrificed at 1 h (n=4), 3 h (n=4), 6 h (n=4), 1 d (n=4) or 3 d (n=4) postinjury. Sixteen rats with laminectomy only were killed at 1 h (n=3), 3 h (n=3), 6 h (n=3), 1 d (n=3) or 3 d (n=4) after surgery and three normal rats served as naïve controls.

4.1.2 RT-PCR

RT-PCR was used to analyse the mRNA expressions of IL-1 β , IL-6 and TNF α in the rat spinal cord after TSCI.

4.1.2.1 MOLECULAR REAGENTS

One ml of Trizol® reagent was utilised in the RNA extraction process. Materials made use of in reverse transcription include 500ng random hexamers, 1x Reverse Transcription Buffer (50mM Tris-HCl, 50mM KCl, 10mM MgCl₂, 0.5mM spermidine, 10mM DTT), 1mM deooxynucleoside triphosphates (dNTPs) and 20U avian myclobastosis virus (AMV) (Promega, Madison, WI). Reagents involved in PCR amplification comprise of 0.6µM each of sense and antisense oilgonuleotide primer, 1.7 mM MgCl₂, 200µM dNTPs, 1x PCR buffer (20mM Tris-HCl, 50mM KCl) and 1U of PlatinumTaq DNA polymerase and the internal control 18s primer mix.

Samples were prepared for visualisation with 6x Loading Buffer (50% glycerol, 0.25% bromophenol, 0.25% xylene cyanol) and run on 1.5% agarose in 1xTAE solution with DNA marker (20% DNA marker, 10% loading buffer, 70% water).

4.1.2.2 RNA EXTRACTION

For total RNA extraction, a 2cm segment of spinal cord encompassing the lesion epicentre was placed in 4 ml of TRIzol® Reagent (Life Technologies, Gaithersbug, MD). Tissue samples were completely homogenized and 800 μ l of chloroform was added to the samples. Following a brief vortex, the samples were centrifuged at 12000 x g for 15 minutes at 4°C. The top layer (aqueous phase) containing total RNAs was carefully removed and transferred to sterile tubes while the bottom layer (organic phase) containing total DNAs and proteins was used for western blot analysis (refer to 4.1.3). An equal volume of isopropanol was added to the RNA samples, the tubes inverted to mix, and left at -20°C for 15 minutes to precipitate the RNA. RNA samples were centrifuged at 12000 x g for 15 minutes at 4°C. The supernatants were removed with care not to disturb the pellets and the pellets were washed in 70% ethanol. The RNA samples were centrifuged at 12000 x g for 10 minutes at 4°C. The supernatants were removed and the tubes briefly re-spun. Residual 70% ethanol was removed and RNA pellets allowed to air dry. RNA samples were re-suspended in 100 μ l of DEPC water and stored at -70°C until required.

Two ml of RNA sample was diluted 1:250 in DEPC water and the concentration determined using a UV-1601 Shimadzu Recording Spectrophotometer (Shimadzu Corporation, Kyoto, Japan), measuring the absorbance at a wavelength of 260nm. Purity of the RNA was analysed by comparing absorbance at 260nm with absorbance at 280nm.

4.1.2.3 REVERSE TRANSCRIPTION

The gene expression levels of IL-1 β , IL-6, TNF α and cyclophilin control were determined by RT-PCR. One microgram of total RNA, 0.5 μ l random hexamers (1 μ g/ μ l) and DEPC water added to a volume of 12 μ l was heated for 5 minutes at 70°C in a GeneAmp® PCR system 9700 thermal cycler to denature the RNA. Following the denaturation, 4 μ l Reverse Transcription Buffer (5X), 2 μ l dNTPs (10 mM) and 2 μ l purified AMV Reverse Transcriptase (10 U/ μ l) was added to each sample to make a final volume of 20 μ l. Reverse transcription was performed at 30°C for 10 minutes and then 42°C for 45 minutes and this was followed by an incubation at 95°C for 5 minutes to inactivate the enzyme.

4.1.2.4 POLYMERASE CHAIN REACTION

The PCR amplification reaction was performed in a 20 μ l volume containing 1 μ l of the RT reaction solution, 0.8 mM each of sense and antisense primer (refer to Table 7), 50 mM MgCl₂, 2 μ l dNTPs (2mM), 2 μ l PCR buffer (10X), 1U of PlatinumTaq DNA polymerase (Life Technologies, Gaithersburg, MD) and DEPC water. Samples were amplified in GeneAmp® PCR system 9700 thermal cycler for initial denaturisation of 94°C for 3 minutes, followed by 35 cycles of denaturation (94 °C, 30 seconds), annealing (60 °C, 30 seconds) and extension (72 °C, 30 seconds) followed by a final extension of 72°C for 5 minutes to allow the completion of any partial extension products and the annealing of single-stranded complementary products. The PCR products were stored at -20°C until needed. Primers and

expected PCR product sizes for each target gene (IL-1 β , IL-6 and TNF α) and cyclophilin control are listed in Table 7.

The PCR products were electrophorated on 2% agarose gels, stained with ethidium bromide and visualized by ultraviolet (UV) illumination. Digital images of the PCR products were produced under UV light and the intensity of PCR product staining was determined using NIH image 1.62 (NIH, Bethesda, MD)³⁴³. The amount of each PCR product of IL-1 β , IL-6 and TNF- α was normalized to cyclophilin, a transcript whose levels do not change in contused spinal cord ³¹⁸.

Table 6

CK I Inners and Amphileation I fouder Sizes	PCR	Primers	and	Amp	lific	ation	Pro	duct	Sizes
---	-----	---------	-----	-----	-------	-------	-----	------	-------

Target	Sense primer & Antis	sense primer	Product size (base pair)		
IL-1β	Sense (5'-3') Antisense (3'-5')	CAC CTT CTT TTC CTT CAT CTT TG GTC GTT GCT TGT CTC TCC TTG TA	241		
IL-6	Sense (5'-3') Antisense (3'-5')	AAG TTT CTC TCC GCA AGA GAC TTC CAG AGG CAA ATT TCC TGG TTA TAT CCA GTT	299		
TNF-α	Sense (5'-3') Antisense (3'-5')	GTA GCC CAC GTC GTA GCA AAC TGT GGG TGA GGA GCA CAT AGT C	196		
Cyclophilin	Sense (5'-3') Antisense (3'-5')	GAC AAA GTT CCA AAG ACA GCA GAA A CTG AGC TAC AGA AGG AAT GGT TTG	470		

4.1.3 WESTERN BLOT ANALYSIS

The protein levels of IL-1 β , IL-6 and TNF- α were analysed by western blotting.

4.1.3.1 PROTEIN EXTRACTION AND PREPARATION

For total protein extraction, a 2 cm segment of spinal cord encompassing the lesion epicentre was placed in 4 ml of TRIzol® Reagent. Tissue samples were completely homogenized and 800 μ l of chloroform was added to the samples. Following a brief vortex, the samples were centrifuged at 12000 x g for 15 minutes at 4°C. The top layer (aqueous phase) containing total RNAs was carefully removed and transferred to sterile tubes for RT-PCR while the bottom layer (organic phase) containing total DNAs and proteins was used for western blot assay. The bottom layer was mixed with 1.2 ml of 100% ethanol and the mixture was centrifuged at 12000 x g for 5 minutes at 4°C to sediment DNA. The supernatant containing total proteins was then mixed with isopropyl alcohol and the protein precipitate was sedimented at 12000 x g for 10 minutes at 4°C. The protein pellet was washed 3 times in a solution containing 0.3 M guanidine hydrochloride in 95% ethanol. The protein pellet was dissolved in 2% SDS by pipetting and complete dissolution of the protein pellet may require incubating the sample at 50°C. The protein concentration was determined by Bio-Rad (Hercules, CA, USA) protein assay. The sample was then mixed with laemlis buffer and stored at -20°C for use in western blot analysis.

Recombinant IL-1 β , IL-6 and TNF- α (Peprotech, Rocky Hill, NJ) were also dissolved in laemlis buffer, serving as positive controls.

4.1.3.2 WESTERN BLOTTING

Samples and recombinant controls were heated in boiling water for 3 minutes and then cooled to room temperature. Twenty-five micrograms protein from each sample, recombinant positive controls and BenchMarkTM protein marker (GIBCO BRL, Baithersburg, MD) were loaded onto 15% acrylamide gel²⁰¹. The gel was run at 20 mA in 1 x SDS-PAGE running buffer for 1.5 hours. Following electrophoresis, the separating gel, a piece of nitrocellulose membrane (Millipore, Bedford, MA) of the same size, together with 4 pieces of blotting paper was soaked in Semi-Dry transfer buffer for approximately 10 minutes. The gel-membrane sandwich was then assembled in the Hoefer Semi-Dry transfer apparatus and the transfer carried out at 0.8 mA/cm² for 90 minutes. After the transfer, the membrane was blocked in 5% milk in Tris-buffered saline with 0.1% thimersoal (pH 7.5) at 4°C for overnight. The membrane was incubated for 2 hours with a primary antibody, which was rabbit anti-rat IL-1β, rabbit anti-rat IL-6 or rabbit anti-rat TNF-α antibodies (Peprotech, Rocky Hill, NJ) in1:500 dilution. Following the incubation with the primary antibody, the membrane was washed three times with Tris-buffered saline with 0.1% thimersoal (pH 7.5) and incubated for 1 hour with a secondary antibody (goat against rabbit IgG conjugated with alkaline phosphatase, 1: 10000) (Sigma, St. Louis, MO). The membrane was then incubated with substrate development solution (10 ml alkaline phosphatase substrate buffer, 100 µl NBT and 100 µl BCIP) for 5 minutes and rinsed in deionised water. The membrane was allowed to air dry on a paper towel and intensities of protein bands were quantified densitometrically by NIH image 1.62 (NIH, Bethesda, MD). In case where levels of IL-1 β , IL-6 and TNF- α were not detectable, the data were recorded as 1 arbitrary densitometric unit. The amount of each product was normalized to the recombinant control for comparison.

4.1.3.3 STATISTICAL ANALYSES

Multiple samples were analysed by one-way analysis of variance (ANOVA). Differences between the mild and severe SCI groups were analysed by a post-hoc test of Student Neuman Keuls. A P value less than 0.05 was considered significant.

4.2 RESULTS

4.2.1 RT-PCR

The profile of cytokine transcription in contused spinal cord was marked by an early, robust but transient increase in IL-1 β , IL-6 and TNF- α mRNAs.

<u>4.2.1.1 IL-1β mRNA</u>

RT-PCR products representing IL-1 β mRNA levels were shown in Figure 15 with a size of 241 base pairs. The staining intensity of RT-PCR products (amplified for 35 cycles) was directly proportional to the amount of DNA because pixel density units of these products were within the linear range of RT-PCR (refer to appendix 2).

The levels of IL-1 β mRNA in the group of severe SCI were elevated at 1 and 3 h after injury, peaked at 6 h and declined to near baseline levels by 1 d postinjury (Figures 15A and 16). Compared to the mild injury group (Figures 15B and 16), the mRNA levels of IL-1 β in the group of severe SCI were significantly higher at 3 and 6 h postinjury (P<0.05). The maximum level of the IL-1 β transcript in the severe SCI group at 6 h postinjury represented a 5-fold increase over the level of mild injury group. Additionally, the levels of the IL-1 β mRNA in the mild SCI were significantly increased at 1 h, 3 h and 6 h postinjury (P<0.05) compared to laminectomy controls (Figures 15C and 16). In the group of laminectomy controls, fluctuations in IL-1 β mRNA were hardly noted and their expression levels were quite similar to those in the naive control group (P>0.05) (refer to appendix 2).

Figure 15. RT-PCR products for the IL-1 β gene. Column M: molecular weight markers. Columns 1h, 3h, 6h, 1d and 3d: RT-PCR products of IL-1 β at 1 hour, 3 hours, 6 hours, 1day and 3 days postinjury. A: IL-1 β mRNA expressions after severe SCI; B: IL-1 β mRNA expressions after mild SCI; and C: IL-1 β mRNA expressions in laminectomy controls. M 1h 3h 6h 1d 3d



B: IL-1 β mRNA after mild SCI

Μ

-				
	-	-	-	
2				
19				

1h 3h 6h 1d 3d

C: IL-1ß mRNA in laminectomy controls





Figure 16. Time courses of IL-1 β mRNA expressions following SCI and in laminectomy controls. Levels of the IL-1 β mRNA in the severe SCI were significantly greater than in the mild SCI at 3 hr and 6 hr postinjury. Compared to laminectomy controls, the levels of the IL-1 β mRNA in the mild SCI were also significantly increased at 1 hr, 3 hr and 6 hr postinjury. Bars represent means \pm SEM (standard error of the mean). (* P < 0.05).

4.2.1.2 IL-6 mRNA

RT-PCR products representing IL-6 mRNA levels are shown in Figure 17 with a size of 299 base pairs. The staining intensity of RT-PCR products (amplified for 35 cycles) was directly proportional to the amount of DNA because pixel density units of these products were within the linear range of RT-PCR (refer to appendix 2).

The expression profile of IL-6 mRNA in spinal cord was virtually identical to the IL-1 β pattern, shown in Figures 15 and 16. The levels of IL-6 mRNA in the group of severe SCI were elevated at 1 and 3 h after injury, peaked at 6 h and declined to near baseline levels by 1 d postinjury (Figures 17A and 18). Compared to the mild injury group (Figures 17B and 18), the mRNA levels of IL-6 in the group of severe SCI were significantly higher at 3 and 6 h postinjury (P<0.05). The maximum level of the IL-6 transcript in the severe SCI group at 6 h postinjury represented a 7-fold increase over the level of mild injury group. Additionally, the levels of the IL-6 mRNA in the mild SCI were significantly increased at 1 h, 3 h and 6 h postinjury (P<0.05) compared to laminectomy controls (Figures 17C and 18). In the group of laminectomy controls, fluctuations in IL-6 mRNA were hardly noted and their expression levels were quite similar to those in the naive control group (P>0.05) (refer to appendix 2).

Figure 17. RT-PCR products for the IL-6 gene. Column M: molecular weight markers. Columns 1h, 3h, 6h, 1d and 3d: RT-PCR products of IL-6 at 1 hour, 3 hours, 6 hours, 1day and 3 days postinjury. A: IL-6 mRNA expressions after severe SCI; B: IL-6 mRNA expressions after mild SCI; and C: IL-6 mRNA expressions in laminectomy controls.

A: IL-6 mRNA after severe SCI

M 1h 3h 6h 1d 3d



B: IL-6 mRNA after mild SCI

М	1h	3h	6h	1d	3d
=					
5					
en-					

C: IL-6 mRNA in laminectomy controls

M 1h 3h 6h 1d 3d



Figure 18. Time courses of IL-6 mRNA expressions following SCI and in laminectomy controls. Levels of the IL-6 mRNA in the severe SCI were significantly greater than in the mild SCI at 3 hr and 6 hr postinjury. Compared to laminectomy controls, the levels of the IL-6 mRNA in the mild SCI were also significantly increased at 1 hr, 3 hr and 6 hr postinjury. Bars represent means \pm SEM (standard error of the mean). (* P < 0.05).

4.2.1.3 TNFα mRNA

RT-PCR products representing TNF- α mRNA levels are shown in Figure 19 with a size of 196 base pairs. The staining intensity of RT-PCR products (amplified for 35 cycles) was directly proportional to the amount of DNA because pixel density units of these products were within the linear range of RT-PCR (refer to appendix 2).

The levels of TNF- α mRNA in the group of severe SCI were elevated at 1 and 3 h after injury, peaked at 6 h and declined to near baseline levels by 1 d postinjury (Figures 19A and 20). Compared to the mild injury group (Figures 19B and 20), the mRNA levels of TNF- α in the group of severe SCI were significantly higher at 1, 3 and 6 h postinjury (P<0.05). The maximum level of the TNF- α transcript in the severe SCI group at 6 h postinjury represented a 6-fold increase over the level of mild injury group. Additionally, the levels of the TNF- α mRNA in the mild SCI were significantly increased at 1 h, 3 h and 6 h postinjury (P<0.05) compared to laminectomy controls (Figures 19C and 20). In the laminectomy controls, no significant differences in TNF- α mRNA were seen when compared with naïve controls (P>0.05) (refer to appendix 2).
Figure 19. RT-PCR products for the TNF- α gene. Column M: molecular weight markers. Columns 1h, 3h, 6h, 1d and 3d: RT-PCR products of TNF- α at 1 hour, 3 hours, 6 hours, 1 day and 3 days postinjury. A: TNF- α mRNA expressions after severe SCI; B: TNF- α mRNA expressions after mild SCI; and C: TNF- α mRNA expressions in laminectomy controls.

A: TNFa mRNA after severe SCI

M 1h 3h 6h 1d 3d



B: TNFα mRNA after mild SCI

M 1h 3h 6h 1d 3d



C: TNFa mRNA in laminectomy controls

M 1h 3h 6h 1d 3d





Figure 20. Time courses of TNF- α mRNA expressions following SCI and in laminectomy controls. Levels of the TNF- α mRNA in the severe SCI were significantly greater than in the mild SCI at 1 hr, 3 hr and 6 hr postinjury. Compared to laminectomy controls, the levels of the TNF- α mRNA in the mild SCI were also significantly increased at 1 hr, 3 hr and 6 hr postinjury. Bars represent means \pm SEM (standard error of the mean). (* P < 0.05).

4.2.2 WESTERN BLOTTING

The profile of cytokine proteins in contused spinal cord was also marked by an early, robust but transient increase in IL-1 β , IL-6 and TNF- α proteins. However, the increase in the proinflammatory cytokines was only observed in the group of severe SCI and no immunoreactive cytokine proteins were detected in the groups of mild SCI, laminectomy controls or naïve controls.

4.2.2.1 IL-1β PROTEIN

Western blotting showed labelling of single bands with a molecular weight of 17.3 kDa for IL-1 β in Figure 21. The intensity of protein bands was directly proportional to the amount of protein because arbitrary densitometric units of these protein bands were within the linear range of western blot analysis (refer to appendix 2).

The levels of IL-1 β protein in the group of severe SCI were elevated at 1 and 3 h after injury, peaked at 6 h and declined to undetectable levels by 1 d postinjury while no immunoreactive IL-1 β was detectable in the spinal cord extracts from rats in the groups of mild SCI, laminectomy controls and naïve controls (Figures 21). Thus, compared to mild SCI, laminectomy controls and naïve controls, the levels of IL-1 β protein at 1h, 3h and 6h following severe SCI were significantly higher (P<0.05) (refer to appendix 2).

131

Figure 21. Temporal expressions of IL-1 β at the protein level in the severe SCI demonstrated by western blot analysis. Levels of the IL-1 β protein after severe SCI began to increase at 1 and 3 hr postinjury, peaked at 6 hr and quickly decline to non-detectable levels by 1 d. (A) IL-1 β protein bands of the group of severe SCI. (B) Quantification of IL-1 β protein bands of the group of severe SCI. Bars represent means \pm SEM. A: IL-1 β protein bands of the group of severe SCI.



B: Quantification of IL-1 β protein bands in the group of severe SCI.



4.2.2.2 IL-6 PROTEIN

Western blotting showed labelling of single bands with a molecular weight of 23 kDa for IL-6 in Figure 22. The intensity of protein bands was directly proportional to the amount of protein because arbitrary densitometric units of these protein bands were within the linear range of western blot analysis (refer to appendix 2).

The levels of IL-6 protein in the group of severe SCI were elevated at 1 and 3 h after injury, peaked at 6 h and declined to undetectable levels by 1 d postinjury while no immunoreactive IL-6 was detectable in the spinal cord extracts from rats in the groups of mild SCI, laminectomy controls and naïve controls (Figures 22). Thus, compared to mild SCI, laminectomy controls and naïve controls, the levels of IL-6 protein at 1h, 3h and 6h following severe SCI were significantly higher (P<0.05) (refer to appendix 2).

Figure 22. Temporal expressions of IL-6 at the protein level in the severe SCI demonstrated by western blot analysis. Levels of the IL-6 protein after severe SCI began to increase at 1 and 3 hr postinjury, peaked at 6 hr and quickly decline to non-detectable levels by 1 d. (A) IL-6 protein bands of the group of severe SCI. (B) Quantification of IL-6 protein bands of the group of severe SCI. Bars represent means \pm SEM. A: IL-6 protein bands of the group of severe SCI.



B: Quantification of IL-6 protein bands in the group of severe SCI.



4.2.2.3 TNFα PROTEIN

Western blotting showed labelling of single bands with a molecular weight of 17 kDa for TNF α in Figure 23. The intensity of protein bands was directly proportional to the amount of protein because arbitrary densitometric units of these protein bands were within the linear range of western blot analysis (refer to appendix 2).

The levels of TNF α protein in the group of severe SCI were elevated at 1 and 3 h after injury, peaked at 6 h and declined to undetectable levels by 1 d postinjury while no immunoreactive TNF α was detectable in the spinal cord extracts from rats in the groups of mild SCI, laminectomy controls and naïve controls (Figures 23). Thus, compared to mild SCI, laminectomy controls and naïve controls, the levels of TNF α protein at 1h, 3h and 6h following severe SCI were significantly higher (P<0.05) (refer to appendix 2).

Figure 23. Temporal expressions of TNF α at the protein level in the severe SCI demonstrated by western blot analysis. Levels of the TNF α protein after severe SCI began to increase at 1 and 3 hr postinjury, peaked at 6 hr and quickly decline to non-detectable levels by 1 d. (A) TNF α protein bands of the group of severe SCI. (B) Quantification of TNF α protein bands of the group of severe SCI. Bars represent means \pm SEM. A: TNF α protein bands of the group of severe SCI.



B: Quantification of TNF α protein bands in the group of severe SCI.



4.3 DISCUSSION

4.3.1 CELLULAR SOURCES OF IL-1β, IL-6 and TNF-α

The rapid elevation of IL-1 β , IL-6 and TNF- α mRNA expressions at 1,3 and 6 h after SCI was followed by a dramatic decline of these expressions prior to the peak appearance of neutrophils and macrophages, indicating that these pro-inflammatory cytokines are primarily produced by endogenous CNS cells rather than infiltrating blood-borne leucocytes. This is supported by our detection of TNF- α expression in neurons and microglial cells after SCI (see section 3.2). These data suggest that neurons and microglial cells, not blood-born leucocytes proposed by many authors ^{135,347,354}, may play a major role in the initiation and regulation of early posttraumatic inflammatory response of SCI by producing IL-1 β , IL-6 and TNF- α .

4.3.2 DISPARITIES BETWEEN TRANSCRIPTION AND TRANSLATION OF IL-1 β , IL-6 AND TNF- α

To our knowledge, this is the first study to address the disparities between syntheses of proinflammatory cytokine mRNAs and their bioactive proteins in SCI. Expressions of IL-1 β , IL-6 and TNF- α at both mRNA and protein levels in severe SCI were dramatically elevated at 1, 3 h after injury, peaked at 6 h and declined to near baseline levels by 1 d postinjury. Thus, in the severe SCI, the temporal profiles of IL-1 β , IL-6 and TNF- α protein expressions closely parallel their mRNA syntheses. Although IL-1 β , IL-6 and TNF- α mRNA levels increased in mild injury, we were unable to detect the corresponding proteins histochemically.

The dissociation between mRNA and protein expression levels of these pro-inflammatory cytokines in the mild SCI may be attributed to a combination of two factors. First, different experimental techniques may cause the dissociation because two different techniques, RT-PCR and western blotting, were respectively used to detect the mRNA and protein

expressions of IL-1 β , IL-6 and TNF- α . The RT-PCR process is exquisitely sensitive and a single copy of target nucleic acid can be detected by PCR because the number of target nucleic acid copies approximately doubles every cycle and 35 cycles of PCR in this study may amplify the target nucleic acid by about thirty billion times (2³⁵) ^{23,155}. Western blot analysis, when compared to RT-PCR, is relatively insensitive as the detection limits for IL-1 β , IL-6 and TNF- α proteins are about 1.5-2.0 ng according to the antibody manufacturer's protocol (Peprotech, Rocky Hill, NJ). Second, mild SCI may not be sufficient to provide a signal for enough translation of the mRNAs into the bioactive cytokine proteins despite a vigorous signal for syntheses of the pro-inflammatory cytokine mRNAs. The syntheses of mature IL-1 β , IL-6 and TNF- α proteins are tightly controlled at many different levels to ensure the silence of the pro-inflammatory cytokines in the CNS under normal circumstances and each one of the synthetic steps from sensing the presence of SCI to cytokine secretion is controlled by different molecular events regulating the cytokine gene, mRNA and protein ^{88,405}. Thus, in mild SCI, the syntheses of mature IL-1 β , IL-6 and TNF- α proteins may not be able to overcome the apparently intrinsic inhibition to sufficiently translate the mRNAs. This is further confirmed by our finding that TNFa expression by immunohistochemistry occurs in fewer neurons and glial cells in the mildly injured spinal cord compared to severely injured. In summary, the syntheses of mature IL-1 β , IL-6 and TNF- α proteins did not mirror their mRNA productions following mild SCI and were not sufficient for detection with western blot analysis.

4.3.3 SEVERITY-DEPENDENT EXPRESSIONS OF IL-1 β , IL-6 AND TNF- α

Our results demonstrated significant elevations in IL-1 β , IL-6 and TNF- α following severe SCI compared to mild SCI. To our knowledge, this is the first report of severity-dependent

expressions of IL-1 β , IL-6 and TNF- α in SCI, suggesting that these cytokines may be suitable targets for pharmacological intervention.

These data also suggest a positive association between neurological impairment and excessive expressions of IL-1 β , IL-6 and TNF- α as mild SCI did not cause either lasting functional deficits or substantially increased expression of pro-inflammatory cytokines. These results are consistent with similar changes observed previously in traumatic brain injury where no neurologic deficits were caused in a mild contusion injury with a small up-regulation of TNF- α expression ^{176,194}. Therefore, expression levels of the IL-1 β , IL-6 and TNF- α may be associated with severity of SCI, especially with reference to resultant neurological deficits.

IL-1 β , IL-6 and TNF- α are important and modifiable components of the inflammatory response to traumatic CNS injury. The production of IL-6 is regulated by a variety of stimuli, including IL-1 β and TNF- α ^{172,369}. In experimental traumatic injury of the CNS, it has been shown that the IL-6 receptor was present in neurons and oligodendrocytes ³⁸¹, and that IL-6 induced neurite outgrowth and improved neuronal survival by inducing the synthesis of neurotrophic factors ^{147,157,197}. Conversely, anti-rat IL-6 antibody was found to significantly attenuate the upregulation of inducible nitric oxide synthase and reduce secondary spinal cord damage ³⁶⁵. Thus, IL-6 is thought as a kind of neurotrophic and cytotoxic factor and is partially regulated by IL-1 β and TNF- α ³⁷⁵. IL-1 β is a highly inflammatory cytokine, which is implicated in neuronal necrosis and apoptosis, leukocyte infiltration, edema, activation of glial cells, induction of cytokines and synthesis of nitric oxide ⁸⁸. For example, IL-1 β is able to induce IL-6 secretion from astrocytes ⁴, stimulate astrocytes to proliferate ^{135,211} and enhance the synthesis of nerve growth factor (NGF) and basic fibroblast growth factor (bFGF) in astrocytes ^{247,284}. It has been also reported that systemic injections of IL-1 receptor

142

antagonist reduced neuronal cell death and improved cognitive function after lateral fluid percussion head injury in the rat ³⁰². Thus, IL-1 has complex and bi-directional biological effects in the inflammatory response of CNS tissue to trauma. TNF- α shares some similar properties with IL-1 β in terms of pro-inflammatory effects, such as the promotion of apoptosis in neurons ^{238,346}, the activation of glial cells ³⁶⁶, the stimulation of astrocyte proliferation ³⁷⁹ and the induction of IL-6 and growth factors in astrocytes ^{305,399}. TNF- α is also believed to enhance the infiltration of blood leucocytes by modulating the expression of various surface antigens and adhesion molecules on endothelial cells ³⁴⁸. Additionally, the cytotoxic effects of TNF- α on oligodendrocytes, leading to demyelination, have been shown in vitro ⁹⁴ and in vivo ^{290,396}. In contrast to its toxic actions, TNF- α has also been demonstrated to have a regenerative effect on axons ³¹³ and to have a neurotrophic effect by inducing synthesis of NGF in astrocytes ³⁹⁹. Thus, TNF- α is a powerful inflammatory mediator with both cytotoxic and neurotrophic actions.

Taken together, IL-1 β , IL-6 and TNF- α have been shown to produce tissue damage whereas they may also induce the production of neurotrophic molecules to rescue the injured tissue in the posttraumatic response. The explanation of these apparent contradictions requires a complete understanding of dynamics of the posttraumatic inflammatory response in SCI. The early and robust rise in IL-1 β , IL-6 and TNF- α following SCI observed in this study may be detrimental because they may be overproduced beyond the level of neurotrophic effects and the margins between benefit and toxicity are quite narrow ⁴⁰⁵. This is supported by the finding of spontaneous inflammatory demyelination in the CNS in transgenic mice overexpressing TNF- α ²⁸³. In the present study no neurologic deficit was observed in mild SCI with a small upregulation of proinflammatory cytokine expression. The neurotrophic effects induced by IL-1 β , IL-6 and TNF α may not occur because the cells producing the neurotrophic molecules may be damaged or killed in CNS injury.

Therefore, these data suggest that there may be dual roles of IL-1 β , IL-6 and TNF- α in SCI and the final effects of these pro-inflammatory cytokines may be greatly determined by many factors.

5. TREATMENT OF NF-kB-SPECIFIC ANTISENSE OLIGODEOXYNUCLEOTIDES AFTER SEVERE SCI

5.1 METHODS

5.1.1 NF-KB-SPECIFIC ANTISENSE OLIGODEOXYNUCLEOTIDES

The NF- κ B-specific antisense oligodeoxynucleotides in albumin microencapsulation were a generous gift from Dr. C. Oettinger and Prof. M.J. D'Souza at Department of Pharmaceutical Sciences, College of Pharmacy, Mercer University, Atlanta, GA 30308, USA. The NF- κ B-specific antisense oligodeoxynucleotides in their studies have been shown to significantly reduce the upregulation of TNF α , IL-1 β and IL-6 in septic shock model in the rat, slashing 100% death rate after endotoxin injection to only 20%.

5.1.2 REFORMULATION OF NF-KB-SPECIFIC ANTISENSE OLIGODEOXYNUCLEOTIDES

Six hundred micrograms of oligodeoxynucleotides were weighed and re-suspended in 1 ml normal saline containing 2% Tween 80 as a suspending agent (pre-sterilized by autoclaving). The suspension sample was then sonicated for 30 seconds and ready for use.

5.1.3 INJECTION OF NF-KB-SPECIFIC ANTISENSE OLIOGODEOXYNUCLEOTIDES

Fourteen rats received a subarachnoid injection of 5 μ l of suspension containing 3 μ g NF- κ B-specific antisense oligodeoxynucleotides and an intravenous injection of 955 μ l of suspension containing 597 μ g NF- κ B-specific antisense oligodeoxynucleotides immediately after severe SCI produced by 12 cm weight-drop. Rats were sacrificed at 1 hr (N=4), 3 hr (N=5) and 6 hr (N=5) postinjury.

5.1.4 mRNA AND PROTEIN EXTRACTION

The mRNA and protein of IL-1 β , IL-6 and TNF α were extracted from rat spinal cords according to the methods described in section 4.1.

5.2 RESULTS

The upregulation of IL-1 β , IL-6 and TNF α at the levels of mRNA and protein after severe SCI was not significantly inhibited by the NF- κ B-specific antisense oligodeoxynucleotides in the treatment group compared to non-treatment group. At 1, 3 and 6 hr postinjury, large increases in the production of IL-1 β , IL-6 and TNF α mRNA and protein were still observed in spinal cord extracts from rats treated with antisense after severe SCI.

5.3 DISCUSSION

Although the NF- κ B-specific antisense oligodeoxynucleotides have been shown to significantly reduce the upregulation of TNF α , IL-1 β and IL-6 in a septic shock model in the rat, the sources of upregulated cytokines (IL-1 β , IL-6 and TNF α) in SCI models are different from those in septic shock models. The upregulation of IL-1 β , IL-6 and TNF α after CNS injury is mainly observed in the spinal cord and brain ^{168,267,354,379} whereas the increase in these cytokines is largely present in the systemic circulation after septic shock ²³⁰. Thus, the NF- κ B-specific antisense oligodeoxynucleotides administered intravenously in the septic shock model can easily get to the circulation to inhibit the cytokine upregulation. In contrast, most of the NF- κ B-specific antisense oligodeoxynucleotides were administered via the failure of inhibition by the NF- κ B-specific antisense oligodeoxynucleotides may be a lack of vehicle to deliver the antisense into the targeted cells (e.g., neurons and microglia), which are the main sources of upregulated cytokines, since our studies have shown endogenous cells

146

including neurons and microglia contribute substantially to the large increase in IL-1 β , IL-6 and TNF α observed in the severely contused spinal cord.

Support from this comes from an unpublished study presented at the 6th International Neurotrauma Symposium in which haemagglutinating virus of Japan-liposome complex containing the NF- κ B-specific antisense oligodeoxynucleotides was used in their study to significantly reduce the mRNA levels of IL-1 β , IL-6 and TNF α in the rat spinal cord in the ischaemic SCI model. The use of NF- κ B-specific antisense oligodeoxynucleotides for the treatment of traumatic SCI requires further study.

HUMAN SCI EXPERIMENTS

1. MATERIALS AND GENERAL METHODS

1.1 SELECTION OF MATERIAL

1.1.1 TRAUMA CASES

Eleven cases of human SCI resulting from acute trauma as a result of a motor vehicle accident (9 men, 2 women; age range, 18-83 years) were selected for the study (Table 4). The study samples were selected from a series of spinal cord injury cases that survived long enough to be admitted to the Spinal Unit at the Royal Adelaide Hospital. All subsequently died and underwent a full post-mortem examination during the period 1978-1997. All the spinal cords were delivered to the Neuropathology Department at the Institute of Medical and Veterinary Science for neuropathological examination.

Injuries that resulted from chronic compression of the spinal cord were excluded. Clinical information was obtained from hospital case notes and accident reports. Only those cases with adequate records of the circumstance of the injury, adequate patient clinical information and adequate neuropathologic data were included in the study. Details of a concomitant hypotension episode that may have compounded the traumatic event were also recorded (Table 4).

1.1.2 CONTROL CASES

Due to the difficulty of obtaining normal spinal cords from post-mortem, only two human spinal cords were available as controls (Table 4). These were from patients with traumatic brain injury only and had no evidence of pathological abnormality in the spinal cord.

1.2 TISSUE PREPARATION

All spinal cords were removed from the human body within 24 h after death and were then fixed in 40% formalin for a minimum of ten days. All the cords were then examined according to standard neuropathological techniques. Individual cord segment levels were determined by counting the segments above and below ventral nerve root of T2 (a landmark due to the marked anatomical disparity in size between T1 and T2 nerve roots).

Tissue blocks were dehydrated in graded alcohol baths and cleared with chloroform, prior to processing into paraffin wax. Five micrometer serial sections were cut at (150 µm) levels with a microtome and mounted onto slides coated with APT (Sigma Chemical Corporation, US). The sections were dried at 37°C for at least 12 hours prior to use. Sections from each level were stained with H&E and immunohistochemically.

Case number	Sex	Age	Survival	Cause of SCT	Focal injury	Cause of Death	Hypotensive
1	М	83	30 minutes	MVA-pedestrian	HAEM T11	Multiple injuries, CA	Yes
2	М	22	5 hours	MVA-motorcyclist	HAEM C1-C2	Vertebral artery rupture	Yes
3	F	73	5 hours	MVA-cyclist	HAEM C1-C2	C1/C2 cord injury	Yes
4	М	18	1 day	MVA-driver	HAEM C1	Avulsion of left vertebral artery	Yes
5	М	48	1 day	MVA-rollover	HN C5-T2	Right vertebral artery dissection	No
6	F	77	37 hours	MVA-driver	HN C3-C6	Multiple injuries & CRA	Yes
7	М	52	38 hours	MVA-driver	HN C7-C8	CRA	Yes
8	М	18	2 days	MVA-driver	HN C4-C6	Right ASDH, raised ICP	Yes
9	М	63	2 days	MVA-driver	HAEM C7-T1	Bilateral bronchopneumonia, RA	Yes
10	М	30	88 hours	MVA-rollover	HN C5-C6	Closed head injury, VT, VF	Yes
11	М	32	5 days	MVA-driver	HN C2-T7	Bronchopneumonia	No
1	F	75	19 days	MVA	NIL	Severe head injuries	No
2	М	67	4 hours	MVA	NIL	Severe head injuries	No

 Table 7. Clinicopathologic features of traumatic SCI and control cases

ASDH = acute subdural haematoma; C = cervical; CA = cardiac arrest; CRA = cardiorespiratory arrest; HAEM = haemorrhage; HN = haemorrhagic necrosis; ICP = intracranial pressure; M = male; MVA = motor vehicle accident; RA = respiratory arrest; T = thoracic; VF = ventricular failure; VT = ventricular tachycardia.

2. INFLAMMATORY CELLULAR RESPONSE

This experiment was performed to investigate the posttraumatic inflammatory cellular response in the human after SCI.

2.1 METHODS

2.1.1 HISTOLOGIC STAINING

Haematoxylin and eosin (H&E) staining was used on 5-µm-thick sections to assess the extent and distribution of any pathologic abnormality of the cord with particular attention to haemorrhage, necrosis and migration of inflammatory cells (neutrophils and macrophages).

2.1.2 IMMUNOHISTOCHEMISTRY

Five-micrometer-thick sections were incubated overnight with the primary antibody diluted in normal horse serum (NHS) and stained with 3,3-diaminobenzidine tetrahydrochloride (DAB; Sigma, St. Louis, MO) using avidin-biotin peroxidase (Vectastain ABC kit; Vector Laboratories, Burlingame, CA) and counter-stained with haematoxylin. Negative control studies were performed by omitting the primary antibody step. To identify activated microglia, a mouse anti-class II major histocompatibility (MHCII) antigen monoclonal antibody CR3/43 (DAKO, Carptinteria, CA) was used at a dilution of 1:200 ^{85,144}. Macrophages were visualized using a mouse monoclonal antibody CD68 (DAKO, Real Carptinteria, CA) at a dilution of 1:5000 ²⁹⁶. Axonal injury was identified using a mouse anti-APP monoclonal antibody (DAKO, Real Carptinteria, CA) at a dilution of 1:10000 ^{132,217}.

2.2 RESULTS

2.2.1 30 MINUTES POST SCI

At 30 minutes after traumatic SCI, the lesion centre was marked by haemorrhage mainly in the central grey matter, but no neutrophils or other leucocytes were seen in the areas of damaged tissue (Figures 24A-B). Meanwhile, early axonal injury was demonstrated by APP immunoreactivity in neurons and some axons (Figure 24C). At this early time point, some activated microglia were detected, wrapping around some axons (Figure 24D). Figure 24. Histological changes in the lesion at 0.5 h after SCI in the human. (A)Marked haemorrhage and disruption of normal spinal cord architecture. The central canal is marked by an arrow for orientation. H&E, X5. (B)Marked haemorrhage without the infiltration of leucocytes in the outlined region in (A) is magnified. H&E, X100. (C) APP expression in some neurons (arrows) and axons (double-headed arrows). APP, X100. (D) Some activated microglia stained by MHCII marker CR3/43 were found wrapping around axons (arrows). CR3/43, X100.





2.2.2 FIVE HOURS POST SCI

At 5 h postinjury, polymorphonuclear neutrophil margination was observed (Figure 25A). Very occasional mononuclear cells in the walls of blood vessels were observed. Axonal injury was shown by APP immunoreactivity in many neurons and axons (Figure 25B). Activated hypertrophied microglia were detected and some of their processes wrapped around swollen axons (Figure 25C).

Figure 25. Histological changes in the lesion at 5 h after SCI in the human. (A) Neutrophil margination in the wall of a blood vessel (arrows). H&E, X100. (B) Expression of APP in many axons. APP, X100. (C) More activated microglia were found and some of them wrapped around swollen axons (arrows). CR3/43, X100.





2.2.3 24 HOURS POST SCI

One day following SCI in the human, numerous polymorphonuclear neutrophils were widely spread throughout the damaged tissue (Figure 26A) and the number of neutrophils appeared to reach a peak at this time point. Many activated microglia were found wrapping around both axonal swellings and neuronal cell bodies (Figure 26B). Some CD68 positively-stained macrophages started to appear in the injured tissue (Figure 26C) and APP expression persisted in neurons and axons (not shown).

160

Figure 26. Histological changes in the lesion at 1 d after SCI in the human. (A) Numerous polymorphonuclear neutrophils infiltrated the damaged spinal cord.. H&E, X100. (B) Neurons were surrounded by activated microglia (arrows). CR3/43, X100. (C) Some CD68 positively-stained macrophages started to appear in the lesion. CD68, X100.




2.2.4 FROM TWO TO FIVE DAYS AFTER SCI

APP expression continued to be present in the neurons and axons (Figure 27A). From 2 d postinjury, the number of neutrophils dramatically declined while activated microglia (Figure 27B) and macrophages (Figure 27C) significantly increased their numbers and persisted in the spinal cord. Activated microglia were widely present throughout the damaged and surviving tissue (Figure 27B), but macrophages were found predominantly in the necrotic areas (Figure 27C).

2.2.5 CONTROL STUDIES

There was no expression of APP in the spinal cord of two control cases with head injury only. Neither macrophages nor activated microglia were detected in the controls.

No positive staining was observed in the negative immunostaining control studies, which were performed by omitting the primary antibody step.

Figure 27. Histological changes in the lesion from 2 to 5 days after SCI in the human. (A) APP expression in the neurons (arrows) and axons (double-headed arrows). APP, X100. (B) Activated microglia mainly in the surviving tissue (arrows). CR3/43, X100. (C) Numerous foamy macorphages were largely present in the necrotic area (arrows). CD68, X100.





2.2.6 Summary of posttraumatic inflammatory cellular response

The inflammatory cellular response after SCI in the human is summarised in Table 5 below.

Postinjury	Histopathology
0.5 hr	Haemorrhage and necrosis:
	No leukocyte infiltration;
	Activated microglia, some of which surrounded axons;
	APP expression in neurons & axons.
2 × 0	
5 hr	Neutrophil margination.
	More activated microglia, some of which surrounded axons.
	APP expression in neurons and axons.
1 d	Peak of neutrophil number:
	CD68+ macrophages started to appear:
	Activated microglia, some of which surrounded neurons and axons:
	APP expression in neurons and axons.
2-5 d	Few neutrophils in the damaged tissue;
	Numerous macrophages predominantly in necrotic areas;
	Activated microglia mainly in surviving areas;
	APP expression in neurons and axons.

 Table 8. Inflammatory cellular response after SCI.

2.3 DISCUSSION

2.3.1 MARKERS FOR ACTIVATED HUMAN MICROGLIA

The MHC class II specific monoclonal antibody CR3/43 was used in this study to investigate activated microglia in routinely processed, paraffin-embedded human spinal cord. CR3/43 is directed against the β -chain of all products of the MHC class II gene subregions HLA-DR, HLA-DQ and HLA-DP¹⁴⁴.

CR3/43 labelling characteristics were systematically evaluated by Graeber and colleagues ¹⁴⁴, using a panel of 50 autopsies and surgical cases. CR3/43 labelling was compared to the macrophage/microglia markers L-CA, KP1 and RCA-1. It has been found that resting microglia of histologically normal tissue were not stained by CR3/43 and CR3/43 was the most sensitive antibody to detect activated microglia in subtle tissue pathology. More importantly, astrocytes were never found to be labelled by CR3/43.

In summary, CR3/43 is an excellent marker for activated human microglia and it is specific for microglia in the sense that it does not label other glia. Visualization of microglial activation in this study was greatly aided by using this antibody.

2.3.2 APP UPREGULATION

This study demonstrated the presence of widespread APP immunoreactivity in the neurons and axons in all 11 human cases following SCI. APP positive staining was observed as early as half an hour after injury and persisted for at least 5 days. These observations parallel those observed in the rat SCI (described in Table 5, page 108). APP immunoreactivity occurs not only as a result of primary mechanical injury but also as a result of secondary complicating factors such as hypoxia, ischaemia and infarction ^{2,39,333}, which are frequently found following injury. Thus, APP is upregulated as an acute phase cell-stress response to injury. However, exactly where APP fits into the complex inflammatory cellular responses following SCI is unclear and requires further study.

2.3.3 INFLAMMATORY CELLULAR RESPONSE

The inflammatory cellular response following SCI in the human parallels the changes observed in rat SCI (described in Table 5, page 108). Like the response in rat SCI, there are mainly three cell types involved in the inflammatory response following SCI in the human: microglia, neutrophils and macrophages. The time course of inflammatory cellular response in human SCI is also very similar to that observed in rat SCI (described in Table 5, page 108).

In contrast to some in vivo studies that failed to detect morphological signs of microglial activation by 1 d postinjury ^{261,341}, activated microglia in this study were detected as early as 0.5 h after injury and found surrounding axonal swellings and otherwise "normal" axons. This novel finding is in agreement with that seen in rat SCI in this study (described on page 110) and has further challenged the current view that there are no direct topographical association between microglial cells and axons, and no association of axonal injury with activated microglia ^{127,261,278}. More studies are needed to elucidate the effect of activated microglia surrounding axons because activated microglia are able to produce pro-inflammatory cytokines (observed in this study), cytotoxic substances ^{25,387} and growth factors ³⁴¹. Activated microglia may provide a trophic local environment to promote the axonal regeneration of sensory axons in the injured rat spinal cord ^{248,280}. It has been also found in this study that activated microglia surrounded neurons. This is consistent with the finding in rat SCI (described on page 111) and is referred to as synaptic stripping. Microglia are thought to be

involved in limited phagocytosis of individual synaptic termini and to have an impact on the synaptic reorganization of the neurons, but the effect of synaptic stripping on neurons is, as yet, largely unknown.

Haematogenous inflammatory cells (neutrophils and macrophages) did not start to infiltrate the injured spinal cord until 6 h postinjury, suggesting that these peripheral inflammatory cells were not spilled from damaged vessels, but recruited by some chemoattractants including cytokines (e.g. IL-1 β , IL-6 and TNF α)^{88,348}.

Neutrophils are the first peripheral inflammatory cells to migrate into the tissue. It has been suggested that infiltrating neutrophils may participate in tissue destruction and enlargement of the lesion because they can produce reactive oxygen species and other substances with potentially tissue-damaging effects ^{65,347,358}. Taoka and colleagues ³⁴⁷ recently found that inhibition of neutrophil activation alleviated the motor disturbances observed in a rat model of SCI. However, other studies reported that neutropenia had no effect on the extent of tissue damage following CNS injury ^{20,118,367}. The observation in this study that necrosis precedes the arrival of neutrophils at the injury site indicates that the tissue necrosis may not be caused by the invading leukocytes, but that it may, instead, provide a chemotactic stimulus for attracting neutrophils as the first line of recruited phagocytic cells to begin removal of cellular debris.

The second wave of peripheral inflammatory cells to enter damaged tissue in the spinal cord is monocyte-derived macrophages. Macrophages in the damaged spinal cord arise from two different sources; from the non-resident population of circulating blood monocytes recruited into injured cord and transformed into macrophages, and from the resident population of

ramified microglia in spinal cord activated and transformed into macrophages ^{25,85,200,216,338}. The quantitative contributions of endogenous microglia-derived and monocyte-derived macrophages to the total macrophage pool are still not clear ²⁵.

Regardless of their origin, various reports have shown that macrophages can play both negative and positive roles in responding to injury. Macrophages (including microglia and monocytes) can be induced to produce several potentially cytotoxic substances in vitro, such as free oxygen intermediates, NO, proteases, EAAs and pro-inflammatory cytokines ^{13,200}. Thus, these cells may cause "bystander" damage to intact tissue and contribute to the secondary tissue destruction after TSCI. In support of this view, Blight ³⁴ and Popovich ²⁷⁴ have observed a better anatomical and functional outcome in animals with CNS injuries when macrophage numbers are reduced experimentally. In addition, several studies have shown the damaging effects of pro-inflammatory cytokines produced by macrophages ^{17,298}. However, another view holds that macrophages play a key role in the removal of cellular debris which are essential for tissue remodelling, and produce the trophic cytokines, such as TGF-B1 and IL-4, to promote tissue repair and neuronal survival ^{14,78,271}. In support, several studies transplanting macrophages/microglia into an injured CNS showed increases in axonal regeneration ^{121,280}. However, this interpretation is flawed by a lack of quantitative, comparative cell counts conducted in the same animal. Therefore, the role of macrophages (including microglia and monocytes) is far from clear in studies of TSCI and their function is likely to be dependent on the time point following injury and their location relative to the lesion.

3. EARLY EXPRESSION AND CELLULAR LOCALIZATION IL-1 β , IL-6 and TNF α

This experiment was performed to investigate the expression of IL-1 β , IL-6 and TNF α in the human spinal cord after SCI.

3.1 METHODS

3.1.1 IMMUNOHISTOCHEMISTRY

For staining of IL-1 β , IL-6 and TNF- α , a rabbit anti-IL-1 β polyclonal antibody (1:200, Rockland, PA), a rabbit anti-IL-6 polyclonal antibody (1:25, HyCult Biotechnology, Uden, Holland) and a mouse anti-TNF- α monoclonal antibody (1:75, HyCult Biotechnology, Uden, Holland) were used to identify these pro-inflammatory cytokines. We also checked the antigen-specificity of the IL-1 β , IL-6 and TNF- α antibodies by preabsorbing these primary antibodies with exogenous recombinant human IL-1 β , IL-6 and TNF- α (Pepro Tech, NJ).

3.1.2 DOUBLE-LABEL FLUORESCENT CONFOCAL IMAGING

The cellular sources of IL-1 β , IL-6 and TNF- α were elucidated using immunofluorescence double labelling confocal imaging. The sections were incubated overnight with combinations of anti-IL-1 β , anti-IL-6 or anti-TNF- α antibody (as described before), and activated microglia-specific markers CR3/43 (as described on page 154) or anti-glucose transporter-5 (Glut-5) antibody (1:500), a gift from Dr. F. Maher, University of Melbourne) ²⁷⁰. On the following day, the sections were incubated with a mixture of fluorescein-conjugated donkey anti-rabbit (FITC; 1:100; Jackson Immunoresearch Lab, West Grove, PA) and CyTM5conjugated donkey anti-mouse (Cy5; 1:400; Jackson Immunoresearch Lab, West Grove, PA) antibodies. Sections were then mounted and examined under a fluorescence microscope (Biorad, LaserSharp 2100).

3.2 RESULTS

The staining intensity of IL-1 β , IL-6 and TNF- α markedly increased at 0.5 and 5 h after traumatic SCI and quickly declined at 1 d postinjury (Figure 28). IL-1 β , IL-6 or TNF- α positive cells were found up to 2 cord segments away from the lesion centre. There was no difference in the immunostaining pattern of IL-1 β , IL-6 and TNF- α between the rostral and caudal parts of the lesion.

Half an hour after injury, the expression of IL-1 β was found in some neurons and axons (Figure 28A), and IL-6 and TNF- α were mainly localized in the neurons (Figures 28D and 28G). At 5 h after injury, IL-1 β , IL-6 and TNF- α were detected not only in many neurons but also in some microglial-like cells (Figures 28B, 28E and 28H). At 1 d after injury, very weak staining of IL-1 β , IL-6 and TNF- α was seen in the neurons (Figures 28C, 28F and 28I) while no expression was identified in the glial cells. From 2 d postinjury, no staining of IL-1 β , IL-6 and TNF- α was observed.

Figure 28. Pro-inflammatory cytokine expression in the lesion after traumatic human SCI. At 0.5 h after spinal cord trauma, IL-1 β expression (A) was found in neurons (arrows) and axons (double-headed arrow) while IL-6 (D) and TNF- α (G) was mainly localized in neurons. At 5 h after SCI, IL-1 β (B), IL-6 (E) and TNF- α (H) was identified not only in neurons but also in some glial cells with microglial morphological appearance (arrows). At 1 d postinjury, the expression of IL-1 β (C), IL-6 (F) and TNF- α (I) dramatically declined and weak staining was shown in neurons only (arrows). (A-C): IL-1 β , X100; (D-F): IL-6, X100; (G-I): TNF- α , X100.





Using double-label fluorescent immunohistochemistry, co-localization of IL-1 β , IL-6 or TNF- α and microglial markers CR3/43 or glut-5 was found, confirming that IL-1 β , IL-6 or TNF- α positive glial cells observed at 5 h postinjury were microglia (Figure 29).

In antigen-absorption experiments, the immunoreactivity of IL-1 β , IL-6 and TNF- α was absent, showing the specificity of these antibodies in this study.

There was no expression of pro-inflammatory cytokines (IL-1 β , IL-6 and TNF- α) in the two normal control cases.

Figure 29. Co-localization of IL-1 β , IL-6 or TNF- α and microglial marker CR3/43 or glut-5 in the lesion at 5 h postinjury. Cells stained with anti-IL-1 β , anti-IL-6 or anti-Glut-5 only (green) were shown in (A), (D) and (G) while cells stained with anti-CR/43 or anti-TNF- α only (red) in (B), (E) and (H). Double-label immunofluorescent immunohistochemistry confirmed that IL-1 β , IL-6 or TNF- α was co-localized in microglia (yellow) in (C), (F) and (I). Arrows indicated cells that had the co-localized expression of the microglial markers (CR3/43 or Glut-5) and IL-1 β , IL-6 or TNF- α (A-F) (X600) and (G-I) (X1500) IL-1beta

















3.3 DISCUSSION

Our results have shown a rapid elevation of IL-1 β , IL-6 and TNF- α expressions at 0.5 and 5 h after injury, and then a dramatic decline of these expressions prior to the appearance of neutrophils and macrophages at 1 d postinjury (described in Table 8 on page 171), suggesting that these pro-inflammatory cytokines are primarily produced by endogenous CNS cells rather than infiltrating blood-borne leucocytes in human SCI. These findings in human SCI have confirmed results observed in our weight-drop rat model of SCI and in other animal models of SCI ^{19,164,193} that neutrophils and macrophages are not the cellular sources of IL-1 β , IL-6 and TNF- α .

Further, the present study demonstrates the production of IL-1 β , IL-6 and TNF- α in neurons at 0.5 h after injury and in both neurons and microglia at 5 h after injury. To our knowledge, this study is the first to demonstrate the cellular sources of pro-inflammatory cytokines, such as IL-1 β , IL-6 and TNF- α , in the injured human spinal cord. This novel finding is consistent with recent in vivo studies in rat models of SCI that identified TNF- α in neurons and microglia ^{194,396} and in vitro studies that showed the production of a variety of cytokines in neurons and microglia ^{134,210}. These data have confirmed that neurons and microglia (especially neurons), not blood-born leucocytes proposed by many authors ^{135,347,354}, may play a major role in the initiation and regulation of early posttraumatic inflammatory response of the human SCI by producing IL-1 β , IL-6 and TNF- α .

Thus, for the first time, human SCI has been shown in this study to induce the expression of the proinflammatory cytokines IL-1 β , IL-6 and TNF- α in neurons within as little as 0.5 h following injury. These cytokines, a group of proteins that evoke remarkable responses in a variety of cell types, initiate a complex cascade leading to inflammatory responses, including

increased vascular permeability, leukocyte infiltration and induction of acute-phase response 19,164,208,341,379,380

Inflammation may contribute to secondary tissue damage after SCI, for example by promoting tissue oedema and ischaemia. The proinflamatory cytokines induce several molecules capable of increasing vascular permeability as well as inducing cellular fluid loss ²⁶⁷. These molecules include components of the complement cascade (C3a and C5a, which in turn may cause release of histamine, prostaglandins and leukotrienes from resident mast cells), proteases such as plasminogen activator, and bradykinin ²⁶⁷. It has been shown that direct injection of IL-1 β into spinal cord enhanced vascular permeability ³¹⁰ and increased expression of pro-inflammatory cytokines in transgenic mice exacerbated neurological functional impairment after SCI ¹⁸⁷. Additionally, systemic administration of the anti-inflammatory cytokine IL-10 has been reported to limit neuronal damage and promote functional recovery following SCI in rats ^{28,273}. These results suggest that inflammation-promoted cellular damage exacerbates lesion volumes and SCI functional outcomes.

On the other hand, inflammatory responses have been found to promote beneficial response after SCI. It has been demonstrated that tissue loss after SCI was reduced by direct application of pro-inflammatory cytokines ¹⁹². Furthermore, IL-1 β or TNF- α receptor-knockout mice demonstrated reduced remyelination and diminished functional recovery ^{191,233}.

Taken together, the role of pro-inflammatory cytokines after SCI is still controversial and it may be dependent on the balance of the injurious and beneficial effects of these cytokines.

4. CO-LOZALIZATION OF IL-1 β AND APP

Because IL-1 β immunoreactivity was localized in some neurons and axons (Figure 28A), we used immunofluorescence double labelling confocal imaging to examine whether IL-1 β co-existed with amyloid precursor protein (APP) in the neurons and axons.

4.1 METHODS

Co-existence of IL-1 β with APP was demonstrated using immunofluorescence double labelling confocal imaging. The sections were incubated overnight with a combination of anti-IL-1 β (as described before) and anti-APP antibodies (as described before). On the following day, the sections were incubated with a mixture of fluorescein-conjugated donkey anti-rabbit (FITC; 1:100; Jackson Immunoresearch Lab, West Grove, PA) and CyTM5conjugated donkey anti-mouse (Cy5; 1:400; Jackson Immunoresearch Lab, West Grove, PA) antibodies. Sections were then mounted and examined under a fluorescence microscope (Biorad, LaserSharp 2100).

4.2 RESULTS

In the immunofluorescence experiments, IL-1 β and APP were found co-localizing in the neurons and axons at 0.5 h and 5 h postinjury (Figure 30).

Figure 30. Co-localization of IL-1 β (green) and APP (red) in neurons and axons at 0.5 h postinjury. Neurons and axons stained with anti-IL-1 β only were shown in (A) and (D) while neurons and axons stained with anti-APP only in (B) and (E). Double-label immunofluorescent immunohistochemistry revealed that neurons and axons expressed both IL-1 β and APP in (C) and (F) (yellow). Arrows indicated that IL-1 β positive neurons and axons were also stained positively with anti-APP. (A-F) (X600)













4.3 DISCUSSION

This study is the first to report the co-existence of APP and IL-1 β in some neurons and axons as early as 0.5 h after human SCI. This observation suggests a possible link between IL-1 β upregulation and APP expression. There is evidence that IL-1 β can substantially up-regulate the expression of the APP gene by activating the nuclear factor kappa B (NF- κ B) binding site of the regulatory region in primary neuronal cultures ^{119,146}. It has been demonstrated in vitro ^{143,235} and in vivo ³³⁰ that APP can protect neurons against excitotoxic, metabolic and oxidative insults. Thus, the link between APP and IL-1 β may represent an important point of pharmacological intervention in the acute phase of SCI.

FINAL DISCUSSION

1. SUMMARY

Traumatic injury to the spinal cord initiates a cascade of secondary tissue damage beyond the original site of trauma, leading to a further loss of tissue and function ^{19,35,182,400}. The cascade of secondary tissue damage is accompanied by an inflammatory response marked by infiltration of neutrophils and macrophages, activation of glial cells and up-regulated expression of pro-inflammatory cytokines ^{99,164,354}.

Neutrophils, macrophages and activated microglia may act as scavenger cells to remove cellular debris and release cytotoxic or neurotrophic molecules into the injured spinal cord 35,65,85,200,341,350, but the precise functions and effects of these cells remain unclear. Proinflammatory cytokines, such as interleukin-1 β (IL-1 β), interleukin-6 (IL-6) and tumour necrosis factor- α (TNF- α), are involved in the regulation of the leukocyte recruitment and microglial activation ^{192,310}, but their functional significances for secondary tissue damage following traumatic spinal cord injury (SCI) remain controversial ²⁸⁷. IL-1B, IL-6 and TNF-a have been shown to have cytotoxic effects on the nervous system but also induce neurotrophic molecules involved in the repair of injured tissue ^{4,147,194,241,298,354}. Furthermore, the relationship between severity of SCI and expression levels of these pro-inflammatory cytokines has not been addressed and relationships between mRNA and protein levels of proinflammatory cytokines (e.g. IL-1 β , IL-6 and TNF- α) in the central nervous system (CNS) have not been investigated. The cellular sources of IL-1β, IL-6 and TNF-α following traumatic SCI are controversial. Some authors believe that these cytokines are produced primarily by neutrophils and macrophages ^{239,347}, but other studies have suggested that endogenous CNS cells including microglia may also produce pro-inflammatory cytokines

under various injury conditions ^{194,396}. Further studies of the posttraumatic inflammatory responses to SCI are required to resolve these controversies.

We hypothesized that the pro-inflammatory cytokines IL-1 β , TNF- α and IL-6 produced by intrinsic cells in the spinal cord may act as messengers to coordinate the inflammatory cascade and the influx of neutrophils and monocytes to the site of damage and that the cytokine response should be greater in severe than in mild injury.

An in vivo model of SCI (the New York University Impactor model) was used in this study to induce acute SCI and inflammatory changes in rats. Analyses of the histological changes and inflammatory responses in rat SCI showed that activated microglia were found in mild and severe SCI as early as 1 h after contusion and increased dramatically at 1 d postinjury while neutrophils and macrophages were not noted in the injured spinal cord until 6 hrs postinjury. Increased immunoreactivity of TNF- α in mild and severe SCI was detected in neurons at 1 h postinjury, and in neurons and microglia at 6 h postinjury with much less increase in mild SCI, but the expression was short-lived and declined sharply by 1 d postinury. Furthermore, we quantified the expressions of IL-1 β , IL-6 and TNF- α at both mRNA and protein levels over time following mild and severe SCI, utilizing RT-PCR and western blotting, and compared the expression levels of IL-1 β , IL-6 and TNF- α between mild and severe traumatic SCI. Our results demonstrated an early significant up-regulation of IL-1 β , IL-6 and TNF- α mRNAs, maximal at 6 h postinjury with return to control levels by 24 h postinjury, the changes being statistically significantly less in mild injury. The results also showed early transient increases of IL-1 β , IL-6 and TNF- α proteins in severe SCI but not mild SCI.

Immunocytochemical, western blotting and RT-PCR analyses suggest that endogenous cells (neurons and microglia) in the rat spinal cord, not the blood-borne leucocytes, contribute to IL-1 β , IL-6 and TNF- α production in the posttraumatic inflammatory response and that their up-regulation is greater in severe than mild SCI. This paper is the first to demonstrate significantly increased expression of IL-1 β , IL-6 and TNF- α messenger ribonucleic acids (mRNAs) in severe SCI in contrast to mild SCI and that the temporal profiles of IL-1 β , IL-6 and TNF- α protein expression in severe SCI paralleled their mRNA transcription whereas mild SCI resulted in increased synthesis of mRNAs but no detectable protein increase on western blotting. The disparities between transcription and translation of IL-1 β , IL-6 and TNF- α in mild SCI could be due to the factors previously described (see Chapter RAT SCI EXPERIMENTS, section 4.3.2). Significantly increased expression of pro-inflammatory cytokines in severe injury in contrast to mild injury supports the hypothesis that cytokine upregulation is an important factor in the generation of the severity of the inflammatory response. Thus, the significantly upregulated expression of cytokines IL-1 β , IL-6 and TNF α in severe SCI is a suitable target for pharmacological intervention to attenuate this response.

Almost all observations have been confined to animal models of CNS trauma and little is known of the cellular sources of IL-1 β , IL-6 and TNF- α in the human. Therefore, we investigated the posttraumatic inflammatory response and the cellular sources of IL-1 β , IL-6 and TNF- α in human spinal cord following contusion injury. This study is the first to demonstrate that, as early as 0.5 h after SCI, activated microglia were detected and their processes surrounded axonal swellings, suggesting that microglia are involved in the early response to traumatic axonal injury (see Chapter HUMAN SCI EXPERIMENTS, section 2.3.3). Another novel finding in this study is that increased immunoreactivity of IL-1 β , IL-6 and TNF- α was detected in neurons at 0.5 h postinjury, and in neurons and microglia at 5 h postinjury, but the expression of these pro-inflammatory cytokines was short-lived and declined sharply to baseline by 2 d postinjury. In human SCI as in our rat model, neutrophils and macrophages are not the cellular sources of IL-1 β , IL-6 and TNF- α . We have found that endogenous cells in the human spinal cord, neurons and microglia, contribute to IL-1 β , IL-6 and TNF- α production in the posttraumatic inflammatory response, suggesting that neurons and microglia, not "professional" blood-borne inflammatory cells, may play a major role in the initiation and regulation of the early post-traumatic inflammatory response of human SCI.

More studies are needed to elucidate the effect of activated microglia surrounding axons in both the rat and human SCI because activated microglia are able to produce pro-inflammatory cytokines (observed in this study), cytotoxic substances ^{25,387} and growth factors ³⁴¹. Activated microglia may provide a trophic local environment to promote axonal regeneration because some studies ^{248,280} have shown that activated microglia promoted the regeneration of sensory axons in the injured rat spinal cord. It has been also found in this study that activated microglia surrounded neurons. This phenomenon, originally described by the Blinzinger group ³⁷, is now referred to as synaptic stripping. Microglia are thought to be involved in limited phagocytosis of individual synaptic termini and to have an impact on the synaptic reorganization of the neurons, but the effect of synaptic stripping on neurons is, as yet, largely unknown.

Finally, the combined results of rat and human SCI in this study indicate that expression of the pro-inflammatory cytokines IL-1B, IL-6 and TNFa following SCI is robust, but shortlived, and that cytokine upregulation plays an important role in the initiation and regulation of

the early posttraumatic inflammatory response of SCI, where IL-18, IL-6 and TNF α are important molecules for the intercellular crosstalk between microglia, neurons, endothelial cells, oligodendrocytes and astrocytes. IL-1 β activates microglia to express more IL-18, IL-6 and TNF α , stimulates astrocytes to form astroglial scars, upregulates expression of endothelial adhesion molecules to enhance leukocyte recuitment and produces MMP and free radicals to cause tissue ischaemia and destruction. IL-6 produces neuronal damage and reactive astrocytosis to inhibit the axonal regeneration. TNF α has a direct toxic effect on oligodendrocytes, damages vascular cells and activates the astrocytes and microglia. The production of IL-6 is regulated by a variety of stimuli, including IL-1 β and TNF α (Figure 31) (see Chapter INTRODUCTION, sections 2.2.4, 2.3.4 & 2.4.4; Chapter HUMAN SCI EXPERIMENTS, section 3.3 and Chapter RAT SCI EXPERIMENTS, section 4.3.3).



Figure 31. Intercellular crosstalk between microglia, neurons, endothelial cells, astrocytes and oligodendrocytes in the posttraumatic inflammatory response to SCI. Tissue injury activates neuronal cells and microglia to express IL-1 β , IL-6 and TNF α , which are important molecules mediating the early posttraumatic inflammatory response. IL-1 β activates astrocytes & microglia, upregulates expression of endothelial adhesion molecules and causes tissue ischaemia & destruction. IL-6 produces neuronal damage and reactive astrocytosis. TNF α has a direct toxic effect on oligodendrocytes, damages vascular cells and activates the astrocytes & microglia. The production of IL-6 is regulated by a variety of stimuli, including IL-1 β and TNF α .

IL-1B, IL-6 and TNFa are important and modifiable components of the inflammatory response to traumatic CNS injury. The production of IL-1 β , IL-6 and TNF- α is regulated by a variety of factors and these cytokines may function as both neurotrophic and cytotoxic factors (see Chapter RAT SCI EXPERIMENTS, section 4.3.3). IL-1 β , IL-6 and TNF- α have been shown to produce tissue damage but may also rescue injured tissue in the posttraumatic response by inducing the production of neurotrophic molecules. There are several explanations for these apparent conflicting roles. First, the early and robust rise in IL-1B, IL-6 and TNF- α following SCI observed in this study may be detrimental if they are overproduced as the margins between neurotrophy and neurotoxicity are quite narrow ⁴⁰⁵. This concept is supported by the finding of spontaneous inflammatory CNS demyelination in transgenic mice overexpressing TNF- α^{283} . Second, the neurotrophic effects induced by IL-1 β , IL-6 and TNFa may not occur in vivo because in vitro studies have shown that the production of neurotrophic molecules required intact cells. Third, cellular effects of cytokines are likely to be affected by other ongoing secondary injury events after SCI, e.g., APP expression can be substantially upregulated by IL-1 β (see Chapter HUMAN SCI EXPERIMENTS, section 4.3) and the toxicity of excitatory amino acids, which are also upregulated early after CNS injury ¹⁰⁵, can be enhanced by TNF α ⁶⁶. Fourth, the timing of the cytokine upregulation may influence their effects. Several studies ^{26,192} demonstrated that an injection of a cytokine cocktail of IL-1 β , IL-6 and TNF- α into the spinal cord at 4 days postinjury resulted in a reduction in the recruitment of peripheral macrophages, microglial activation and tissue loss. However, the posttraumatic inflammatory response was enhanced and there was greater tissue loss when the cytokines were delivered 1 day after injury. Lastly, the cellular actions of cytokines are complex and subject to various regulation factors, including the number, subtype and proportion of activated receptors ^{43,327}. Also, the toxicity of excitatory amino acids may be enhanced by TNF- α^{66} .

Therefore, these data suggest that IL-1 β , IL-6 and TNF- α are powerful inflammatory mediators in the posttraumatic inflammatory response of SCI and the final effects of these pro-inflammatory cytokines may be greatly determined by many factors, including the temporal and spatial relation of cytokines to their receptor-bearing target cells of the spinal cord.

2. LIMITATION OF THIS PROJECT AND FUTURE WORK

This study failed to demonstrate inhibition of the upregulation of cytokines IL-1 β , IL-6 and TNF α in severe SCI by the NF- κ B-specific antisense oligodeoxynucleotides. A lack of a suitable vehicle to deliver the antisense oligodeoxynucleotides into the targeted cells (e.g. neurons and microglia) is the main factor behind the failure. Further work is required to find an appropriate delivery mechanism for the antisense oligodeoxynucleotides in order to inhibit cytokine expression in severe SCI. This would provide information regarding the role of excessive cytokine expression.

The observation that activated microglia surrounded neurons and axons in both rat and human SCI requires further studies to determine exactly how microglia, neurons and axons interact with each other in SCI because information on intercellular communication is crucial for our understanding of the posttraumatic inflammatory response.

Other important future questions to be addressed are: (1) how and when cytokine receptors are expressed in the spinal cord following injury; (2) whether the expression of cytokine receptors is affected by the injury severity and (3) when, during the posttraumatic response to SCI, cytokines are either helpful or harmful.

CONCLUSIONS

There is an early, robust but transient upregulation of IL-1B, IL-6 and TNF α mRNAs by 1 day after SCI in the rat. The cytokine mRNA responses are significantly greater in severe than in mild SCI in the rat. Protein levels of IL-1B, IL-6 and TNF α in severe rat SCI were dramatically elevated in contrast to non-detectable levels in mild SCI. Furthermore, similar results in the expression of pro-inflammatory cytokines IL-1B, IL-6 and TNF α were seen in human SCI. Our observations support the hypothesis that the cytokine upregulation is an important factor in the generation of the spinal cord injury, and is thus a suitable target for pharmacological intervention to attenuate this response.

Our studies of rat and human SCI have found that intrinsic CNS cells (neurons and microglia), not peripheral inflammatory cells, are the main source of pro-inflammatory cytokines. Thus, we believe that the inflammatory response in SCI is controlled by the central nervous system itself (neurons and microglia) rather than "professional" blood-borne inflammatory cells.

Our observations that microglial processes wrapped around axons in the rat and human SCI need further study.

APPENDIX

1. FIXATIVES AND BUFFERS

4% Paraformaldehyde in 0.1 M phosphate buffer (pH 7.4)

To make 5 L of fixative: Solution 1

- Dissolve 200 g paraformaldehyde in 2500 ml distilled H₂O. Heat to 60° and stir.
- Add 1 mol/L NaOH by drops until clear.
- Filter.

Solution 2

- Dissolve 0.19 mole (26.20 g) of NaH_2PO_4 in 2500 ml distilled H_2O_4 .
- Add 0.807 mole (114.56 g) of Na₂HPO₄.

Combine Solution 1 and Solution 2.

Cool down overnight.

Check pH and adjust pH to 7.4 with 5 M NaOH.

Tris buffer 0.05 M, pH 7.45

To make 1 L of buffer:

- Dissolve 6.06 g Tris in 1 L distilled H_2O .
- Add 8.77 g NaCl.
- Adjust pH to 7.45
- Allow at lease 10 minutes to fully dissolve and equilibrate, recheck pH.

Citric acid buffer 0.05 M, pH 6.0

To make 5 L of buffer:

- Dissolve 10.5 g citric acid monohydrate in 5 L distilled water.
- Adjust pH to 6.0.

PBS 0.01 M, pH 7.45

To make 20 L of buffer:

- Dissolve 1052 g NaCl into 3250 ml distilled water.
- Add 165.6 g $NaH_2PO_4 \cdot H_2O$.
- Adjust pH to 6.33.

• Allow 2-3 minutes to ensure electrode stability, recheck pH of the stock solution.

- Dilute 660 ml of stock solution to 20 L with distilled water.
- Sample 200 ml, check pH and adjust pH to 7.45 using 5 M NaOH.
 - Adjust the 20 L buffer by adding 100 times of the NaOH added to 200 ml sample.

Ni DAB chromogen-substrate buffer 0.05 M, pH 7.45

To make 50 ml of buffer:

- Thaw 1 ml DAB and dilute it in 50 ml Tris buffer.
- Add 500 µl of 4% NiCl.
- Adjust pH to 7.45.
- Filter and add 50 μ l of 30% hydrogen peroxide.

Laemlis buffer

To make 100 ml of buffer

- Glycerol 10 ml
- Stacking gel buffer 25 ml
- Urea-2M 12 g
- SDS 10% 20 ml
- PMSF 20 mg in ethanol

• Bromophenol Blue 5 ml

Add up to 100 ml with deionised water.

Stacking gel buffer

- Tris 3.03 g/100ml
- SDS 0.2 g/100 ml

PH to 6.8 with HCl.

Tris buffered saline

•	20 mM Tris:	4.84 g/2L
•	0.13 M NaCl:	15.18 g/2L
•	Thimerosal:	100 mg/2L
PH to 7.4 with HCl.		_

Tris/Glycine Buffer

• 14.4 g glycine/4 L

• 3.02 g Tris/4 L

pH to 8.3 with NaOH.

Substrate Buffer

• 100mM Tris:	12.11 g/L	
• 100mM NaCl:	5.844 g/L	
• 50mM MgCl ₂ :	10.165 g/L	
pH to 9.5 with HCl.		

TAE buffer

- 40 mM Tris Aminomethane
- 20 mM glacial acetic acid 1 mM EDTA •
- •

pH to 8.0

2. STATISTICAL ANALYSES

Wilcoxon Rank Sum Test for comparisons of the Tarlov motor score

1. The Tarlov motor scores of mild SCI

1 d mild SCI	7 d mild SCI	14 d mild SCI
4	5	5
4.5	5	5
4	5	5
4	5	5
4	5	5
Median=4	Median=5	Median=5

2. The Tarlov motor scores of severe SCI

1 d severe SCI	7 d severe SCI	14 d severe SCI
0.5	. 1	1.5
0	0.5	1
0	1	1.5
0.5	0.5	1
0	0.5	1
Median=0	Median=0.5	Median=1
3. Wilcoxon Rank Sum Test

1 d mild SCI vs 1 d severe SCI $n_1=5, n_2=5, T=15, P_{0.05}=17$ T < 17, P < 0.05

7 d mild SCI vs 7 d severe SCI

 $n_1 = 5, n_2 = 5, T = 15, P_{0.05} = 17$

T < 17, P < 0.05

14 d mild SCIvs 14 d severe SCI

 $n_1 = 5, n_2 = 5, T = 15, P_{0.05} = 17$

T < 17, P < 0.05

T-test for comparisons of histopathology

1. Areas of maximal lesions and lengths of lesions at 14 days after mild SCI

Areas of maximal lesions (mm²)

0.97 1.56 1.23 0.98 1.32 Mean= 1.21 Standard error= 0.11

Lengths of lesions (mm)

2.60 3.60 2.75 2.15 3.30 Mean= 2.88 Standard error= 0.26

2. Areas of maximal lesions and lengths of lesions at 14 days after severe SCI

Areas of maximal lesions (mm²)

7.88 6.93 6.86 5.73 6.12 Mean= 6.70 Standard error= 0.37

Lengths of lesions (mm)

15.60 13.15 12.90 10.60 13.90 Mean= 13.23 Standard error= 0.81 Comparisons of areas of maximal lesions between mlld and severe SCI $n_1=5$, $n_2=5$, v=8, $S_c^2=0.0745$, P $_{0.05}=2.306$, t=31.80

t > 2.306, P < 0.05

Comparisons of lengths of lesions between mild and severe SCI $n_1=5$, $n_2=5$, v=8, $S_c^2=0.36185$, P $_{0.05}=2.306$, t=27.24

t > 2.306, P < 0.05

ANOVA test and Student-Neuman-Keuls multiple comparisons test for RT-PCR products



<u>1. Determining linear range of RT-PCR products of IL-1</u>\beta

2. RT-PCR products of IL-1ß after mild SCI

1 hr	3 hr	6 hr	1 d	3 d
0.654715	1.432875	0.824234	0.454498	0.251655
0.546999	0.897749	0.690003	0.350904	0.290935
0.632567	0.886983	0.709067	0.402909	0.350903
0.625609	0.968789 0.899099	0.769082	0.426904	0.200065
Mean= 0.61	Mean= 1.02	Mean= 0.75	Mean= 0.41	Mean= 0.27
SE= 0.02	SE= 0.10	SE= 0.03	SE= 0.02	SE= 0.03
SE: standard erro)ſ			

3. RT-PCR products of IL-1ß after severe SCI

1 hr	3 hr	6 hr	1 d	3 d
1.238961	2.337077	4.987458	0.708855	0.275409
0.872524	1.843291	2.809917	0.468709	0.309043
1.090756	1.980989	3.678056	0.207809	0.429238
0.972678	2.198567	3.348796	0.455972	0.205989
Mean= 1.04	Mean= 2.09	Mean= 3.71	Mean= 0.46	Mean= 0.30
SE= 0.08	SE= 0.11	SE= 0.46	SE= 0.10	SE= 0.05
SE: standard error	r			

4. RT-PCR products of IL-1β in laminectomy controls

1hr	3hr	6hr	1d	3d
0.399698	0.364675	0.395109	0.330689	0.399875
0.207609	0.179598	0.205412	0.243187	0.258796
0.154319	0.240985	0.231059	0.129678	0.128968
				0.209823
Mean= 0.25	Mean= 0.26	Mean= 0.28	Mean=0.26	Mean= 0.25
SE= 0.07	SE= 0.05	SE= 0.06	SE= 0.06	SE= 0.06
SE: standard error				

5. RT-PCR products of IL-1β in naïve controls

0.376214 0.200815 0.211588 Mean= 0.26 SE= 0.06 SE: standard error

6. ANOVA test and Student-Neuman-Keuls multiple comparisons test for IL-1β mRNA

Comparisons	P value
Severe 1 hr vs Mild 1 hr	P > 0.05
Severe 1 hr vs Naive control 1 hr	P < 0.05
Severe 1 hr vs Laminectomy control 1 hr	P < 0.05
Mild 1 hr vs Naïve control	P < 0.05
Mild 1 hr vs Laminectomy control 1 hr	P < 0.05
Laminectomy control 1 hr vs Naïve control	P > 0.05
Severe 3 hr vs Mild 3 hr	P < 0.05
Severe 3 hr vs Naive control 3 hr	P < 0.05
Severe 3 hr vs Laminectomy control 3 hr	P < 0.05
Mild 3 hr vs Naïve control	P < 0.05
Mild 3 hr vs Laminectomy control 3 hr	P < 0.05
Laminectomy control 3 hr vs Naïve control	P > 0.05
Severe 6 hr vs Mild 6 hr	P < 0.05
Severe 6 hr vs Naive control 6 hr	P < 0.05
Severe 6 hr vs Laminectomy control 6 hr	P < 0.05
Mild 6 hr vs Naïve control	P < 0.05
Mild 6 hr vs Laminectomy control 6 hr	P < 0.05
Laminectomy 6 hr vs Naïve control	P > 0.05
Severe 1 d vs Mild 1 d	P > 0.05
Severe 1 d vs Naive control 1 d	P > 0.05
Severe 1 d vs Laminectomy control 1 d	P > 0.05
Mild 1 d vs Naïve control	P > 0.05
Mild 1 d vs Laminectomy control 1 d	P > 0.05
Laminectomy control 1d vs Naïve control	P > 0.05
Severe 3 d vs Mild 3 d	P > 0.05
Severe 3 d vs Naive control 3 d	P > 0.05
Severe 3 d vs Laminectomy control 3 d	P > 0.05
Mild 3 d vs Naïve control	P > 0.05
Mild 3 d vs Laminectomy control 3 d	P > 0.05
Naïve control vs Laminectomy control 3 d	P > 0.05



7. Determining linear range of RT-PCR products of IL-6

15 cycles 20 cycles 25 cycles 30 cycles 35 cycles 40 cycles 45 cycles

8. RT-PCR products of IL-6 after mild SCI

1 hr	3 hr	6 hr	1 d	3 d
0.608712	1.302448	0.542987	0.303511	0.207527
0.543551	0.995633	0.488938	0.289679	0.528671
0.527685	0.212294	0.402897	0.298876	0.144316
0.495829	0.238678	0.502261	0.200861	0.210903
	0.205892			
Mean= 0.54	Mean= 0.59	Mean= 0.48	Mean= 0.27	Mean= 0.27
SE= 0.02	SE= 0.23	SE= 0.03	SE= 0.02	SE= 0.09
SE: standard error				

9. RT-PCR products of IL-6 after severe SCI

1 hr	3 hr	6 hr	1 d	3 d
0.762489	2.401069	4.100016	0.702878	0.707343
1.000991	1.428363	3.800702	0.199823	0.106897
0.509856	1.613268	3.647959	0.222696	0.227698
0.779621	1.278659	2.397682	0.105987	0.168565
Mean= 0.76	Mean= 1.68	Mean= 3.49	Mean= 0.31	Mean= 0.30
SE= 0.10	SE= 0.25	SE= 0.37	SE= 0.13	SE= 0.14
SE: standard error		λ.		

10. RT-PCR products of IL-6 in laminectomy controls

1hr	3hr	6hr	1d	3d
0.378905	0.356981	0.378719	0.286523	0.409739
0.191326	0.322673	0.239765	0.422235	0.251387
0.171579	0.105982	0.134768	0.143276	0.160876
Mean= 0.25	Mean= 0.26	Mean= 0.25	Mean= 0.28	Mean= 0.27
SE= 0.07	SE= 0.08	SE= 0.07	SE= 0.08	SE= 0.06
SE: standard error				

11. RT-PCR products of IL-6 in naïve controls

0.390919 0.164432 0.267892 Mean= 0.27 SE= 0.07 SE: standard error

12. ANOVA test and Student-Neuman-Keuls multiple comparisons test for IL-6 mRNA

Comparisons	P value
Severe 1 hr vs Mild 1 hr	P > 0.05
Severe 1 hr vs Naive control 1 hr	P < 0.05
Severe 1 hr vs Laminectomy control 1 hr	P < 0.05
Mild 1 hr vs Naïve control	P < 0.05
Mild 1 hr vs Laminectomy control 1 hr	P < 0.05
Laminectomy control 1 hr vs Naïve control	P > 0.05
Severe 3 hr vs Mild 3 hr	P < 0.05
Severe 3 hr vs Naive control 3 hr	P < 0.05
Severe 3 hr vs Laminectomy control 3 hr	P < 0.05
Mild 3 hr vs Naïve control	P < 0.05
Mild 3 hr vs Laminectomy control 3 hr	P < 0.05
Laminectomy control 3 hr vs Naïve control	P > 0.05
Severe 6 hr vs Mild 6 hr	P < 0.05
Severe 6 hr vs Naive control 6 hr	P < 0.05
Severe 6 hr vs Laminectomy control 6 hr	P < 0.05
Mild 6 hr vs Naïve control	P < 0.05
Mild 6 hr vs Laminectomy control 6 hr	P < 0.05
Laminectomy 6 hr vs Naïve control	P > 0.05
Severe 1 d vs Mild 1 d	P > 0.05
Severe 1 d vs Naive control 1 d	P > 0.05
Severe 1 d vs Laminectomy control 1 d	P > 0.05
Mild 1 d vs Naïve control	P > 0.05
Mild 1 d vs Laminectomy control 1 d	P > 0.05
Laminectomy control 1d vs Naïve control	P > 0.05
Severe 3 d vs Mild 3 d	P > 0.05
Severe 3 d vs Naive control 3 d	P > 0.05
Severe 3 d vs Laminectomy control 3 d	P > 0.05
Mild 3 d vs Naïve control	P > 0.05
Mild 3 d vs Laminectomy control 3 d	P > 0.05
Naïve control vs Laminectomy control 3 d	P > 0.05



13. Determining linear range of RT-PCR products of TNFa

15 cycles 20 cycles 25 cycles 30 cycles 35 cycles 40 cycles 45 cycles

14. RT-PCR products of TNFα after mild SCI

1 hr	3 hr	6 hr	1 d	3 d
0.280207	0.291494	0.280489	0.252325	0.213612
0.320852	0.291557	0.411033	0.206957	0.229189
0.298907	0.343246	0.386758	0.193275	0.195687
0.250965	0.279016	0.376427	0.186936	0.126398
	0.300791			
Mean= 0.29	Mean= 0.30	Mean= 0.36	Mean= 0.21	Mean= 0.19
SE= 0.01	SE= 0.01	SE= 0.03	SE= 0.01	SE= 0.02
SE: standard er	TOT			

15. RT-PCR products of TNFα after severe SCI

1 hr	3 hr	6 hr	1 d	3 d
1.203389	1.110673	2.659687	0.373112	0.294423
0.893555	1.395637	1.956812	0.124672	0.160087
1.169878	1.451376	2.036879	0.248287	0.168965
1.158216	0.902187	1.787953	0.209495	0.209497
Mean= 1.11	Mean= 1.21	Mean= 2.11	Mean= 0.24	Mean= 0.21
SE= 0.07	SE= 0.13	SE= 0.19	SE= 0.05	SE= 0.03
SE: standard e	ггог			

16. RT-PCR products of TNFα in laminectomy controls

1hr	3hr	6hr	1d	3d
0.084126	0.163792	0.077589	0.119681	0.155902
0.159672	0.126509	0.132276	0.073985	0.098689
0.152556	0.120972	0.156592	0.128792	0.126721
Mean= 0.13	Mean= 0.14	Mean= 0.12	Mean= 0.11	Mean= 0.13
SE= 0.02	SE= 0.01	SE= 0.02	SE= 0.02	SE= 0.01
SE: standard en	TOT			

17. RT-PCR products of TNFα in naive controls

0.113395 0.150865 0.102603 Mean= 0.12 SE= 0.01 SE: standard error <u>18. ANOVA test and Student-Neuman-Keuls multiple comparisons test for TNFa</u> <u>mRNA</u>

Comparisons	P value
Severe 1 hr vs Mild 1 hr	P < 0.05
Severe 1 hr vs Naive control 1 hr	P < 0.05
Severe 1 hr vs Laminectomy control 1 hr	P < 0.05
Mild 1 hr vs Naïve control	P < 0.05
Mild 1 hr vs Laminectomy control 1 hr	P < 0.05
Laminectomy control 1 hr vs Naïve control	P > 0.05
Severe 3 hr vs Mild 3 hr	P < 0.05
Severe 3 hr vs Naive control 3 hr	P < 0.05
Severe 3 hr vs Laminectomy control 3 hr	P < 0.05
Mild 3 hr vs Naïve control	P < 0.05
Mild 3 hr vs Laminectomy control 3 hr	P < 0.05
Laminectomy control 3 hr vs Naïve control	P > 0.05
Severe 6 hr vs Mild 6 hr	P < 0.05
Severe 6 hr vs Naive control 6 hr	P < 0.05
Severe 6 hr vs Laminectomy control 6 hr	P < 0.05
Mild 6 hr vs Naïve control	P < 0.05
Mild 6 hr vs Laminectomy control 6 hr	P < 0.05
Laminectomy 6 hr vs Naïve control	P > 0.05
Severe 1 d vs Mild 1 d	P > 0.05
Severe 1 d vs Naive control 1 d	P > 0.05
Severe 1 d vs Laminectomy control 1 d	P > 0.05
Mild 1 d vs Naïve control	P > 0.05
Mild 1 d vs Laminectomy control 1 d	P > 0.05
Laminectomy control 1d vs Naïve control	P > 0.05
Severe 3 d vs Mild 3 d	P > 0.05
Severe 3 d vs Naive control 3 d	P > 0.05
Severe 3 d vs Laminectomy control 3 d	P > 0.05
Mild 3 d vs Naïve control	P > 0.05
Mild 3 d vs Laminectomy control 3 d	P > 0.05
Naïve control vs Laminectomy control 3 d	P > 0.05

ANOVA test and Student-Neuman-Keuls multiple comparisons test for western blot products

1 hr	3 hr	6 hr	24 hr	72 hr
138002	189435	504861	1	1
12129 9	321549	368982	1	1
156834	289939	319392	1	1
119074	137106	238958	1	1
Mean=133802	Mean=234507	Mean=358048	Mean=1	Mean=1
SE= 8762	SE= 42980	SE= 55790	SE= 0	SE= 0
SE: standard e	ггог			

1. Western blot analysis for IL-1ß after severe SCI

2. Western blot analysis for IL-1ß standard recombinant controls

5 ng	10 ng	20 ng	30 ng	40 ng
457396.6	423950.7	869779.8	1579012	996399.8



3. ANOVA test and Student-Neuman-Keuls multiple comparisons test for IL-18 protein

Comparisons	P value
Severe 1 hr vs Mild 1 hr	P < 0.05
Severe 1 hr vs Naive control 1 hr	P < 0.05
Severe 1 hr vs Laminectomy control 1 hr	P < 0.05
Mild 1 hr vs Naïve control	P > 0.05
Mild 1 hr vs Laminectomy control 1 hr	P > 0.05
Laminectomy control 1 hr vs Naïve control	P > 0.05
Severe 3 hr vs Mild 3 hr	P < 0.05
Severe 3 hr vs Naive control 3 hr	P < 0.05
Severe 3 hr vs Laminectomy control 3 hr	P < 0.05
Mild 3 hr vs Naïve control	P > 0.05
Mild 3 hr vs Laminectomy control 3 hr	P > 0.05
Laminectomy control 3 hr vs Naïve control	P > 0.05
Severe 6 hr vs Mild 6 hr	P < 0.05
Severe 6 hr vs Naive control 6 hr	P < 0.05
Severe 6 hr vs Laminectomy control 6 hr	P < 0.05
Mild 6 hr vs Naïve control	P > 0.05
Mild 6 hr vs Laminectomy control 6 hr	P > 0.05
Laminectomy 6 hr vs Naïve control	P > 0.05
Severe 1 d vs Mild 1 d	P > 0.05
Severe 1 d vs Naive control 1 d	P > 0.05
Severe 1 d vs Laminectomy control 1 d	P > 0.05
Mild 1 d vs Naïve control	P > 0.05
Mild 1 d vs Laminectomy control 1 d	P > 0.05
Laminectomy control 1d vs Naïve control	P > 0.05
Severe 3 d vs Mild 3 d	P > 0.05
Severe 3 d vs Naive control 3 d	P > 0.05
Severe 3 d vs Laminectomy control 3 d	P > 0.05
Mild 3 d vs Naïve control	P > 0.05
Mild 3 d vs Laminectomy control 3 d	P > 0.05
Naïve control vs Laminectomy control 3 d	P > 0.05

4. Western blot analysis for IL-6 after severe SCI

1 hr	3 hr	6 hr	24 hr	72 hr
161141	411546	364388	1	1
97102	221271	292769	1	1
112224	98234	230602	1	1
113532	192985	595845	1	1
Mean=121000	Mean=231009) Mean=370901	Mean=1	Mean=1
SE=13890	SE=65678	SE=79807	SE=0	SE=0
SE: standard e	rror			

5. Western blot analysis for IL-6 standard recombinant controls

5 ng 10 ng 20 ng 30 ng 40 ng 81413.75 219664.9 345559.4 504942.7 609273.1



6. ANOVA test and Student-Neuman-Keuls multiple comparisons test for IL-6 protein

Comparisons	P value
Severe 1 hr vs Mild 1 hr	P < 0.05
Severe 1 hr vs Naive control 1 hr	P < 0.05
Severe 1 hr vs Laminectomy control 1 hr	P < 0.05
Mild 1 hr vs Naïve control	P > 0.05
Mild 1 hr vs Laminectomy control 1 hr	P > 0.05
Laminectomy control 1 hr vs Naïve control	P > 0.05
Severe 3 hr vs Mild 3 hr	P < 0.05
Severe 3 hr vs Naive control 3 hr	P < 0.05
Severe 3 hr vs Laminectomy control 3 hr	P < 0.05
Mild 3 hr vs Naïve control	P > 0.05
Mild 3 hr vs Laminectomy control 3 hr	P > 0.05
Laminectomy control 3 hr vs Naïve control	P > 0.05
Severe 6 hr vs Mild 6 hr	P < 0.05
Severe 6 hr vs Naive control 6 hr	P < 0.05
Severe 6 hr vs Laminectomy control 6 hr	P < 0.05
Mild 6 hr vs Naïve control	P > 0.05
Mild 6 hr vs Laminectomy control 6 hr	P > 0.05
Laminectomy 6 hr vs Naïve control	P > 0.05
Severe 1 d vs Mild 1 d	P > 0.05
Severe 1 d vs Naive control 1 d	P > 0.05
Severe 1 d vs Laminectomy control 1 d	P > 0.05
Mild 1 d vs Naïve control	P > 0.05
Mild 1 d vs Laminectomy control 1 d	P > 0.05
Laminectomy control 1d vs Naïve control	P > 0.05
Severe 3 d vs Mild 3 d	P > 0.05
Severe 3 d vs Naive control 3 d	P > 0.05
Severe 3 d vs Laminectomy control 3 d	P > 0.05
Mild 3 d vs Naïve control	P > 0.05
Mild 3 d vs Laminectomy control 3 d	P > 0.05
Naïve control vs Laminectomy control 3 d	P > 0.05

7. Western blot analysis for TNF-α after severe SCI

	1 hr	3 hr	6 hr	24 hr	72 hr
	237365	515193	576702	1	1
	178526	277366	207789	1	1
	195112	192888	247619	1	1
	173028	162913	211526	1	1
N	lean=196008	Mean=287090	Mean=310909	Mean=1	Mean=1
	SE=14563	SE=79802	SE=89052	SE=0	SE=0
S	E: standard e	TTOF			

8. Western blot analysis for TNF-a standard recombinant controls

5 ng 10 ng 20 ng 30 ng 40 ng 50450.4 187245.8 370216.6 628742.9 515664.2



9. ANOVA test and Student-Neuman-Keuls multiple comparisons test for TNFa protein

Comparisons	P value
Severe 1 hr vs Mild 1 hr	P < 0.05
Severe 1 hr vs Naive control 1 hr	P < 0.05
Severe 1 hr vs Laminectomy control 1 hr	P < 0.05
Mild 1 hr vs Naïve control	P > 0.05
Mild 1 hr vs Laminectomy control 1 hr	P > 0.05
Laminectomy control 1 hr vs Naïve control	P > 0.05
Severe 3 hr vs Mild 3 hr	P < 0.05
Severe 3 hr vs Naive control 3 hr	P < 0.05
Severe 3 hr vs Laminectomy control 3 hr	P < 0.05
Mild 3 hr vs Naïve control	P > 0.05
Mild 3 hr vs Laminectomy control 3 hr	P > 0.05
Laminectomy control 3 hr vs Naïve control	P > 0.05
Severe 6 hr vs Mild 6 hr	P < 0.05
Severe 6 hr vs Naive control 6 hr	P < 0.05
Severe 6 hr vs Laminectomy control 6 hr	P < 0.05
Mild 6 hr vs Naïve control	P > 0.05
Mild 6 hr vs Laminectomy control 6 hr	P > 0.05
Laminectomy 6 hr vs Naïve control	P > 0.05
Severe 1 d vs Mild 1 d	P > 0.05
Severe 1 d vs Naive control 1 d	P > 0.05
Severe 1 d vs Laminectomy control 1 d	P > 0.05
Mild 1 d vs Naïve control	P > 0.05
Mild 1 d vs Laminectomy control 1 d	P > 0.05
Laminectomy control 1d vs Naïve control	P > 0.05
Severe 3 d vs Mild 3 d	P > 0.05
Severe 3 d vs Naive control 3 d	P > 0.05
Severe 3 d vs Laminectomy control 3 d	P > 0.05
Mild 3 d vs Naïve control	P > 0.05
Mild 3 d vs Laminectomy control 3 d	P > 0.05
Naïve control vs Laminectomy control 3 d	P > 0.05

REFERENCES

- 1. Aarden LA, Brunner TK, Cerottini JC, et al: Revised nomenclature for antigennonspecific T cell proliferation and helper factors. J. Immunol. 123:2928-2929, 1979
- 2. Abe K, St-George-Hyslop, P.H., Tanzi, R.E. and Kogure, K.: Induction of amyloid precursor protein mRNA after heat shock in cultured human lymphoblastoid cells. Neurosci Lett 125:169-171, 1991
- 3. Aggarwal BB: Tumor necrosis factor, in Aggarwal BB, Gutterman JU (eds): Human cytokines: handbook for basic and clinical research. Boston: Blackwell scientific publications, 1992, Vol 1, pp 270-287
- 4. Aloisi F, Care, A., Borsellino, G.: Production of hemolymphopoietic cytokines by normal human astorcytes in response to IL-1 beta and tumor necrosis factor-alpha. J. Immunol. 149:2358-2366, 1992
- 5. Amar AP, Levy ML: Pathogenesis and pharmacological strategies for mitigating secondary damage in acute spinal cord injury. **.Neurosurgery 44:**1027-1039, 1999
- 6. Anderson DK, Means ED, Waters TR, et al: Microvascular perfusion and metabolism in injured spinal cord after methylprednisolone treatment. J Neurosurg 56:106-113., 1982
- 7. Anderson TE: A controlled pneumatic technique for experimental spinal cord contusion. **J.Neurosci.Methods 6:327-333**, 1982
- 8. Assenmacher DR, Ducker TB: Experimental traumatic paraplegia. The vascular and pathological changes seen in reversible and irreversible spinal-cord lesions. J Bone Joint Surg Am 53:671-680., 1971
- 9. Baggiolini M, Imboden P, Detmers P: Neutrophil activation and the effects of interleukin-8/neutrophil-activating peptide 1 (IL-8/NAP-1). Cytokines 4:1-17., 1992
- 10. Baldwin AS, Jr.: The NF-kappa B and I kappa B proteins: new discoveries and insights. Annu Rev Immunol 14:649-683., 1996
- 11. Balentine JD: Pathology of experimental spinal cord trauma. II. Ultrastructure of axons and myelin. **.Lab.Invest. 39:**254-266, 1978
- 12. Banati RB, Gehrmann J, Czech C, et al: Early and rapid de novo synthesis of Alzheimer beta A4-amyloid precursor protein (APP) in activated microglia. Glia 9:199-210., 1993
- 13. Banati RB, Gehrmann J, Schubert P, et al: Cytotoxicity of microglia. Glia 7:111-118., 1993
- 14. Banati RB, Graeber MB: Surveillance, intervention and cytotoxicity: is there a protective role of microglia? **Dev Neurosci 16:**114-127., 1994
- Barbeau H, Chau C, Rossignol S: Noradrenergic agonists and locomotor training affect locomotor recovery after cord transection in adult cats. Brain Res Bull 30:387-393., 1993
- 16. Barger SW, Horster D, Furukawa K, et al: Tumor necrosis factors alpha and beta protect neurons against amyloid beta-peptide toxicity: evidence for involvement of a kappa B-binding factor and attenuation of peroxide and Ca2+ accumulation. **Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 92:**9328-9332., 1995
- 17. Barone FC, Feuerstein GZ: Inflammatory mediators and stroke: new opportunities for novel therapeutics. J Cereb Blood Flow Metab 19:819-834., 1999
- 18. Barres BA, Schmid R, Sendnter M, et al: Multiple extracellular signals are required for long-term oligodendrocyte survival. **Development 118:**283-295., 1993
- 19. Bartholdi D, Schwab ME: Expression of pro-inflammatory cytokine and chemokine mRNA upon experimental spinal cord injury in mouse: an in situ hybridization study. **.Eur.J.Neurosci. 9:**1422-1438, 1997

218

- 20. Bartholdi D, Schwab ME: Methylprednisolone inhibits early inflammatory processes but not ischemic cell death after experimental spinal cord lesion in the rat. Brain Res 672:177-186., 1995
- 21. Basso DM, Beattie MS, Bresnahan JC: Graded histological and locomotor outcomes after spinal cord contusion using the NYU weight-drop device versus transection. Experimental Neurology 139:244-256, 1996
- 22. Bavetta S, Hamlyn PJ, Burnstock G, et al: The effects of FK506 on dorsal column axons following spinal cord injury in adult rats: neuroprotection and local regeneration. Exp Neurol 158:382-393., 1999
- 23. Becker-Andre M, Hahlbrock K: Absolute mRNA quantification using the polymerase chain reaction (PCR). A novel approach by a PCR aided transcript titration assay (PATTY). Nucleic Acids Res 17:9437-9446., 1989
- 24. Beggs JL, Waggener JD: The acute microvascular responses to spinal cord injury. Adv Neurol 22:179-189., 1979
- 25. Berry M, Butt AM: Cellular pathology of the central nervous system, in Graham DI, Lantos PL (eds): Greenfield's neuropathology, ed 6th. London: Arnold, 1997, pp 78-156
- 26. Bethea JR: Spinal cord injury-induced inflammation: a dual-edged sword. **Prog Brain Res 128:**33-42., 2000
- 27. Bethea JR, Castro M, Keane RW, et al: Traumatic spinal cord injury induces nuclear factor-kappaB activation. J Neurosci 18:3251-3260., 1998
- 28. Bethea JR, Nagashima H, Acosta MC, et al: Systemically administered interleukin-10 reduces tumor necrosis factor-alpha production and significantly improves functional recovery following traumatic spinal cord injury in rats. J Neurotrauma 16:851-863., 1999
- 29. Beuche W, Friede RL: The role of non-resident cells in Wallerian degeneration. J Neurocytol 13:767-796., 1984
- 30. Bignami A, Ralston HJ, 3rd: The cellular reaction to Wallerian degeneration in the central nervous system of the cat. **Brain Res 13:**444-461., 1969
- 31. Black P, Markowitz RS, Damjanov I, et al: Models of spinal cord injury: Part 3. Dynamic load technique. **Neurosurgery 22:**51-60, 1988
- 32. Blakemore WF: Remyelination by Schwann cells of axons demyelinated by intraspinal injection of 6-aminonicotinamide in the rat. J Neurocytol 4:745-757., 1975
- Blight AR: Delayed demyelination and macrophage invasion: a candidate for secondary cell damage in spinal cord injury. Cent Nerv Syst Trauma 2:299-315., 1985
- 34. Blight AR: Effects of silica on the outcome from experimental spinal cord injury: implication of macrophages in secondary tissue damage. Neuroscience 60:263-273., 1994
- 35. Blight AR: Macrophages and inflammatory damage in spinal cord injury. J.Neurotrauma. 9 Suppl 1:S83-91, 1992
- 36. Blight AR: An overview of spinal cord injury models, in Narayan RK, Wilberger JE, Povlishock JT (eds): Neurotrauma. New York: McGraw-Hill, 1996, pp 1367-1379
- 37. Blinzinger K, Kreutzberg, G.: Displacement of synaptic terminals from regenerating motor neurons by microglial cells. Z Zellforsch Mikrosk Anat 85:145-157, 1968
- 38. Blumbergs PC, Scott G, Manavis J, et al: Staining of amyloid precursor protein to study axonal damage in mild head injury. Lancet 344:1055-1056., 1994

- 39. Blumbergs PC, Scott G, Manavis J, et al: Topography of axonal injury as defined by amyloid precursor protein and the sector scoring method in mild and severe closed head injury. J Neurotrauma 12:565-572., 1995
- 40. Bohlman HH: Acute fractures and dislocations of the cervical spine. An analysis of three hundred hospitalized patients and review of the literature. J Bone Joint Surg Am 61:1119-1142., 1979
- 41. Bohlman HH, Ducker TB: Spine trauma in adults, in Rothman RH, Simeone FA (eds): The spine. Philadelphia: Saunders, 1992, pp 973-1104
- 42. Bomalaski JS, Steiner MR, Simon PL, et al: IL-1 increases phospholipase A2 activity, expression of phospholipase A2-activating protein, and release of linoleic acid from the murine T helper cell line EL-4. J Immunol 148:155-160., 1992
- 43. Botchkina GI, Meistrell ME, 3rd, Botchkina IL, et al: Expression of TNF and TNF receptors (p55 and p75) in the rat brain after focal cerebral ischemia. Mol Med 3:765-781., 1997
- 44. Boyeson MG, Feeney DM: Intraventricular norepinephrine facilitates motor recovery following sensorimotor cortex injury. **Pharmacol Biochem Behav 35:**497-501., 1990
- 45. Bracken MB, Collins WF, Freeman DF, et al: Efficacy of methylprednisolone in acute spinal cord injury. **Jama 251:**45-52., 1984
- 46. Bracken MB, Holford TR: Effects of timing of methylprednisolone or naloxone administration on recovery of segmental and long-tract neurological function in NASCIS 2. J Neurosurg 79:500-507., 1993
- 47. Bracken MB, Shepard MJ, Collins WF, et al: A randomized controlled trial of methylprednisolone or naloxone in the treatment of acute spinal cord injury. N Engl J Med: 1405-1411, 1990
- 48. Braughler JM, Hall ED: Lactate and pyruvate metabolism in injured cat spinal cord before and after a single large intravenous dose of methylprednisolone. J Neurosurg 59:256-261., 1983
- 49. Brenneman DE, Schultzberg M, Bartfai T, et al: Cytokine regulation of neuronal survival. J Neurochem 58:454-460., 1992
- 50. Bresnahan JC: An electron-microscopic analysis of axonal alterations following blunt contusion of the spinal cord of the rhesus monkey (Macaca mulatta). J Neurol Sci 37:59-82., 1978
- 51. Bricolo A, Ore GD, Da Pian R, et al: Local cooling in spinal cord injury. Surg Neurol 6:101-106., 1976
- Brodner RA, Dohrmann GJ, Roth RH, et al: Correlation of cerebrospinal fluid serotonin and altered spinal cord blood flow in experimental trauma. .Surg.Neurol. 13:337-343, 1980
- 53. Broude E, McAtee M, Kelley MS, et al: Fetal spinal cord transplants and exogenous neurotrophic support enhance c-Jun expression in mature axotomized neurons after spinal cord injury. Exp Neurol 155:65-78., 1999
- 54. Brown MC, Perry VH, Lunn ER, et al: Macrophage dependence of peripheral sensory nerve regeneration: possible involvement of nerve growth factor. Neuron 6:359-370., 1991
- 55. Bruce AJ, Boling W, Kindy MS, et al: Altered neuronal and microglial responses to excitotoxic and ischemic brain injury in mice lacking TNF receptors. Nat Med 2:788-794., 1996
- 56. Buchanan L, Nawoczenski D: An overview, in Buchanan L (ed): Spinal cord injury: concepts and management approaches. Baltimore: Williams and Wilkins, 1987, pp 3-19

- 57. Bunge MB, Holets VR, Bates ML, et al: Characterization of photochemically induced spinal cord injury in the rat by light and electron microscopy. **Exp.Neurol. 127:**76-93, 1994
- 58. Burke DC, Brown DJ, Burkey HT, et al: Data collection on spinal cord injuries: urological outcome. **Paraplegia 25:**311-317., 1987
- 59. Burke F, Naylor MS, Davies B, et al: The cytokine wall chart. Immunol Today 14:165-170., 1993
- 60. Callard RE, Gearing AJH: The cytokine factsbook. London ; San Diego: Academic Press, 1994
- 61. Cameron T, Prado R, Watson BD, et al: Photochemically induced cystic lesion in the rat spinal cord. I. Behavioral and morphological analysis. Exp Neurol 109:214-223., 1990
- 62. Cammer W, Bloom BR, Norton WT, et al: Degradation of basic protein in myelin by neutral proteases secreted by stimulated macrophages: a possible mechanism of inflammatory demyelination. **Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 75:**1554-1558., 1978
- 63. Campagnolo DI, Keller SE, DeLisa JA, et al: Alteration of immune system function in tetraplegics. A pilot study. **Am J Phys Med Rehabil 73:**387-393., 1994
- 64. Campbell IL, Abraham CR, Masliah E, et al: Neurologic disease induced in transgenic mice by cerebral overexpression of interleukin 6. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 90:10061-10065., 1993
- 65. Carlson SL, Parrish ME, Springer JE, et al: Acute inflammatory response in spinal cord following impact injury. Exp Neurol 151:77-88., 1998
- 66. Chao CC, Hu S: Tumor necrosis factor-alpha potentiates glutamate neurotoxicity in human fetal brain cell cultures. **Dev Neurosci 16:**172-179., 1994
- 67. Chao CC, Hu S, Sheng WS, et al: Cytokine-stimulated astrocytes damage human neurons via a nitric oxide mechanism. Glia 16:276-284., 1996
- 68. Cheng B, Christakos S, Mattson MP: Tumor necrosis factors protect neurons against metabolic-excitotoxic insults and promote maintenance of calcium homeostasis. Neuron 12:139-153., 1994
- 69. Chikawa T, Ikata T, Katoh S, et al: Preventive effects of lecithinized superoxide dismutase and methylprednisolone on spinal cord injury in rats: transcriptional regulation of inflammatory and neurotrophic genes. J Neurotrauma 18:93-103., 2001
- Cho KH, Iwasaki Y, Imamura H, et al: Experimental model of posttraumatic syringomyelia: the role of adhesive arachnoiditis in syrinx formation. J.Neurosurg. 80:133-139, 1994
- 71. Ciallella JR, Rangnekar VV, McGillis JP: Heat shock alters Alzheimer's beta amyloid precursor protein expression in human endothelial cells. J Neurosci Res 37:769-776., 1994
- 72. Clark WM, Madden KP, Rothlein R, et al: Reduction of central nervous system ischemic injury in rabbits using leukocyte adhesion antibody treatment. Stroke 22:877-883., 1991
- 73. Cohen S, Bigazzi PE, Yoshida T: Commentary. Similarities of T cell function in cellmediated immunity and antibody production. **Cell Immunol 12:**150-159., 1974
- 74. Colotta F, Re F, Muzio M, et al: Interleukin-1 type II receptor: a decoy target for IL-1 that is regulated by IL-4. Science 261:472-475., 1993
- 75. Combs CK, Johnson DE, Cannady SB, et al: Identification of microglial signal transduction pathways mediating a neurotoxic response to amyloidogenic fragments of beta-amyloid and prion proteins. J Neurosci 19:928-939., 1999

- 76. Croston GE, Cao Z, Goeddel DV: NF-kappa B activation by interleukin-1 (IL-1) requires an IL-1 receptor-associated protein kinase activity. J Biol Chem 270:16514-16517., 1995
- 77. Damoiseaux JG, Dopp, E.A., Calame, W., Choa, D., MacPherson, G.G. and Dijkstra, C.D.: Rat macrophage lysosomal membrane antigen recognized by monoclonal antibody ED1. Immunology 83:140-147, 1994
- 78. David S, Bouchard C, Tsatas O, et al: Macrophages can modify the nonpermissive nature of the adult mammalian central nervous system. Neuron 5:463-469., 1990
- 79. De Ley G, Leybaert L: Effect of flunarizine and methylprednisolone on functional recovery after experimental spinal injury. J Neurotrauma 10:25-35., 1993
- 80. de Vries HE, Blom-Roosemalen MC, van Oosten M, et al: The influence of cytokines on the integrity of the blood-brain barrier in vitro. J Neuroimmunol 64:37-43., 1996
- 81. del Rio-Hortega P: Microglia, in Penfield W (ed): Cytology and cellular pathology of the nervous system. New York: Hafner Publ, 1965, pp 483-534
- Delamarter RB, Bohlman HH, Dodge LD, et al: Experimental lumbar spinal stenosis. Analysis of the cortical evoked potentials, microvasculature, and histopathology. J Bone Joint Surg Am 72:110-120., 1990
- 83. Demediuk P, Daly MP, Faden AI: Effect of impact trauma on neurotransmitter and nonneurotransmitter amino acids in rat spinal cord [published erratum appears in J Neurochem 1990 Feb;54(2):724-5]. J.Neurochem. 52:1529-1536, 1989
- 84. Dhillon HS, Dong GX, Yurek DM, et al: Regional expression of Par-4 mRNA and protein after fluid percussion brain injury in the rat. Exp Neurol 170:140-148., 2001
- 85. Dickson DW, Lee SC: Microglia, in Davis RL, Robertson DM (eds): **Textbook of Neuropathology, ed 3rd.** Baltimore: Williams & Wilkins, 1997, pp 165-205
- 86. Dijkstra CD, Dopp EA, Joling P: The heterogeneity of mononuclear phagocytes in lymphoid organs: distinct macrophage subpopulations in the rat recognized by monoclonal antibodies ED1, ED2 and ED3. **Immunology:**589-599, 1985
- 87. Dinarello CA: The biological properties of interleukin-1. Eur Cytokine Netw 5:517-531., 1994
- 88. Dinarello CA: Interleukin-1, in Thomson AW (ed): The Cytokine Handbook, ed 3 rd. San Diego: Academic Press Limited, 1998, pp 35-73
- 89. Dinarello CA: Interleukin-1. Cytokine Growth Factor Rev 8:253-265., 1997
- 90. DiStefano PS, Friedman B, Radziejewski C, et al: The neurotrophins BDNF, NT-3, and NGF display distinct patterns of retrograde axonal transport in peripheral and central neurons. **Neuron 8:**983-993., 1992
- 91. Dohrmann GJ, Wagner FC, Jr., Wick KM, et al: Fine structural alterations in transitory traumatic paraplegia. **Proc Veterans Adm Spinal Cord Inj Conf 18:6-8.**, 1971
- 92. Douglas SD: Morphology of monocytes and macrophages, in Beutler E, Lichtman MA, Coller BS, et al (eds): Williams hematology, ed 5th. New York: McGraw-Hill, 1995, pp 861-894
- 93. Dower SK: Interleukin-1, in Aggarwal BB, Gutterman JU (eds): Human cytokines : handbook for basic and clinical research. Boston: Blackwell Scientific Publications, 1992, Vol 1, pp 46-81
- 94. D'Souza S, Alinauskas, K., McCrea, E., Goodyer, C. and Antel, J.P.: Differential susceptibility of human CNS-derived cell populations to TNF-dependent and independent immune-mediated injury. J. Neurosci. 15:7293-7300, 1995
- 95. Ducker TB, Kindt GW, Kempf LG: Pathological findings in acute experimental spinal cord trauma. J.Neurosurg. 35:700-708, 1971

- 96. Ducker TB, Salcman M, Perot PL, Jr., et al: Experimental spinal cord trauma, I: Correlation of blood flow, tissue oxygen and neurologic status in the dog. Surg Neurol 10:60-63., 1978
- 97. Ducker TB, Zeidman SM: Spinal cord injury. Role of steroid therapy. Spine 19:2281-2287., 1994
- 98. Dumonde DC, Wolstencroft RA, Panayi GS, et al: "Lymphokines": non-antibody mediators of cellular immunity generated by lymphocyte activation. Nature 224:38-42., 1969
- 99. Dusart I, Schwab ME: Secondary cell death and the inflammatory reaction after dorsal hemisection of the rat spinal cord. European Journal of Neuroscience 6:712-724, 1994
- 100. Eddleston M, Mucke L: Molecular profile of reactive astrocytes--implications for their role in neurologic disease. Neuroscience 54:15-36., 1993
- Esiri MM, Morris CS: Immunocytochemical study of macrophages and microglial cells and extracellular matrix components in human CNS disease. 2. Non-neoplastic diseases. J.Neurol.Sci. 101:59-72, 1991
- 102. Eugster HP, Frei K, Bachmann R, et al: Severity of symptoms and demyelination in MOG-induced EAE depends on TNFR1. Eur J Immunol 29:626-632., 1999
- 103. Evans CH: Cytokines: molecular keys to homeostasis, development, and pathophysiology. J Cell Biochem 53:277-279., 1993
- 104. Faden AI: Recent pharmacological advances in experimental spinal injury: theorectical and methodological considerations. **TINS 6:**375-377, 1983
- 105. Faden AI, Demediuk P, Panter SS, et al: The role of excitatory amino acids and NMDA receptors in traumatic brain injury. **Science 244:**798-800, 1989
- 106. Faden AI, Lemke M, Simon RP, et al: N-methyl-D-aspartate antagonist MK801 improves outcome following traumatic spinal cord injury in rats: behavioral, anatomic, and neurochemical studies. J.Neurotrauma. 5:33-45, 1988
- 107. Faden AI, Molineaux CJ, Rosenberger JG, et al: Endogenous opioid immunoreactivity in rat spinal cord following traumatic injury. **Ann.Neurol.** 17:386-390, 1985
- 108. Faden AI, Salzman S: Pharmacological strategies in CNS trauma. Trends Pharmacol Sci 13:29-35., 1992
- 109. Faden AI, Simon RP: A potential role for excitotoxins in the pathophysiology of spinal cord injury. **Ann.Neurol. 23:**623-626, 1988
- 110. Fagan AM, Gage FH: Cholinergic sprouting in the hippocampus: a proposed role for IL-1. Exp Neurol 110:105-120., 1990
- 111. Farooque M, Isaksson J, Olsson Y: Improved recovery after spinal cord injury in neuronal nitric oxide synthase-deficient mice but not in TNF-alpha-deficient mice. J Neurotrauma 18:105-114., 2001
- 112. Fehlings MG, Tator CH, Linden RD: The effect of nimodipine and dextran on axonal function and blood flow following experimental spinal cord injury. J Neurosurg:403-416, 1989
- 113. Feigin I: The pathological changes produced by focal cerebral anoxia. **Res Publ Assoc Res Nerv Ment Dis 41:**23-39., 1966
- 114. Fenton MJ, Vermeulen MW, Clark BD, et al: Human pro-IL-1 beta gene expression in monocytic cells is regulated by two distinct pathways. J Immunol 140:2267-2273., 1988
- 115. Fernandez HN, Henson PM, Otani A, et al: Chemotactic response to human C3a and C5a anaphylatoxins. I. Evaluation of C3a and C5a leukotaxis in vitro and under stimulated in vivo conditions. J Immunol 120:109-115., 1978

- 116. Finzel BC, Clancy LL, Holland DR, et al: Crystal structure of recombinant human interleukin-1 beta at 2.0 A resolution. J Mol Biol 209:779-791., 1989
- 117. Flaris NA, Densmore TL, Molleston MC, et al: Characterization of microglia and macrophages in the central nervous system of rats: definition of the differential expression of molecules using standard and novel monoclonal antibodies in normal CNS and in four models of parenchymal reaction. Glia 7:34-40., 1993
- 118. Forbes AD, Slimp JC, Winn RK, et al: Inhibition of neutrophil adhesion does not prevent ischemic spinal cord injury. **Ann Thorac Surg 58:**1064-1068., 1994
- 119. Forloni G, Demicheli F, Giorgi S, et al: Expression of amyloid precursor protein mRNAs in endothelial, neuronal and glial cells: modulation by interleukin-1. Brain Res Mol Brain Res 16:128-134., 1992
- Foxwell BMJ, Hunt AE, Lali FV, et al: Cytokine signalling, in Balkwill FR (ed): Cytokine molecular biology, ed 3rd. Oxford: Oxford University Press, 2000, pp 105-133
- Franzen R, Schoenen J, Leprince P, et al: Effects of macrophage transplantation in the injured adult rat spinal cord: a combined immunocytochemical and biochemical study. J.Neurosci.Res. 51:316-327, 1998
- 122. Friedlander RM, Gagliardini V, Rotello RJ, et al: Functional role of interleukin 1 beta (IL-1 beta) in IL-1 beta-converting enzyme-mediated apoptosis. J Exp Med 184:717-724., 1996
- 123. Galandiuk S, Raque G, Appel S, et al: The two-edged sword of large-dose steroids for spinal cord trauma. Ann Surg 218:419-425; discussion 425-417., 1993
- 124. Galderisi U, Cascino A, Giordano A: Antisense oligonucleotides as therapeutic agents. J Cell Physiol 181:251-257., 1999
- 125. Gale K, Kerasidis H, Wrathall JR: Spinal cord contusion in the rat: behavioral analysis of functional neurologic impairment. **.Exp.Neurol. 88:**123-134, 1985
- 126. Gallis B, Prickett KS, Jackson J, et al: IL-1 induces rapid phosphorylation of the IL-1 receptor. J Immunol 143:3235-3240., 1989
- 127. Geddes JF, Vowles GH, Beer TW, et al: The diagnosis of diffuse axonal injury: implications for forensic practice. **Neuropathol Appl Neurobiol 23:**339-347., 1997
- 128. Gehrmann J, Matsumoto Y, Kreutzberg GW: Microglia: intrinsic immuneffector cell of the brain. Brain Res Brain Res Rev 20:269-287., 1995
- 129. Gehrmann J, Mies G, Bonnekoh P, et al: Microglial reaction in the rat cerebral cortex induced by cortical spreading depression. **Brain Pathol 3:**11-17., 1993
- 130. Gehrmann J, Yao DL, Bonetti B, et al: Expression of insulin-like growth factor-I and related peptides during motoneuron regeneration. Exp Neurol 128:202-210., 1994
- 131. Gentleman SM, Graham DI, Roberts GW: Molecular pathology of head trauma: altered beta APP metabolism and the aetiology of Alzheimer's disease. Prog Brain Res 96:237-246., 1993
- 132. Gentleman SM, Nash MJ, Sweeting CJ: Amyloid precursor protein as a marker for axonal injury after head injury. Neuroscience Letters: 139-144, 1993
- 133. Gibbons R, Martinez O, Matli M, et al: Recombinant IL-4 inhibits IL-6 synthesis by adherent peripheral blood cells in vitro. Lymphokine Res 9:283-293., 1990
- 134. Giulian D, Baker, T.J., Shih, L.C. and Lachman, L.B.: Interleukin1 of the central nervous system is produced by ameboid microglia. J. Exp. Med. 164:594-604, 1986
- 135. Giulian D, Chen, J., Ingeman, J.E., George, J.K. and Noponen, M.: The role of mononuclear phagocytes in wound healing after traumatic injury to adult mammalian brain. Journal of Neuroscience 9:4416-4429, 1989

224

- 136. Giulian D, Corpuz M, Chapman S, et al: Reactive mononuclear phagocytes release neurotoxins after ischemic and traumatic injury to the central nervous system. J Neurosci Res 36:681-693., 1993
- 137. Giulian D, Robertson C: Inhibition of mononuclear phagocytes reduces ischemic injury in the spinal cord. Ann Neurol 27:33-42., 1990
- 138. Giulian D, Woodward J, Young DG, et al: Interleukin-1 injected into mammalian brain stimulates astrogliosis and neovascularization. J Neurosci 8:2485-2490., 1988
- 139. Gledhill RF, Harrison BM, McDonald WI: Demyelination and remyelination after acute spinal cord compression. Exp Neurol 38:472-487., 1973
- 140. Gledhill RF, McDonald WI: Morphological characteristics of central demyelination and remyelination: a single-fiber study. Ann Neurol 1:552-560., 1977
- 141. Gomez Pinilla F, Tram H, Cotman CW, et al: Neuroprotective effect of MK-801 and U-50488H after contusive spinal cord injury. **.Exp.Neurol. 104:**118-124, 1989
- 142. Goodman JH, Bingham WG, Jr., Hunt WE: Platelet aggregation in experimental spinal cord injury. Ultrastructural observations. Arch Neurol 36:197-201., 1979
- 143. Goodman Y, Mattson MP: Secreted forms of beta-amyloid precursor protein protect hippocampal neurons against amyloid beta-peptide-induced oxidative injury. Exp Neurol 128:1-12., 1994
- 144. Graeber MB, Bise K, Mehraein P: CR3/43, a marker for activated human microglia: application to diagnostic neuropathology. **.Neuropathol.Appl.Neurobiol. 20:**406-408, 1994
- 145. Griffiths T, Evans MC, Meldrum BS: Intracellular calcium accumulation in rat hippocampus during seizures induced by bicuculline or L-allylglycine. .Neuroscience 10:385-395, 1983
- 146. Grilli M, Goffi F, Memo M, et al: Interleukin-1beta and glutamate activate the NFkB/Rel binding site from the regulatory region of the amyloid precursor protein gene in primary neuronal cultures. The Journal of Biological Chemistry 271:15002-15007, 1996
- 147. Gruol DL, Nelson TE: Physiological and pathological roles of interleukin-6 in the central nervous system. Mol Neurobiol 15:307-339., 1997
- 148. Guha A, Tator CH: Acute cardiovascular effects of experimental spinal cord injury. J Trauma:481-490, 1988
- 149. Guha A, Tator CH, Rochon J: Spinal cord blood flow and systemic blood pressure after experimental spinal cord injury in rats. Stroke: 372-377, 1989
- 150. Hakoshima T, Tomita K: Crystallization and preliminary X-ray investigation reveals that tumor necrosis factor is a compact trimer furnished with 3-fold symmetry. J Mol Biol 201:455-457., 1988
- 151. Hall ED, Braughler JM: Acute effects of intravenous glucocorticoid pretreatment on the in vitro peroxidation of cat spinal cord tissue. Exp Neurol 73:321-324., 1981
- 152. Hall ED, Braughler JM: Effects of intravenous methylprednisolone on spinal cord lipid peroxidation and Na+ + K+)-ATPase activity. Dose-response analysis during 1st hour after contusion injury in the cat. J Neurosurg 57:247-253., 1982
- 153. Hama T, Kushima Y, Miyamoto M, et al: Interleukin-6 improves the survival of mesencephalic catecholaminergic and septal cholinergic neurons from postnatal, two-week-old rats in cultures. Neuroscience 40:445-452., 1991
- 154. Hama T, Miyamoto M, Tsukui H, et al: Interleukin-6 as a neurotrophic factor for promoting the survival of cultured basal forebrain cholinergic neurons from postnatal rats. Neurosci Lett 104:340-344., 1989
- 155. Hamoui S, Benedetto JP, Garret M, et al: Quantitation of mRNA species by RT-PCR on total mRNA population. **PCR Methods Appl 4:**160-166., 1994

- 156. Hanada T, Yoshimura A: Regulation of cytokine signaling and inflammation. Cytokine Growth Factor Rev 13:413., 2002
- 157. Hans VH, Kossmann T, Lenzlinger PM, et al: Experimental axonal injury triggers interleukin-6 mRNA, protein synthesis and release into cerebrospinal fluid. J Cereb Blood Flow Metab 19:184-194., 1999
- 158. Hansebout RR, Tanner JA, Romero-Sierra C: Current status of spinal cord cooling in the treatment of acute spinal cord injury. **Spine 9:**508-511., 1984
- 159. Hao JX, Watson BD, Xu XJ, et al: Protective effect of the NMDA antagonist MK-801 on photochemically induced spinal lesions in the rat. **.Exp.Neurol. 118:**143-152, 1992
- 160. Harrison BM, McDonald WI: Remyelination after transient experimental compression of the spinal cord. Ann Neurol 1:542-551., 1977
- 161. Hartley DM, Kurth MC, Bjerkness L, et al: Glutamate receptor-induced 45Ca2+ accumulation in cortical cell culture correlates with subsequent neuronal degeneration. J.Neurosci. 13:1993-2000, 1993
- 162. Hartmann G, Bidlingmaier M, Eigler A, et al: Cytokines and therapeutic oligonucleotides. Cytokines Cell Mol Ther 3:247-256., 1997
- 163. Hauben E, Nevo U, Yoles E: Autoimmune T cells as potential neuroprotective therapy for spinal cord injury. **The Lancet 354:**286-287, 2000
- 164. Hayashi M, Ueyama T, Nemoto K, et al: Sequential mRNA expression for immediate early genes, cytokines, and neurotrphins in spinal cord injury. Journal of Neurotrauma 17:203-218, 2000
- 165. Hayes RL, Jenkins LW, Lyeth BG, et al: Pretreatment with phencyclidine, an Nmethyl-D-aspartate antagonist, attenuates long-term behavioral deficits in the rat produced by traumatic brain injury. **J.Neurotrauma. 5:**259-274, 1988
- 166. Headley PM, Grillner S: Excitatory amino acids and synaptic transmission: the evidence for a physiological function. **.Trends.Pharmacol.Sci. 11:**205-211, 1990
- 167. Hengerer B, Lindholm D, Heumann R, et al: Lesion-induced increase in nerve growth factor mRNA is mediated by c-fos. **Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 87:**3899-3903., 1990
- 168. Hensler T, Sauerland S, Bouillon B, et al: Association between injury pattern of patients with multiple injuries and circulating levels of soluble tumor necrosis factor receptors, interleukin-6 and interleukin-10, and polymorphonuclear neutrophil elastase. J Trauma 52:962-970., 2002
- 169. Heumann R, Lindholm D, Bandtlow C, et al: Differential regulation of mRNA encoding nerve growth factor and its receptor in rat sciatic nerve during development, degeneration, and regeneration: role of macrophages. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 84:8735-8739., 1987
- 170. Hickey WF, Vass K, Lassmann H: Bone marrow-derived elements in the central nervous system: an immunohistochemical and ultrastructural survey of rat chimeras. J Neuropathol Exp Neurol 51:246-256., 1992
- 171. Hirano M, Osada S, Aoki T, et al: MEK kinase is involved in tumor necrosis factor alpha-induced NF-kappaB activation and degradation of IkappaB-alpha. J Biol Chem 271:13234-13238., 1996
- 172. Hirano T: Interleukin-6, in Thomson AW (ed): The Cytokine Handbook., ed 3 rd. San Diego: Academic Press Limited, 1998, pp 197-229
- 173. Hirano T: Interleukin 6 and its receptor: ten years later. Int Rev Immunol 16:249-284., 1998
- 174. Ho PT, Parkinson DR: Antisense oligonucleotides as therapeutics for malignant diseases. Semin Oncol 24:187-202., 1997

- 175. Holmin S, Mathiesen T: Intracerebral administration of interleukin-1beta and induction of inflammation, apoptosis, and vasogenic edema. J Neurosurg 92:108-120., 2000
- 176. Holmin S, Schalling M, Hojeberg B, et al: Delayed cytokine expression in rat brain following experimental contusion. J Neurosurg 86:493-504., 1997
- 177. Holtz A, Nystrom B, Gerdin B, et al: Neuropathological changes and neurological function after spinal cord compression in the rat. J Neurotrauma 7:155-167., 1990
- 178. Houle JD, Schramm P, Herdegen T: Trophic factor modulation of c-Jun expression in supraspinal neurons after chronic spinal cord injury. Exp Neurol 154:602-611., 1998
- 179. Iadecola C: Bright and dark sides of nitric oxide in ischemic brain injury. **Trends** Neurosci 20:132-139., 1997
- 180. Ihara S, Nakajima K, Fukada T, et al: Dual control of neurite outgrowth by STAT3 and MAP kinase in PC12 cells stimulated with interleukin-6. Embo J 16:5345-5352., 1997
- 181. Ikeda K, Kinoshita M, Tagaya N, et al: Coadministration of interleukin-6 (IL-6) and soluble IL-6 receptor delays progression of wobbler mouse motor neuron disease. Brain Res 726:91-97., 1996
- 182. Ito T, Oyanagi, K., Wakabayashi, K., Ikuta, F.: Traumatic spinal cord injury: A neuropathological study on the longitudinal spreading of the lesions. Acta Neuropathol (Berl) 93:13-18, 1997
- 183. Jancso G, Karcsu S, Kiraly E, et al: Neurotoxin induced nerve cell degeneration: possible involvement of calcium. **.Brain Res. 295:**211-216, 1984
- 184. Jarrous N, Kaempfer R: Induction of human interleukin-1 gene expression by retinoic acid and its regulation at processing of precursor transcripts. J Biol Chem 269:23141-23149., 1994
- 185. Jobling SA, Auron PE, Gurka G, et al: Biological activity and receptor binding of human prointerleukin-1 beta and subpeptides. J Biol Chem 263:16372-16378., 1988
- 186. Jones EY, Stuart DI, Walker NP: Structure of tumour necrosis factor. Nature 338:225-228., 1989
- 187. Jones TB, Basso, D.M., Sodhi, A., Pan, J.Z., Hart, R.P., MacCallum, R.C., Lee, S., Whitacre, C.C. and Popovich, P.G.. Pathological CNS autoimmune disease triggered by traumatic spinal cord injury: implications for autoimmune vaccine therapy. J. Neurosci. 22:2690-2700, 2002
- 188. Kakulas BA, Taylor JR: Pathology of injuries of the vertebral column and spinal cord., in Frankel HL (ed): Handbook of clinical neurology. Amsterdam: Elsevier, 1992, pp 21-51
- Kao CC, Chang LW, Bloodworth JM, Jr.: The mechanism of spinal cord cavitation follwing spinal cord transection. Part 2. Electron microscopic observations.
 J.Neurosurg. 46:745-756, 1977
- Kearney PA, Ridella SA, Viano DC, et al: Interaction of contact velocity and cord compression in determining the severity of spinal cord injury. J.Neurotrauma. 5:187-208, 1988
- 191. Kim GM, Xu, J., Xu, J., Song, S.K., Yan, P., Ku, G., Xu, X.M. and Hsu, C.Y.. Tumor necrosis factor receptor deletion reduces nuclear factor-kappaB activation, cellular inhibitor of
- apoptosis protein 2 expression, and functional recovery after traumatic spinal cord injury. J Neurosci 21:6617-6625, 2001
- 192. Klusman I, Schwab ME: Effects of pro-inflammatory cytokines in experimental spinal cord injury. Brain Res. 762:173-184, 1997

- 193. Knoblach SM, Faden AI: Cortical interleukin-1 beta elevation after traumatic brain injury in the rat: no effect of two selective antagonists on motor recovery. Neurosci Lett 289:5-8., 2000
- 194. Knoblach SM, Fan L, Faden AI: Early neuronal expression of tumor necrosis factoralpha after experimental brain injury contributes to neurological impairment. J Neuroimmunol 95:115-125., 1999
- 195. Kominato Y, Galson D, Waterman WR, et al: Monocyte expression of the human prointerleukin 1 beta gene (IL1B) is dependent on promoter sequences which bind the hematopoietic transcription factor Spi-1/PU.1. Mol Cell Biol 15:59-68., 1995
- 196. Koshinaga M, Whittemore SR: The temporal and spatial activation of microglia in fiber tracts undergoing anterograde and retrograde degeneration following spinal cord lesion. J.Neurotrauma. 12:209-222, 1995
- 197. Kossmann T, Hans V, Imhof HG, et al: Interleukin-6 released in human cerebrospinal fluid following traumatic brain injury may trigger nerve growth factor production in astrocytes. **Brain Res 713:**143-152., 1996
- 198. Krauer KG, Belzer DK, Liaskou D, et al: Regulation of interleukin-1beta transcription by Epstein-Barr virus involves a number of latent proteins via their interaction with RBP. Virology 252:418-430., 1998
- 199. Kraus J: Epidemiological aspects of acute spinal cord injury: A review of incidence, prevalence, causes and outcome., in Decker DaP, J. (ed): Central Nervous System Trauma Status Report. Washington, D.C.: National Institute of Neurological and Communicative Disorders and Stroke, National Institute of Health., 1985, pp 313-325
- 200. Kreutzberg GW: Microglia: a sensor for pathological events in the CNS. **Trends** Neurosci 19:312-318., 1996
- 201. Laemmli UK: Cleavage of structural proteins during the assembly of the head of bacteriophage T4. Nature 227:680-685., 1970
- 202. Lampert PW, Cressman MR: Fine-structural changes of myelin sheaths after axonal degeneration in the spinal cord of rats. Am J Pathol 49:1139-1155., 1966
- 203. Lapchak PA, Araujo DM, Hefti F: Systemic interleukin-1 beta decreases brain-derived neurotrophic factor messenger RNA expression in the rat hippocampal formation. Neuroscience 53:297-301., 1993
- 204. Lau LT, Yu AC: Astrocytes produce and release interleukin-1, interleukin-6, tumor necrosis factor alpha and interferon-gamma following traumatic and metabolic injury. J Neurotrauma 18:351-359., 2001
- 205. Lavine SD, Hofman FM, Zlokovic BV: Circulating antibody against tumor necrosis factor-alpha protects rat brain from reperfusion injury. J Cereb Blood Flow Metab 18:52-58., 1998
- 206. Lawrence CB, Allan SM, Rothwell NJ: Interleukin-1beta and the interleukin-1 receptor antagonist act in the striatum to modify excitotoxic brain damage in the rat. Eur J Neurosci 10:1188-1195., 1998
- 207. Le J, Vilcek J: Tumor necrosis factor and interleukin 1: cytokines with multiple overlapping biological activities. Lab Invest 56:234-248., 1987
- 208. Le YL, Shih K, Bao P, et al: Cytokine chemokine expression in contused rat spinal cord. Neurochem Int 36:417-425., 2000
- 209. Lee FS, Hagler J, Chen ZJ, et al: Activation of the IkappaB alpha kinase complex by MEKK1, a kinase of the JNK pathway. Cell 88:213-222., 1997
- 210. Lee SC, Liu W, Dickson DW, et al: Cytokine production by human fetal microglia and astrocytes. Differential induction by lipopolysaccharide and IL-1 beta. J Immunol 150:2659-2667., 1993

- 211. Lees GJ: The possible contribution of microglia and macrophages to delayed neuronal death after ischemia. J Neurol Sci 114:119-122., 1993
- 212. Lehrer RI, Ganz T: Biochemistry and function of monocytes and macrophages., in Beutler E, Lichtman MA, Coller BS, et al (eds): Williams Hematology., ed fifth. New York: McGraw-Hill, 1995, pp 869-894
- 213. Leibovich SJ, Polverini, P.J., Shepard, H.M., Wiseman, D.M., Shively, V., Nuseir, N.: Macrophage-induced angiogenesis is mediated by tumour necrosis factor-alpha. Nature 329:630-632, 1987
- 214. Leibovich SJ, Ross R: The role of the macrophage in wound repair. A study with hydrocortisone and antimacrophage serum. Am J Pathol 78:71-100., 1975
- 215. Lenardo MJ, Baltimore D: NF-kB: A pleiotropic mediator of inducible and tissuespecific gene control. Cell 58:227-229, 1989
- 216. Leskovar A, Moriarty LJ, Turek JJ, et al: The macrophage in acute neural injury: changes in cell numbers over time and levels of cytokine production in mammalian central and peripheral nervous systems. J Exp Biol 203:1783-1795., 2000
- 217. Lewis SB, Finnie JW, Blumbergs PC: A head impact model of early axonal injury in the sheep. Journal of Neurotrauma 13:505-514, 1996
- 218. Lexa F, Jirasek A: Papyrus of Edwin Smith. Rozhl. Chir. 20:79, 1941
- 219. Lindholm D, Castren E, Kiefer R, et al: Transforming growth factor-beta 1 in the rat brain: increase after injury and inhibition of astrocyte proliferation. J Cell Biol 117:395-400., 1992
- 220. Lindholm D, Heumann R, Meyer M, et al: Interleukin-1 regulates synthesis of nerve growth factor in non-neuronal cells of rat sciatic nerve. Nature 330:658-659., 1987
- 221. Liu D, Thangnipon W, McAdoo DJ: Excitatory amino acids rise to toxic levels upon impact injury to the rat spinal cord. **Brain Res. 547:**344-348, 1991
- 222. Liu S, Ruenes GL, Dancausse HA, et al: Non-NMDA receptor antagonists protect against neurotoxic spinal cord injury in the rat. Society for Neuroscience Abstract 20:1534-1535, 1994
- 223. Loddick SA, Rothwell NJ: Neuroprotective effects of human recombinant interleukin-1 receptor antagonist in focal cerebral ischaemia in the rat. J Cereb Blood Flow Metab 16:932-940., 1996
- 224. Loughlin AJ, Woodroofe MN, Cuzner ML: Modulation of interferon-gamma-induced major histocompatibility complex class II and Fc receptor expression on isolated microglia by transforming growth factor-beta 1, interleukin-4, noradrenaline and glucocorticoids. **Immunology 79:**125-130., 1993
- 225. Lowe J, Mayer RJ: Ubiquitin, cell stress and diseases of the nervous system. Neuropathol Appl Neurobiol 16:281-291., 1990
- 226. Lucas JH, Emery DG, Wang G, et al: In vitro investigations of the effects of nonfreezing low temperatures on lesioned and uninjured mammalian spinal neurons. J Neurotrauma 11:35-61., 1994
- 227. Madsen PW, Yezierski RP, Holets VR: Syringomyelia: clinical observations and experimental studies. J.Neurotrauma. 11:241-254, 1994
- 228. Maeda Y, Matsumoto M, Hori O, et al: Hypoxia/reoxygenation-mediated induction of astrocyte interleukin 6: a paracrine mechanism potentially enhancing neuron survival. J Exp Med 180:2297-2308., 1994
- 229. Marsala M, Sorkin LS, Yaksh TL: Transient spinal ischemia in rat: characterization of spinal cord blood flow, extracellular amino acid release, and concurrent histopathological damage. J.Cereb.Blood Flow Metab. 14:604-614, 1994

- 230. Martin C, Boisson C, Haccoun M, et al: Patterns of cytokine evolution (tumor necrosis factor-alpha and interleukin-6) after septic shock, hemorrhagic shock, and severe trauma. Crit Care Med 25:1813-1819., 1997
- Martinez-Arizala A, Green BA: Hypothermia in spinal cord injury. J Neurotrauma 9:S497-505., 1992
- 232. Marx J: How the glucocorticoids suppress immunity. Science 270:232-233., 1995
- 233. Mason JL, Suzuki, K., Chaplin, D.D. and Matsushima, G.K.. Interleukin-1beta promotes repair of the CNS. J Neurosci 21:7046-7052, 2001
- 234. Masumura M, Hata R, Uramoto H, et al: Altered expression of amyloid precursors proteins after traumatic brain injury in rats: in situ hybridization and immunohistochemical study. J Neurotrauma 17:123-134., 2000
- 235. Mattson MP, Cheng B, Culwell AR, et al: Evidence for excitoprotective and intraneuronal calcium-regulating roles for secreted forms of the beta-amyloid precursor protein. Neuron 10:243-254., 1993
- 236. Mattson MP, Culmsee C, Yu ZF: Apoptotic and antiapoptotic mechanisms in stroke. Cell Tissue Res 301:173-187., 2000
- 237. Mayne M, Ni W, Yan HJ, et al: Antisense oligodeoxynucleotide inhibition of tumor necrosis factor-alpha expression is neuroprotective after intracerebral hemorrhage. Stroke 32:240-248, 2001
- 238. McLaurin J, D'Souza, S., Stewart, J.: Effect of tumour necrosis factor alpha and beta on human ligodendrocytes and neurons in culture. Int. J. Dev. Neurosci 12:369-381, 1995
- 239. Means EDaA, D.K.: Neuronophagia by leukocytes in experimental spinal cord injury. J. Neuropathol. Exp. Neurol. 42:707-719, 1983
- 240. Meldrum B: Possible therapeutic applications of antagonists of excitatory amino acid neurotransmitters. .Clin.Sci. 68:113-122, 1985
- 241. Merrill JE, Benveniste EN: Cytokines in inflammatory brain lesions: helpful and harmful. TINS 19:331-338, 1996
- 242. Merrill JE, Ignarro LJ, Sherman MP, et al: Microglial cell cytotoxicity of oligodendrocytes is mediated through nitric oxide. J Immunol 151:2132-2141., 1993
- 243. Merrill JE, Zimmerman RP: Natural and induced cytotoxicity of oligodendrocytes by microglia is inhibitable by TGF beta. Glia 4:327-331., 1991
- 244. Minty A, Chalon P, Derocq JM, et al: Interleukin-13 is a new human lymphokine regulating inflammatory and immune responses. Nature 362:248-250., 1993
- 245. Mitchell JJ, Anderson KJ: Quantitative autoradiographic analysis of excitatory amino acid receptors in the cat spinal cord. **.Neurosci.Lett. 124:**269-272, 1991
- 246. Moalem G, Leibowitz Amit R, Yoles E, et al: Autoimmune T cells protect neurons from secondary degeneration after central nervous system axotomy. .Nat.Med. 5:49-55, 1999
- 247. Mocchetti I, Wrathall JR: Neurotrophic factors in central nervous system trauma. J Neurotrauma 12:853-870., 1995
- 248. Moore S, Thanos S: The concept of microglia in relation to central nervous system disease and regeneration. **.Prog.Neurobiol. 48:**441-460, 1996
- 249. Nadler JV, Evenson DA, Cuthbertson GJ: Comparative toxicity of kainic acid and other acidic amino acids toward rat hippocampal neurons. **Neuroscience 6:**2505-2517, 1981
- 250. Naftchi NE: Functional restoration of the traumatically injured spinal cord in cats by clonidine. Science 217:1042-1044., 1982
- 251. Naftchi NE, Demeny M, DeCrescito V, et al: Biogenic amine concentrations in traumatized spinal cords of cats. Effect of drug therapy. **J.Neurosurg. 40:52-57**, 1974

- 252. Nakajima K, Kohsaka S: Functional roles of microglia in the brain. Neurosci Res 17:187-203., 1993
- 253. Nakajima K, Tsuzaki N, Nagata K, et al: Production and secretion of plasminogen in cultured rat brain microglia. FEBS Lett 308:179-182., 1992
- 254. Nakajima K, Tsuzaki N, Shimojo M, et al: Microglia isolated from rat brain secrete a urokinase-type plasminogen activator. Brain Res 577:285-292., 1992
- 255. Nedbal W, Teichmann B: Advantages of antisense drugs for the treatment of oral diseases. Antisense Nucleic Acid Drug Dev 12:183-191., 2002
- 256. Nelms K: Cytokine signal transduction, in Balkwill FR (ed): The cytokine network. Oxford: Oxford University Press, 2000, pp 20-49
- 257. Nesic O, Xu GY, McAdoo D, et al: IL-1 receptor antagonist prevents apoptosis and caspase-3 activation after spinal cord injury. J Neurotrauma 18:947-956., 2001
- 258. Nomoto Y, Yamamoto M, Fukushima T, et al: Expression of nuclear factor kappaB and tumor necrosis factor alpha in the mouse brain after experimental thermal ablation injury. Neurosurgery 48:158-166., 2001
- 259. Norton WT, Aquino DA, Hozumi I, et al: Quantitative aspects of reactive gliosis: a review. Neurochem Res 17:877-885., 1992
- 260. OBrien MF, Lenke LG, Lou J, et al: Astrocyte response and transforming growth factor-beta localization in acute spinal cord injury. **Spine 19:**2321-2329; discussion 2330., 1994
- 261. Oehmichen M, Theuerkauf I, Meissner C: Is traumatic axonal injury (AI) associated with an early microglial activation? Application of a double-labeling technique for simultaneous detection of microglia and AI. Acta Neuropathol (Berl) 97:491-494., 1999
- 262. Olney JW: Neurotoxicity of excitatory amino acids, in McGeer EG, Olney JW, McGeer PL (eds): Kainic acid as a tool in neurobiology. New York: Raven Press, 1978, pp 95-121
- 263. Olney JW, Rhee V, Ho OL: Kainic acid: a powerful neurotoxic analogue of glutamate. .Brain Res. 77:507-512, 1974
- 264. Orencole SF, Dinarello CA: Characterization of a subclone (D10S) of the D10.G4.1 helper T-cell line which proliferates to attomolar concentrations of interleukin-1 in the absence of mitogens. Cytokine 1:14-22., 1989
- 265. Osterholm JL, Mathews GJ: Altered norepinephrine metabolism following experimental spinal cord injury. 1. Relationship to hemorrhagic necrosis and post-wounding neurological deficits. J Neurosurg 36:386-394., 1972
- 266. Osterholm JL, Mathews GJ: Altered norepinephrine metabolism, following experimental spinal cord injury. 2. Protection against traumatic spinal cord hemorrhagic necrosis by norepinephrine synthesis blockade with alpha methyl tyrosine. J Neurosurg 36:395-401., 1972
- Pan JZ, Ni L, Sodhi A, et al: Cytokine activity contributes to induction of inflammatory cytokine mRNAs in spinal cord following contusion. J Neurosci Res 68:315-322., 2002
- 268. Panter SS, Yum SW, Faden AI: Alteration in extracellular amino acids after traumatic spinal cord injury [see comments]. **Ann.Neurol. 27:**96-99, 1990
- 269. Paonessa G, Graziani R, De Serio A, et al: Two distinct and independent sites on IL-6 trigger gp 130 dimer formation and signalling. Embo J 14:1942-1951., 1995
- Payne J, Maher F, Simpson I, et al: Glucose transporter Glut 5 expression in microglial cells. Glia 21:327-331, 1997
- 271. Perry VH, Brown MC, Andersson PB: Macrophage responses to central and peripheral nerve injury. Adv.Neurol. 59:309-314, 1993

- 272. Perry VH, Gordon S: Macrophages and microglia in the nervous system. Trends Neurosci 11:273-277., 1988
- 273. Plunkett JA, Yu, C.G., Easton, J.M., Bethea, J.R., and Yezierski, R.P.: Effects of interleukin-10 (IL-10) on pain behavior and gene expression following excitotoxic spinal cord injury in the rat. Exp Neurol 168:144-154, 2001
- 274. Popovich PG, Guan Z, Wei P, et al: Depletion of hematogenous macrophages promotes partial hindlimb recovery and neuroanatomical repair after experimental spinal cord injury. **Exp.Neurol. 158:**351-365, 1999
- 275. Popovich PG, Stokes BT, Whitacre CC: Concept of autoimmunity following spinal cord injury: possible roles for T lymphocytes in the traumatized central nervous system. J.Neurosci.Res. 45:349-363, 1996
- 276. Popovich PG, Wei P, Stokes BT: Cellular inflammatory response after spinal cord injury in Sprague-Dawley and Lewis rats. J.Comp.Neurol. 377:443-464, 1997
- 277. Povlishock JT: Pathobiology of traumatically induced axonal injury in animals and man. Ann Emerg Med 22:980-986., 1993
- 278. Povlishock JT, Becker DP: Fate of reactive axonal swellings induced by head injury. Lab Invest 52:540-552., 1985
- 279. Povlishock JT, Kontos HA: The pathophysiology of pial and intraparenchyma vascular dysfunction., in Grossman RG, Gildenberg PL (eds): Head injury: basic and clinical aaspects. New York: Raven, 1982, pp 15-29
- 280. Prewitt CM, Niesman IR, Kane CJ, et al: Activated macrophage/microglial cells can promote the regeneration of sensory axons into the injured spinal cord. **Exp.Neurol.** 148:433-443, 1997
- 281. Priestle JP, Schar HP, Grutter MG: Crystal structure of the cytokine interleukin-1 beta. Embo J 7:339-343., 1988
- 282. Priestle JP, Schar HP, Grutter MG: The three-dimensional structure of human interleukin-1 beta refined to 2.0 A resolution. **Prog Clin Biol Res 349:**297-307., 1990
- 283. Probert L, Akassoglou K, Kassiotis G, et al: TNF-alpha transgenic and knockout models of CNS inflammation and degeneration. J Neuroimmunol 72:137-141., 1997
- 284. Pshenichkin SP, Szekely, A.M., and Wise, B.C.: Transcriptional and posttranscriptional mechanisms involved in the IL-1, steroid, and protein kinase C regulation of nerve growth factor in cortical astrocytes. J. Neurochem. 63:419-428, 1994
- 285. Pugh-Humphreys RGP, Thomson AW: Cytokine and their receptors as potential therapeutic targets, in Thomson AW (ed): The cytokine handbook, ed 3 rd. San Diego: Academic Press, 1998, pp 885-931
- 286. Rabchevsky AG, Streit WJ: Grafting of cultured microglial cells into the lesioned spinal cord of adult rats enhances neurite outgrowth. J Neurosci Res 47:34-48., 1997
- 287. Raghupathi R, McIntosh TK, Smith DH: Cellular responses to experimental brain injury. **Brain Pathol 5:**437-442., 1995
- 288. Raines A, Dretchen KL, Marx K, et al: Spinal cord contusion in the rat: somatosensory evoked potentials as a function of graded injury. J Neurotrauma 5:151-160., 1988
- 289. Rapalino O, Lazarov-Spiegler O, Agranov E, et al: Implantation of stimulated homologous macrophages results in partial recovery of paraplegic rats. Nat Med 4:814-821., 1998
- 290. Redford EJ, Hall, S.M., and Smith, K.J.: Vascular changes and demyelination induced by the intraneural injection of tumour necrosis factor. **Brain 118:**869-878, 1995

- 291. Reier Pj: Gliosis following CNS injury: the anatomy of astrocytic scars and their influences on axonal elongation., in Fedoroff S, Vernadakis A (eds): Astrocytes: cell biology and pathology of astrocytes. Orlando: Academic, 1986, pp 263-324
- 292. Renard P, Raes M: The proinflammatory transcription factor NFkappaB: a potential target for novel therapeutical strategies. Cell Biol Toxicol 15:341-344., 1999
- 293. Rivlin AS, Tator CH: Effect of duration of acute spinal cord compression in a new acute cord injury model in the rat. **.Surg.Neurol. 10:**38-43, 1978
- 294. Roberts GW, Gentleman SM, Lynch A, et al: beta A4 amyloid protein deposition in brain after head trauma. Lancet 338:1422-1423., 1991
- 295. Roberts GW, Gentleman SM, Lynch A, et al: Beta amyloid protein deposition in the brain after severe head injury: implications for the pathogenesis of Alzheimer's disease. J Neurol Neurosurg Psychiatry 57:419-425., 1994
- 296. Roggendorf W, Strupp S, Paulus W: Distribution and characterization of microglia/macrophages in human brain tumors. Acta Neuropathol.Berl. 92:288-293, 1996
- 297. Rostworowski M, Balasingam V, Chabot S, et al: Astrogliosis in the neonatal and adult murine brain post-trauma: elevation of inflammatory cytokines and the lack of requirement for endogenous interferon-gamma. J Neurosci 17:3664-3674., 1997
- 298. Rothewell NJaH, S.J.: Cytokines and the nervous system II: Actions and mechanisms of action. Trends Neurosci 18:130-136, 1995
- 299. Rothman SM, Olney JW: Excitotoxicity and the NMDA receptor. TINS 10:299-302, 1987
- 300. Rothwell NJ, Loddick SA, Stroemer P: Interleukins and cerebral ischaemia. Int Rev Neurobiol 40:281-298., 1997
- Salzman SK, Hirofuji E, Llados Eckman C, et al: Monoaminergic responses to spinal trauma. Participation of serotonin in posttraumatic progression of neural damage.
 J.Neurosurg. 66:431-439, 1987
- 302. Sanderson KL, Raghupathi, R., Saatman, K.E., Marin, D., Miller, G. and McIntosh, T.K.: Interleukin-1 receptor antagonist attenuates regional neuronal cell death and cognitive dysfunction after experimental brain injury. J. Cereb. Blood Flow Metab. 17:1118-1125, 1999
- 303. Sandler AN, Tator CH: Review of the effect of spinal cord trama on the vessels and blood flow in the spinal cord. J Neurosurg 45:638-646., 1976
- 304. Santoreneos S, Stoodley MA, Jones NR: A technique for in vivo vascular perfusion fixation of the sheep central nervous system. Journal of Neuroscience 79:195-199, 1998
- 305. Sawada M, Suzumura, A., Marunouchi, T.: TNF-alpha induces IL-6 production by astrocytes but not by microglia. **Brain Research 583:**296-299, 1992
- 306. Schanne FAX, Kane AB, Young EE: Calcium dependence of toxic cell death: a final common pathway. Science:700-702, 1979
- 307. Schindler R, Clark BD, Dinarello CA: Dissociation between interleukin-1 beta mRNA and protein synthesis in human peripheral blood mononuclear cells. J Biol Chem 265:10232-10237., 1990
- 308. Schindler R, Gelfand JA, Dinarello CA: Recombinant C5a stimulates transcription rather than translation of interleukin-1 (IL-1) and tumor necrosis factor: translational signal provided by lipopolysaccharide or IL-1 itself. **Blood 76:**1631-1638., 1990
- 309. Schmitt AB, Breuer S, Voell M, et al: GAP-43 (B-50) and C-Jun are up-regulated in axotomized neurons of Clarke's nucleus after spinal cord injury in the adult rat. Neurobiol Dis 6:122-130., 1999

- 310. Schnell L, Fearn S, Schwab ME, et al: Cytokine-induced acute inflammation in the brain and spinal cord. Journal of neuropathology and Experimental Neurology 58:245-254, 1999
- 311. Schutze S, Kronke M: Cytokine receptor signalling pathways: PC-specific phospholipase C and sphingomyelinases, in Balkwill F (ed): Cytokine molecular biology. Oxford: Oxford University Press, 2000, pp 133-155
- 312. Schwab ME, Bartholdi D: Degeneration and regeneration of axons in the lesioned spinal cord. **Physiol Rev 76:**319-370., 1996
- 313. Schwartz M, Solomon A, Lavie V, et al: Tumor necrosis factor facilitates regeneration of injured central nervous system axons. **Brain Res 545:**334-338., 1991
- 314. Schweitzer JB, Park MR, Einhaus SL, et al: Ubiquitin marks the reactive swellings of diffuse axonal injury. Acta Neuropathol (Berl) 85:503-507., 1993
- 315. Segal JL, Gonzales E, Yousefi S, et al: Circulating levels of IL-2R, ICAM-1, and IL-6 in spinal cord injuries. Arch Phys Med Rehabil 78:44-47, 1997
- 316. Sehgal PB: Regulation of IL6 gene expression. Res Immunol 143:724-734., 1992
- 317. Selmaj KW, Raine CS: Tumor necrosis factor mediates myelin and oligodendrocyte damage in vitro. Ann Neurol 23:339-346., 1988
- 318. Semple-rowland SL, Mahatme A, Popovich PG, et al: Analysis of TGF-beta1 gene expression in contused rat spinal cord using quantitative RT-PCR. Journal of Neurotrauma 12:1003-1014, 1995
- 319. Shapiro L, Dinarello CA: Osmotic regulation of cytokine synthesis in vitro. **Proc Natl** Acad Sci U S A 92:12230-12234., 1995
- 320. Sherriff FE, Bridges LR, Gentleman SM, et al: Markers of axonal injury in post mortem human brain. Acta Neuropathol (Berl) 88:433-439., 1994
- 321. Shirakawa F, Saito K, Bonagura CA, et al: The human prointerleukin 1 beta gene requires DNA sequences both proximal and distal to the transcription start site for tissue-specific induction. Mol Cell Biol 13:1332-1344., 1993
- 322. Shirogane T, Fukada T, Muller JM, et al: Synergistic roles for Pim-1 and c-Myc in STAT3-mediated cell cycle progression and antiapoptosis. Immunity 11:709-719., 1999
- 323. Shuman SL, Bresnahan JC, Beattie MS: Apoptosis of microglia and oligodendrocytes after spinal cord contusion in rats. **J.Neurosci.Res. 50**:798-808, 1997
- 324. Siddall P, Xu CL, Cousins M: Allodynia following traumatic spinal cord injury in the rat. .Neuroreport. 6:1241-1244, 1995
- 325. Simmons RD, Willenborg DO: Direct injection of cytokines into the spinal cord causes autoimmune encephalomyelitis-like inflammation. J Neurol Sci 100:37-42., 1990
- Simpson RK, Jr., Robertson CS, Goodman JC: Spinal cord ischemia-induced elevation of amino acids: extracellular measurement with microdialysis. .Neurochem.Res. 15:635-639, 1990
- 327. Sipe KJ, Srisawasdi D, Dantzer R, et al: An endogenous 55 kDa TNF receptor mediates cell death in a neural cell line. **Brain Res Mol Brain Res 38:**222-232., 1996
- 328. Smith CW, Rothlein R, Hughes BJ, et al: Recognition of an endothelial determinant for CD 18-dependent human neutrophil adherence and transendothelial migration. J Clin Invest 82:1746-1756., 1988
- 329. Smith RA, Baglioni C: Characterization of TNF receptors. Immunol Ser 56:131-147., 1992
- 330. Smith-Swintosky VL, Pettigrew LC, Craddock SD, et al: Secreted forms of betaamyloid precursor protein protect against ischemic brain injury. J Neurochem 63:781-784., 1994

- 331. Sporn MB, Roberts AB: Peptide growth factors are multifunctional. Nature 332:217-219., 1988
- 332. Squier MV, Lehr RP: Post-traumatic syringomyelia [see comments]. J.Neurol.Neurosurg.Psychiatry 57:1095-1098, 1994
- 333. Stephenson DT, Rosh, K. and Clemens, J.A.: Amyloid precursor protein accumulates in regions of neurodegeneration following focal cerebral ischaemia in the rat. Brain Res 593:128-135, 1992
- 334. Sternberger LA: in Sternberger LA (ed): Immunocytochemistry, ed 2nd. New York: John Wiley & Sons, 1979
- 335. Stokes BT, Horner PJ: Spinal cord injury modeling and outcome assessment., in Narayan RK, Povlishock JT, Wilberger JE (eds): Neurotrauma. New York: McGraw-Hill, 1996, pp 1395-1403
- 336. Stokes BT, Noyes DH, Behrmann DL: An electromechanical spinal injury technique with dynamic sensitivity. **J.Neurotrauma. 9:**187-195, 1992
- Streit WJ: An improved staining method for rat microglial cells using the lectin from Griffonia simplicifolia. The Journal of Histochemistry and Cytochemistry 38:1683-1686, 1990
- 338. Streit WJ, Graeber MB: Microglia: a pictorial. **.Prog.Histochem.Cytochem. 31:**1-89, 1996
- 339. Streit WJ, Graeber MB, Kreutzberg GW: Functional plasticity of microglia: a review. .Glia 1:301-307, 1988
- 340. Streit WJ, Kreutzberg GW: Response of endogenous glial cells to motor neuron degeneration induced by toxic ricin. J Comp Neurol 268:248-263., 1988
- 341. Streit WJ, Semple-Rowland SL, Hurley SD, et al: Cytokine mRNA profiles in contused spinal cord and axotomized facial nucleus suggest a beneficial role for inflammation and gliosis. **Exp.Neurol. 152:**74-87, 1998
- 342. Stylianou E, Saklatvala J: Interleukin-1. The International Journal of Biochemistry & Cell Biology 30:1075-1079, 1998
- 343. Sutherland JC, Lin, B., Monteleone, D.C., Mugavero, J., Sutherland, B.M., Trunk, J.: Electronic imaging system for direct and rapid quantitation of fluorescence from electrophoretic gels: Application to ethidium bromide-stained DNA. Anal. Biochem. 163:446-457, 1987
- 344. Szklarcyzk AW, Karczmarek L: Brain as a unique antisense environment. Antisense Nucleic Acid Drug Dev 9:105-115, 1999
- 345. Taga T, Kishimoto T: IL-6, in Aggarwal BB, Gutterman JU (eds): Human cytokines: handbook for basic and clinical research. Boston: Blackwell Scientific Publications, 1992, pp 143-168
- 346. Talley AK, Dewhurst, S., Perry, S.W.: Tumour necrosis factor alpha-induced apoptosis in human neuronal cells: protection by the antioxidant N-acetylcysteine and the genes bcl-2 and crmA. Mol. Cell Biol. 15:2359-2366, 1995
- 347. Taoka Y, Okajima K: Role of leukocytes in spinal cord injury in rats. J Neurotrauma 17:219-229., 2000
- 348. Taoka Y, Okajima K: Spinal cord injury in the rat. Prog.Neurobiol. 56:341-358, 1998
- 349. Taoka Y, Okajima K, Uchiba M, et al: Activated protein C reduces the severity of compression-induced spinal cord injury in rats by inhibiting activation of leukocytes. J Neurosci 18:1393-1398., 1998
- 350. Taoka Y, Okajima K, Uchiba M, et al: Gabexate mesilate, a synthetic protease inhibitor, prevents compression-induced spinal cord injury by inhibiting activation of leukocytes in rats [see comments]. .Crit.Care Med. 25:874-879, 1997
- 351. Tarlov IM: Acute spinal cord compression paralysis. J Neurosurg 36:10-20., 1972
- 352. Tarlov IM, Klinger M, Vitale S: Spinal cord compression studies: I. Experimental techniques to produce acute and gradual compression. Arch Neurol Psychiatry 70:813-819, 1953
- 353. Tator CH, Fehlings MG: Review of the secondary injury theory of acute spinal cord trauma with emphasis on vascular mechanisms [see comments]. J.Neurosurg. 75:15-26, 1991
- 354. Taupin V, Toulmond S, Serrano A, et al: Increase in IL-6, IL-1 and TNF levels in rat brain following traumatic lesion: influence of pre- and post-traumatic treatment with Ro5 4864, a peripheral-type (p site) benzodiazepine ligand. J Neuroimmunol 42:177-185., 1993
- 355. Thery C, Chamak B, Mallat M: Cytotoxic Effect of Brain Macrophages on Developing. Eur J Neurosci 3:1155-1164., 1991
- 356. Thomas WE: Characterization of the dynamic nature of microglial cells. Brain Res Bull 25:351-354., 1990
- 357. Tonai T, Taketani Y, Ueda N, et al: Possible involvement of interleukin-1 in cyclooxygenase-2 induction after spinal cord injury in rats. J Neurochem 72:302-309., 1999
- 358. Tonnesen MG, Worthen GS, Johnston RB: Neutrophil emigration, activation, and tissue damage., in Clark RAF, Henson PM (eds): The molecular and cellular biology of wound repair. New York: Plenum, 1988, pp 162-196
- 359. Torre JC, Johnson CM, Harris LH, et al: Monoamine changes in experimental head and spinal cord trauma: failure to confirm previous observations. **.Surg.Neurol. 2:**5-11, 1974
- 360. Toulmond S, Rothwell NJ: Interleukin-1 receptor antagonist inhibits neuronal damage caused by fluid percussion injury in the rat. Brain Res. 671:261-266, 1995
- 361. Toulmond S, Vige X, Fage D, et al: Local infusion of interleukin-6 attenuates the neurotoxic effects of NMDA on rat striatal cholinergic neurons. Neurosci Lett 144:49-52., 1992
- 362. Tracey KJ, Vlassara H, Cerami A: Cachectin/tumour necrosis factor. Lancet 1:1122-1126., 1989
- 363. Treharne AC, Ohlendorf DH, Weber PC, et al: X-ray structural studies of the cytokine interleukin 1-beta. **Prog Clin Biol Res 349:**309-319., 1990
- 364. Tsukada J, Misago M, Serino Y, et al: Human T-cell leukemia virus type I Tax transactivates the promoter of human prointerleukin-1beta gene through association with two transcription factors, nuclear factor-interleukin-6 and Spi-1. **Blood 90:**3142-3153., 1997
- 365. Tuna M, Polat, S., Erman, T., Ildan, F., Gocer, A., Tuna, N., Tamer, L., Kaya, M., Cetinalp E.: Effect of anti-rat interleukin 6 antibody after spinal cord injury in the rat: inducible nitric oxide synthase expression, sodium- and potassium-activated, magnesium-dependent adenosine-5'-triphosphatase and superoxide dismutase activation, and ultrastructural changes. J Neurosurg (Spine 1) 95:64-73, 2001
- Tzeng SF, Kahn M, Liva S, et al: Tumor necrosis factor-alpha regulation of the Id gene family in astrocytes and microglia during CNS inflammatory injury. Glia 26:139-152., 1999
- 367. Uhl MW, Biagas KV, Grundl PD, et al: Effects of neutropenia on edema, histology, and cerebral blood flow after traumatic brain injury in rats. J Neurotrauma 11:303-315., 1994
- 368. Urca G, Urca R: Neurotoxic effects of excitatory amino acids in the mouse spinal cord: quisqualate and kainate but not N-methyl-D-aspartate induce permanent neural damage. **Brain Res. 529:**7-15, 1990

- 369. Vallieres L, Rivest S: Regulation of the genes encoding interleukin-6, its receptor, and gp130 in the rat brain in response to the immune activator lipopolysaccharide and the proinflammatory cytokine interleukin-1beta. J Neurochem 69:1668-1683., 1997
- 370. Van Antwerp DJ, Martin SJ, Verma IM, et al: Inhibition of TNF-induced apoptosis by NF-kappa B. Trends Cell Biol 8:107-111., 1998
- 371. Van Den Heuvel C, Finnie JW, Blumbergs PC, et al: Upregulation of neuronal amyloid precursor protein (APP) and APP mRNA following magnesium sulphate (MgSO4) therapy in traumatic brain injury. J Neurotrauma 17:1041-1053., 2000
- 372. Vanden Berghe W, Vermeulen L, De Wilde G, et al: Signal transduction by tumor necrosis factor and gene regulation of the inflammatory cytokine interleukin-6. **Biochem Pharmacol 60:**1185-1195., 2000
- 373. Vilcek J: The cytokines: an overview., in Thomson AW (ed): The Cytokine Handbook, ed 3 rd. San Diego: Academic Press, 1998, pp 1-15
- 374. Wagner FC, Jr., VanGilder JC, Dohrmann GJ: Pathological changes from acute to chronic in experimental spinal cord trauma. J Neurosurg 48:92-98., 1978
- 375. Wagner JA: Is IL-6 both a cytokine and a neurotrophic factor? J. Exp. Med. 183:2417-2419, 1996
- 376. Wahlestedt C, Salmi P, Good L, et al: Potent and nontoxic antisense oligonucleotides containing locked nucleic acids. **Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 97:**5633-5638., 2000
- 377. Wakefield CL, Eidelberg E: Electron microscopic observations of the delayed effects of spinal cord compression. **Exp Neurol 48:**637-646., 1975
- 378. Wallace MC, Tator CH, Frazee P: Relationship between posttraumatic ischemia and hemorrhage in the injured rat spinal cord as shown by colloidal carbon angiography. Neurosurgery:433-439, 1986
- 379. Wang CX, Nuttin B, Heremans H, et al: Production of tumor necrosis factor in spinal cord following traumatic injury in rats. J Neuroimmunol 69:151-156., 1996
- 380. Wang CX, Olschowka JA, Wrathall JR: Increase of interleukin-1beta mRNA and protein in the spinal cord following experimental traumatic injury in the rat. **Brain Res 759:**190-196., 1997
- 381. Watanabe D, Yoshimura R, Khalil M, et al: Characteristic localization of gp130 (the signal-transducing receptor component used in common for IL-6/IL-11/CNTF/LIF/OSM) in the rat brain. Eur J Neurosci 8:1630-1640., 1996
- 382. Watanabe T, Yamamoto T, Abe Y, et al: Differential activation of microglia after experimental spinal cord injury. **J.Neurotrauma. 16:**255-265, 1999
- 383. Watkins JC: Excitatory amino acids, in McGeer EG, Olney JW, McGeer PL (eds): Kainic acid as a tool in neurobiology. New York: Raven Press, 1978, pp 37-69
- 384. Watson BD, Prado R, Dietrich WD, et al: Photochemically induced spinal cord injury in the rat. **Brain Res 367:**296-300., 1986
- 385. Wei EP, Kontos HA, Dietrich WD, et al: Inhibition by free radical scavengers and by cyclooxygenase inhibitors of pial arteriolar abnormalities from concussive brain injury in cats. **Circ Res 48:**95-103., 1981
- 386. Wiessner C, Gehrmann J, Lindholm D, et al: Expression of transforming growth factor-beta 1 and interleukin-1 beta mRNA in rat brain following transient forebrain ischemia. Acta Neuropathol (Berl) 86:439-446., 1993
- 387. Wood PL: Miroglia as a unique cellular target in the treatment of stroke: Potential nerotoxic mediators produced by activated microglia. Neurological Research 17:242-248, 1995
- 388. Woodroofe MN, Sarna GS, Wadhwa M, et al: Detection of interleukin-1 and interleukin-6 in adult rat brain, following mechanical injury, by in vivo microdialysis:

evidence of a role for microglia in cytokine production. **J.Neuroimmunol. 33:**227-236, 1991

- 389. Wrathall JR: Weight-drop models of experimental spinal cord injury, in Povlishock JT, Wilberger JE, Narayan RK (eds): Neurotrauma. New York: McGraw-Hill, 1996, pp 1381-1394
- 390. Wrathall JR, Choiniere D, Teng YD: Dose-dependent reduction of tissue loss and functional impairment after spinal cord trauma with the AMPA/kainate antagonist NBOX. J.Neurosci. 14:6598-6607, 1994
- 391. Wrathall JR, Pettegrew RK, Harvey F: Spinal cord contusion in the rat: production of graded, reproducible, injury groups. **.Exp.Neurol. 88:**108-122, 1985
- 392. Wrathall JR, Teng YD, Choiniere D, et al: Evidence that local non-NMDA receptors contribute to functional deficits in contusive spinal cord injury. **Brain Res. 586:**140-143, 1992
- 393. Xu J, Fan G, Chen S, et al: Methylprednisolone inhibition of TNF-alpha expression and NF-kB activation after spinal cord injury in rats. **Brain Res Mol Brain Res** 59:135-142., 1998
- 394. Xu J, Kim GM, Ahmed SH, et al: Glucocorticoid receptor-mediated suppression of activator protein-1 activation and matrix metalloproteinase expression after spinal cord injury. J Neurosci 21:92-97., 2001
- 395. Yamasaki Y, Matsuura N, Shozuhara H, et al: Interleukin-1 as a pathogenetic mediator of ischemic brain damage in rats. Stroke 26:676-680; discussion 681., 1995
- 396. Yan P, Li Q, Kim GM, et al: Cellular localization of tumor necrosis factor-alpha following acute spinal cord injury in adult rats. J Neurotrauma 18:563-568., 2001
- 397. Yang L, Jones NR, Stoodley MA, et al: Excitotoxic model of post-traumatic syringomyelia in the rat. Spine 26:1842-1849., 2001
- 398. Yeo J: Spinal cord injuries: diagnosis and first aid. Mod. Med. Aust. 37:36-45, 1994
- 399. Yoshida K, Gage FH: Cooperative regulation of nerve growth factor synthesis and secretion in fibroblasts and astrocytes by fibroblast growth factor and other cytokines. Brain Res 569:14-25., 1992
- 400. Young W: Secondary injury mechanisms in acute spinal cord injury. J. Emerg. Med. 11 (Suppl. 1):13-22, 1993
- 401. Young W, DeCrescito V, Flamm ES, et al: Pharmacological therapy of acute spinal cord injury: studies of high dose methylprednisolone and naloxone. Clin Neurosurg 34:675-697., 1988
- 402. Young W, Flamm ES: Effect of high-dose corticosteroid therapy on blood flow, evoked potentials, and extracellular calcium in experimental spinal injury. J Neurosurg 57:667-673., 1982
- 403. Young W, Koreh I: Potassium and calcium changes in injured spinal cords. **Brain Res. 365:**42-53, 1986
- 404. Zajicek JP, Wing M, Scolding NJ, et al: Interactions between oligodendrocytes and microglia. A major role for complement and tumour necrosis factor in oligodendrocyte adherence and killing. **Brain 115:**1611-1631., 1992
- 405. Zhang M, Tracey KJ: Tumor Necrosis Factor., in Thomson AW (ed): The Cytokine Handbook., ed 3 rd. San Diego: Academic Press Limited, 1998, pp 517-549
- 406. Zhang Z, Krebs CJ, Guth L: Experimental analysis of progressive necrosis after spinal cord trauma in the rat: etiological role of the inflammatory response. Experimental Neurology 143:141-152, 1997
- 407. Zivin JA, Doppman JL, Reid JL, et al: Biochemical and histochemical studies of biogenic amines in spinal cord trauma. .Neurology 26:99-107, 1976